/ CITY ©F

-

%
m
=
m
—

=

Berkeley Homeless
Services Panel of Experts

MEETING AGENDA
April 7, 2021 - 7:00 PM
Join Zoom Meeting: https://zoom.us/j/92491365323

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Meeting ID: 924 9136 5323
Commission Secretary: Josh Jacobs (jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info; 510-225-8035)

1. Roll Call.
2. Public Comment on non-agenda items.
3. Approval of Minutes from March 22, 2021. [Attachment 1].

Updates/Action Items:

4. Agenda Approval.

5. Chair to advise Commissioners of HSPE deadline for submission of
recommendations to Council Budget and Finance Committee.

6. Staff to report back on a) basis for decrease of projected revenues, b) if, and how,
2.7 million in federal economic stimulus package could be used for funding programs
that have been previously funded or could be funded under Measure P, and c) exact
amount of monies rolling over from previous allocations.

7. Discussion among commissioners on what needs should be funding priorities under
the mandate of Measure P.

8. Begin discussion of existing programs one-by-one, whether or not the program
meets a measure P funding priority, possible alternate sources of funding for each
including federal or state monies or county monies, incorporating a County systems
analysis and other City funding sources including mental health, FF and economic
development monies.

9. Discussion on housing subsidy allocation previously recommended by HSPE,
whether it should be recommended again, how many individuals or families would
be covered by that allocation, and staff's position as to what it would need from
Council to begin the subsidies.

10.Begin discussion of possible new programs that could be covered by Measure P.

11.Discussion and possible action of approval of the report to Council for additional
meetings.

12.Discussion and possible action of scheduling additional meeting dates.

13.Discussion and possible action to defer work plan until after budget
recommendations have been submitted.

14. Adjourn.

Attachments:
1. Minutes from special meeting of March 22, 2021.
2. Measure P Update.

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 2" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510. 981.5435 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510. 981.5450
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | Homeless Services Panel of Experts



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx
https://zoom.us/j/92491365323
mailto:jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info

Page 2 of 4
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Meeting Agenda

April 7, 2021
3. Potential Measure P FY2022 Allocations.
4. Referral Response: 1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness.
5. Centering Racial Equity in Homeless Response System Design.
6. American Rescue Plan Act.

Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March
17, 2020, this meeting of the City Council will be conducted exclusively through
teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be advised that pursuant to the
Executive Order and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety of
the public by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not
be a physical meeting location available.

If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu
and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use
the “raise hand” icon by rolling over the 924 9136 5323. If you wish to comment during
the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the
Chair.

Correspondence and Notice of Decision Requests:
Deadlines for Receipt:

A) Supplemental Materials must be received by 5 PM the day before the meeting.
B) Supplemental Communications must be received no later than noon the day of the meeting.

Procedures for Distribution:

A) Staff will compile all Supplemental Materials and Supplemental Communications received by
the deadlines above into a Supplemental Packet, and will print 15 copies of this packet for the
Commission meeting.

B) For any Supplemental Material or Communication from a Commissioner received after these
deadlines, it is the Commissioner’s responsibility to ensure that 15 printed copies are available
at the meeting. Commissioners will not be reimbursed for any printing or materials expenses.

C) staff will neither print nor distribute Supplemental Communications or Materials for
subcommittee meetings.

Procedures for Consideration:

A) The Commission must make a successful motion to accept and receive all Supplemental
Materials and Communications into the record. This includes the Supplemental Packet compiled
by staff.

B) Each additional Supplemental Material or Communication received by or before the meeting
that is not included in the Supplemental packet (i.e., those items received after the respective
deadlines above) must be individually voted upon to be considered by the full Commission.

C) Supplemental Materials subject to a Commission vote that are not accepted by motion of the
Commission, or for which there are not at least 15 paper copies (9 for each Commission seat,
one for staff records, and 5 for the public) available by the scheduled start of the meeting, may
not be considered by the Commission.




Page 3 of 4
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Meeting Agenda
April 7, 2021

*Supplemental Materials are defined as any items authored by one or more Commissioners,
pertaining to an agenda item but available after the agenda and packet for the meeting has
been distributed, on which the Commission is asked to take vote at the meeting. This includes
any letter to Council, proposed Council report, or other correspondence on behalf of the
Commission for which a full vote of the Commission is required.

*Supplemental Communications are defined as written emails or letters from members of the
public or from one or more Commissioners, the intended audience of which is the full
Commission. Supplemental Communications cannot be acted upon by the Commission, and
they may or may not pertain to agenda items.

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this
agenda will be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services
Department located at 2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.

Public Comment Policy:

Members of the public may speak on any items on the Agenda and items not on the Agenda
during the initial Public Comment period. Members of the public may not speak more than once
on any given item. The Chair may limit public comments to 3 minutes or less.

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this
agenda will be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services
Department located at 2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.

COMMUNITY ACCESS INFORMATION

This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-related
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please
contact the Disability Services specialist at 981-6342 (V) or 981-6345 (TDD) at least 3 business
days before the meeting date. Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting.

Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will
become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’'s website.
Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not
required, but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will
become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact
information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in
person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee. If you do not want your
contact information included in the public record, please do not include that information in your
communication. Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or committee
for further information. The Health, Housing & Community Services Department does not take a
position as to the content. Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees
are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible
through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other
contact information are not required, but if included in any communication to a City board,
commission or committee, will become part of the public record. If you do not want your e-mail
address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications
via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or
committee. If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do
not include that information in your communication. Please contact the secretary to the relevant




Page 4 of 4
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Meeting Agenda
April 7, 2021

board, commission or committee for further information. The Health, Housing & Community
Services Department does not take a position as to the content.

ADA Disclaimer “This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible
location. To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in
the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact the
Disability Services Specialist at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least
three business days before the meeting date. Please refrain from wearing
scented products to this meeting.”



[ CITY ©F

»~

Berkeley Homeless
Services Panel of Experts

MEETING MINUTES

March 22, 2021
Roll Call: 6:00 PM

Present: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider.
Absent: Sherman.

Staff: Lee, Jacobs.

Council: none.

Public: 2

. Comments from the Public: None.

Update/Action Items

3.

Approval of Minutes from February 3, 2021.

Action: M/S/C Carole/Bookstein to approve the minutes of February 3, 2021 as
written.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein.
Noes: None. Abstain: Scheider. Absent: None.

Agenda Approval.

Action: M/S/C Wehrman/Marasovic to approve the agenda as written.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Sherman.

Chair and Vice Chair Elections.

Action: M/S/C Scheider/Wehrman move to appoint Carole as chair.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider, Sherman.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

Action: M/S/C Bookstein/Scheider move to appoint Amanda as co-chair.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider, Sherman.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 2" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510. 981.5435 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510. 981.5450

E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions Homeless Services Panel of Experts.aspx



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx

Homeless Services Panel of Experts - Minutes
3-22-21

6. Schedule Additional Meetings for April, 2021 and May, 2021 to Discuss, and Make
Recommendations for Measure P Allocations.

Action: M/S/C Wehrman/Marasovic move to schedule one additional meeting in
April.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Sherman.

7. Request to Council for Two Additional Meetings to Discuss, and Make
Recommendations for, Measure P Allocations.

Action: M/S/C Bookstein/Marasovic to approve the agenda as written.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider, Sherman.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: None.

8. Discussion on monies needed to sustain current programs and discussion on
whether monies allocated in the last budget have been committed, identifying those
programs for which monies were not used either because the program was not
implemented or another source of funding, such as FEMA, was identified.

Discussion; no action taken.

9. Discussion on allocation of Measure P funds for Emergency Medical Transport for
Persons experiencing a Mental Health Crisis (‘5150 Response & Transport’)

Discussion; no action taken.

10. Discussion on establishing a flex fund reserve, within the budget, to address critical
needs that develop between budget cycles.

Discussion; no action taken.

11.Discussion on whether last year's funding allocations can now be met by another
source of projected funding for 2021-2022, the nature of those sources and the
amount of monies projected from other sources.

Discussion; no action taken.

12.Discussion on unmet needs from last year's Measure P funding.

Discussion; no action taken.
A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 2" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510. 981.5435 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510. 981.5450
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions Homeless Services Panel of Experts.aspx



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx

Homeless Services Panel of Experts - Minutes
3-22-21

13.Discussion on where monies could be otherwise secured to fund 1367 University
Avenue Step-Up Housing.

Discussion; no action taken.
Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Bookstein move to extend the meeting by 15 minutes.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Sherman.

14.Discussion on possible consolidation of Homeless Services Panel of Experts and
Homeless Commission.

Discussion; no action taken.

15.Develop work plan to be conducted following budgetary allocations including
possible program site visits.

Action: M/S/C Marasovic/Bookstein move to extend the meeting by 15 minutes.

Vote: Ayes: Marasovic, Wehrman, Bookstein, Scheider.
Noes: None. Abstain: None. Absent: Sherman.

Meeting adjourned at 8:15 PM.

Minutes Approved on:

Josh Jacobs, Commission Secretary:

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All

2180 Milvia Street, 2" Floor, Berkeley, CA 94704 Tel: 510. 981.5435 TDD: 510.981.6903 Fax: 510. 981.5450
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions Homeless Services Panel of Experts.aspx



mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx

[ CITY ©F

-

Office of the City Manager

Date: February 25, 2021
To: Budget & Finance Policy Committee
From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: David White, Deputy City Manager
Lisa Warhuus, Director of Health, Housing and Community Services

Subject: Measure P Update

RECOMMENDATION
Receive an update from city staff and provide direction on the allocation of resources to
inform the Fiscal Year 2022 budget development process.

BACKGROUND

Overview

In 2018, City of Berkeley voters adopted Measure P'. Measure P increased the

Real property transfer tax for ten years (and expires January 1, 2029) from 1.5% to
2.5% for property sales and transfers over $1,500,000. The threshold of $1,500,000 is
required to be adjusted annually to capture the top 33% (approximately) of transfers.
However, in no case shall any adjustment lower the threshold below $1,500,000. To
date, there have been no adjustments to the threshold.

Funds collected pursuant to Measure P are deposited into the General Fund and
designated to programs and services that address homelessness. Since its adoption,
the tax has generated the following revenues:

FY 2021
FY 2019 FY 2020 Year to Date
Revenues $2,932,313 $9,512,603 $4,254,324

*Year to date through December 31, 2020.

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide an update to the Measure P Forecast
that informed the development of the Fiscal Year 2022 budget. This update includes
revised revenue projections, updates to planned expenditures for a variety of programs,

1 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Transfer%20Tax%20-
%20All_Ballot%20Question%20and%20Full%20Text.pdf.

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 e TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager




Measure P February 25, 2021

recent action taken by the City Council and Budget and Finance Policy Committee
regarding the Step-Up Housing Project at 1367 University, and future City program
requirements (i.e., Homeless Response Team and No Place Like Home).

Updates to Measure P Forecast

Attachment 1 consists of a revised forecast for Measure P. The following outlines the
key revisions to the forecast:

e Revenue projections have been increased. The following table compares current
and future fiscal year Measure P revenues at the time the Fiscal Year 2021 budget
was adopted to what the City currently anticipates based on results for the first six
(6) months of Fiscal Year 2021:

Fiscal Year 2021 Fiscal Year 2021
Budget Adoption Revised Forecast
(June 2020) (February 2021)
Fiscal Year 2021 $4,747 414 $6,247,414
Fiscal Year 2022 $3,000,000 $6,247,414
Fiscal Year 2023 $3,060,000 $6,247,414
Fiscal Year 2024 $3,121,200 $6,247,414

Measure P revenue projections for Fiscal Year 2021 and beyond reflect staff's best
estimates of what might happen at this point in time. Projected revenues will likely
fluctuate and be adjusted as they are dependent on factors beyond the City’s
control.

e The following outlines changes to expenditures:

o Expenditures for Pathways STAIR Center have been reduced by $1,000,000 in
Fiscal Year 2021 and Fiscal Year 2022 to reflect that the first $1,000,000 of
program expenditures will come from the State’s Permanent Local Housing
Allocation (PHLA) program. When the Fiscal Year 2021 budget was adopted,
only $1,000,000 in PHLA resources was allocated to Pathways STAIR, however,
these resources are also available for Fiscal Year 2022. This is consistent with
the action taken by City Council on July 14, 20202

o Expenditures allocated to LifeLong Medical Care, the Outdoor Shelter program,
and Training and Evaluation have been adjusted to reflect what is likely to be
spent in Fiscal Year 2021 and what will be needed in Fiscal Year 2022. This

2 hitps://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2020/07 Jul/Documents/2020-07-
14 Item 15 Permanent Local Housing pdf.aspx.

Page 2



Measure P February 25, 2021

helps to provide a better understanding of what resources will be available at the
end of Fiscal Year 2021.

o 1367 University Avenue Step-Up Housing Project. On October 13, 2020, City
Council approved an allocation of Measure P resources to support this housing
project, subject to review and confirmation by the Budget and Finance Policy
Committee3. On January 28, 2021, the Budget and Finance Policy confirmed the
availability of Measure P resources for this project*. The annual resources
needed for this project have been incorporated into the attached Measure P
forecast, utilizing some of the funding previously allocated to permanent
supportive housing.

o Homeless Response Team. This new program has been added to the Measure
P forecast based on the action taken by City Council in adopting the AAO#1 on
December 15, 2020. Beyond Fiscal Year 2021, resources will be needed to
support this program and staff are in the process of evaluating resource needs.

o No Place Like Home (NPLH). A new line item for the No Place Like Home
program has been added to the forecast. Approximately $200,000 in resources
will be needed for this program starting in Fiscal Year 2023. This need derives
from action taken by City Council on January 29, 2019 in which the City Council
authorized the City of Berkeley to participate in the State of California’s No Place
Like Home (NPLH) housing program and submit an application for funding the
Berkeley Way Project (Resolution No. 68,747-N.S.)>. On December 10, 2019,
Council again authorized an application to the NPLH Program for the 2001 Ashby
Avenue project (Resolution No. 69,213-N.S.)¢. Both projects were awarded
funding under the NPLH program, which requires that the City commit to
providing mental health services for residents of the funded units for at least 20
years. The NPLH program is a housing subsidy for people experiencing
homelessness and have a mental illness and may or may not meet the eligibility
criteria for City of Berkeley Mental Health Division services. Referrals to these
units will be made through the Coordinated Entry System and Measure P
resources would be needed permanently.

3 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2020/10 Oct/Documents/2020-10-

13 Item 16 Step Up Housing Initiative Allocation.aspx.

4 hitps://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/2021-01-28%20Annotated%20Agenda%20-
%20Budget.pdf.

5 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2019/01 Jan/Documents/2019-01-

29 Item_ 01 Authorize Participation in_State of California No Place Like Home.aspx.

6 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2019/12 Dec/Documents/2019-12-

10 Item 07 Jointly Apply for No Place Like Home.aspx.

Page 3



Measure P February 25, 2021

CONCLUSION

With the current updates to revenue and expenditure projections, there are adequate
resources to support all of the programs and services attributed to Measure P in
Attachment 1 for Fiscal Years 2021 and 2022. However, beyond Fiscal Year 2022,
there is cause for concern as city staff currently anticipates that there will not be
adequate resources to support all of the programs and services aligned with Measure P.
In addition, the uncertainty surrounding the revenue forecast is reason to constantly
evaluate the programs and services that rely on Measure P in order to ensure that the
City can reliably deliver important services to the community. To this end, city staff
seeks the review and input of the attached Measure P forecast from the Budget and
Finance Policy Committee.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with
receiving an update on Measure P and providing direction to city staff.

CONTACT PERSON
David White, Deputy City Manager, City Manager’s Office, 981-7012
Lisa Warhuus, Director, Health, Housing and Community Services, 981-5404

ATTAHMENTS
1. Measure P Forecast

Page 4



EXHIBIT 1
TRANSFER TAX -- MEASURE P PROGRAM PROJECTION

DRAFT, SUBJECT TO CHANGE

2/22/21 8:54 PM

FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024
Actuals Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Revenues
Beginning Fund Balance $2,932,313 $9,859,779 $7,361,009 $2,780,186 ($2,889,595)
Measure P Revenues (1) 2,932,313 9,512,603 6,247,414 6,247,414 6,247,414 6,247,414
Permanent Local Housing Allocation (FY 21) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Revenues and Balance of Funds 2,932,313 12,444,916 16,107,193 13,608,423 9,027,600 3,357,819
|LESS: Total Expenses 0 2,585,137 8,746,184 10,828,237 11,917,194 11,933,326
Personnel Costs 0 118,521 279,927 336,951 460,909 477,041
Finance: Accountant Il (2) 0 152,965 158,319 163,860 169,595
Finance: Contract Staffing 38,266 11,734 0 0 0
HHCS: Community Services Specialist Il (Filled) (3) 80,255 115,228 178,633 184,885 191,356
HHCS: 50% Senior Management Analyst (Requested) (4) 0 0 0 112,164 116,090
Non-Personnel Costs/ Program Expenses 0 2,466,616 8,466,257 10,491,285 11,456,285 11,456,285
Fire: 5150 Response & Transport (2) (5) 0 846,616 2,753,384 2,400,000 2,400,000 2,400,000
Dorothy Day House Shelter (6) 0 0 300,000 566,000 566,000 566,000
Dorothy Day House Drop In (6) 0 0 21,340 182,000 182,000 182,000
Pathways STAIR Center 0 0 1,200,000 1,499,525 2,499,525 2,499,525
No Place Like Home 0 0 0 0 200,000 200,000
Coordinated Entry System 0 0 0 1,442,426 1,442,426 1,442,426
BDIC Locker Program 0 0 25,000 50,000 50,000 50,000
LifeLong Medical - Street Medicine 0 0 50,000 525,000 525,000 525,000
YSA Tiny Home 0 0 117,000 78,000 78,000 78,000
DBA- Homeless Outreach Worker 0 20,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000
Downtown Streets Team 0 0 225,000 225,000 225,000 225,000
Outdoor Shelter 0 0 300,000 850,000 615,000 615,000
COVID-19 Housing Solutions (8) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Permanent Housing Subsidies 0 0 1,501,078 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000
1367 University Avenue Step Up Housing Project (9) 0 0 932,975 900,000 900,000 900,000
HHCS: Square One Hotel Vouchers 0 0 65,947 0 0 0
Training and Evaluation 0 0 0 133,334 133,334 133,334
Homeless Response Team 0 0 934,533 0 0 0
Berkeley Relief Fund 0 1,600,000 0 0 0 0

Fiscal Year Surplus (Shortfall) 2,932,313 6,927,466 (2,498,770) (4,580,823) (5,669,780) (5,685,912)

Ending Fund Balance $2,932,313 $9,859,779 $7,361,009 $2,780,186 ($2,889,595) ($8,575,507)

Notes:
Measure P: General Fund (Fund 011)/ Program Code 5002

(1). Revenues revised to reflect FY 20 actuals and revised projections part of FY 21 adopted budget.

(2). Approved as part of FY 20 budget.

(3). This position supports the Measure P Panel of Experts, monitors contracts with BACS, tracks and reports on outcomes of homeless programs and represents Berkeley at county-wide homeless

coordinating meetings

(4). Responsibilities include processing contracts and payments for homeless contracts, tracks expenditures and assists in reporting to funders. Funding to be shared with Measure U1 as proposed and

discussed at Land Use Policy Committee.

(5). Assumes 1,200 calls per year and a cost per call of $2,000. Reimbursement levels will vary and may impact this estimated cost.

(6). Existing program. FY 20 represents partial year funding. FY 21 and thereafter represents full year funding.

(7). FY 21 and FY 22 expenditures reduced by $1.0M for costs that will be covered by revenues from the City's allocation of Permanenet Local Housing Allocation funds.
(8). Per Mayor's Recommended Adopted Budget for FY 21, STAIR Center Expansion ($705,000) and Safe RV Parking ($100,000) were combined for COVID-19 Homeless Solutions. On

December 15, 2020, City Council adopted FY 21 AAO#1 and reallocated these funds to the Homeless Response Team.

(9). Pursuant to Resolution 69,586-N.S. adopted by the City Coucil on October 13, 2020 and confirmation of resource availability by the Budget and Finance Policy Committee on January 28, 2020.

I:\Measure P\Measure P Program Projection As of 02-11-21 (01).xIsx




/ CITY OF

»

Lori Droste
Vice Mayor District 8
Consent Calendar

February 9, 2021

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
From: Vice Mayor Lori Droste
Subiject: Potential Measure P FY2022 Allocations

Recommendation

Refer the Measure P funding discussion to the City Manager, Measure P Homeless Panel of
Experts and-the Health-and-Life-Enrichmentpolicy-committee-to determine next steps to ensure
that the Measure P fund stays solvent. Specifically, these bodies should prioritize preferred
programs and services within the various categories that the Measure P panel previously
outlined according to updated projected revenues. During the course of these deliberations, the
Panel of Experts should hear presentations from staff on which homeless services (e.g.
permanent supportive housing exits, shelters, emergency interventions, multi-departmental
staffing, and supportive services) are funded outside of Measure P so that the bodies can make
recommendations after understanding the entirety of services and programs.

To the extent possible, the committees and commissions should attempt to find a non-volatile
source of funding for permanent supportive housing, using the 1,000 person plan as a
framework for best addressing the homelessness crisis on our streets.

The Panel of Experts and-Health-and-Life-Enrichment-policy-committee should finalize their

priorities in time for the budget committee’s consideration in June of 2021.

Background
Current Measure P revenues projections for the upcoming fiscal years are currently estimated at

$3 6.2 million dollars while total annual expenses hover around $11.54 (Attachment A). While
the beginning fund balance is healthy for FY21 and FY22, if current allocations are sustained,
the fiscal year shortfalls begin this year and extend to $8.5 million dollar annual fiscal year
deficits in the following fiscal years.!

1 https:/iwww.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/ltem%202%20Staff%20report.pdf


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx

In 2019, the Measure P Panel of Experts recommended that Council allocate its Measure P
revenues accordingly:

30% permanent supportive housing

30% temporary accommodations and shelter
14% street conditions and hygiene

14% supportive services

10% flexible housing funds

2% infrastructure.

If Council chooses to strictly follow the recommended percentage allocations, this means that
Council has the following revenue to allocate to the aforementioned categories:

$1,900,000 to permanent supportive housing
$1,900,000 to temporary accommodations and shelter
$420875,000 to street conditions and hygiene
$420875,000 to supportive services

$300625,000 to flexible housing funds

$60125,000 to infrastructure

For example, Council allocated approximately $2.6 million for temporary shelters (STAIR,
Dorothy Day, YSA, outdoor shelter) in FY2021. If Council wants to maintain these existing and
new shelter programs and if overall revenues are anticipated to be only $36 million, Council will
exhaust all Measure P revenue and have relimited money to allocate to permanent supportive
housing, street conditions and hygiene, supportive services, flexible housing funds, and
infrastructure. Additionally, in October of 2020, City Council also approved a $900,000 yearly
permanent supportive housing Measure P allocation for homeless housing.

Questions for the Committee

1.
2.

What other funding sources are dedicated to helping our unhoused community?

How much money will be available from the recently passed stimulus bill to help our
unhoused community? What criteria is attached to such funding?

Should the categories identified by the Measure P Panel be re-thought?

Should costs for infrastructure (personnel and technical assistance) come off the top to
ensure that evaluation and personnel are always paid for with Measure P funds even if
overall revenues are down?

If the panel and committee wants to retain the various cateqories established by the
Measure P panel and funding is limited, which programs within the categories should be
prioritized for Measure P funding?

Staff has indicated that approximately 57% of 5150 transports are for unhoused
individuals. Is there an alternative non-Measure P source of funding to pay for the 5150

transports?
How can Measure P help sustain existing programs?

Fiscal Impacts



https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2020/10_Oct/Documents/2020-10-13_Item_16_Step_Up_Housing_Initiative_Allocation.aspx

By addressing future funding shortfalls, this item will guide discussions to ensure that the
Measure P fund remains financially solvent.

Contact
Lori Droste, Vice Mayor, Idroste @cityofberkeley.info

Attachment 1. Measure P Program Projection


mailto:ldroste@cityofberkeley.info

Page 1 of 36

( CITY °F

-

o
o
7
)
AL

=

Office of the City Manager
ACTION CALENDAR

February 26, 2019

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Kelly Wallace, Interim Director, Health, Housing & Community Services
Department

Subject: Referral Response: 1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness

SUMMARY

On any given night in Berkeley, there are nearly 1,000 people experiencing
homelessness. The City of Berkeley has implemented a number of programs to respond
to this crisis, but data from the homeless point-in-time count indicate that, for the past
several years, homelessness has nonetheless steadily increased. To understand the
resources and interventions required to end homelessness in Berkeley--both by housing
the currently unhoused population and by preventing inflow of future homelessness--the
City Council asked staff to create a 1000 Person Plan on April 4, 2017. This report
responds to that referral.

While all homeless people lack stable housing, not everyone needs the same level of
support to obtain housing. To end homelessness in Berkeley, the city needs targeted
investments in a variety of interventions, ensuring every person who experiences
homelessness in Berkeley receives an appropriate and timely resolution according to
their level of need (i.e., a homeless population of size “functional zero”). HHCS staff
analyzed ten years of administrative homelessness data to understand the personal
characteristics of people experiencing homelessness in Berkeley, how they are
interacting with homeless services in Berkeley, and the factors most predictive of exiting
homelessness without eventually returning back to the system.

From these analyses, HHCS staff estimate that over the course of a year, nearly 2000
people experience homelessness in Berkeley. This population has been growing
because the population is increasingly harder to serve (longer histories of
homelessness and more disabilities) and because housing is too expensive for them to
afford on their own.

The types and sizes of all interventions to help Berkeley reach “functional zero” by 2028
are described in this report. To end homelessness for 1000 people in Berkeley, the
original referral directive from City Council, the city will need up-front investments in
targeted homelessness prevention, light-touch housing problem-solving, rapid
rehousing, and permanent subsidies, with a cost of $16 - $19.5 million up front and an

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7000 o TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7099
E-Mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

20


mailto:manager@cityofberkeley.infos
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/Manager
arichardson
Typewritten Text
20


Page 2 of 36

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness ACTION CALENDAR
February 26, 2019

annual ongoing expense of between roughly $12 — 15 million. These analyses suggest,
though, that a 1000 Person Plan will not address the entire homeless population in
Berkeley, but rather a portion of it. To end homelessness for all who experience it in
Berkeley over the coming ten years, staff estimate an annual expense of between $17
and $21 million in year one, growing annually to a total expense of between $31 and
$43 million by 2028. Staff recommend four strategic goals for the Council to consider in
moving Berkeley’s current system more rapidly towards a goal of functional zero.

These projected costs are in addition to Berkeley’s current general fund expenditures on
homeless services. Detailed analyses and cost estimates supporting staff’'s conclusions
and recommendations are included as Attachment 1.

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
Overview of homelessness in Berkeley

Most homeless services experts agree that the HUD Point-in-Time (PIT) count actually
undercounts the number of people experiencing homelessness in a community. If
Berkeley’s estimated homeless population size of 972 is based on a single night of data,
that number will have missed anyone who lost their housing the next night, or who
ended their homelessness the night before. This static, one-night number provides
insufficient data to plan for a budgetary response to homelessness over the course of
several fiscal years.

To address this, HHCS staff obtained 42,500 individual records from the county’s
Homeless Management Information System (HMIS), HUD’s standardized homeless
database where information on every person touching the service system in Berkeley is
recorded. These records date to 2006, the first year Berkeley programs began
participating in HMIS, and represent the most comprehensive data source available for
such a project. Using these data, staff found:

e Over the course of a year in Berkeley, nearly 2000 people experience
homelessness of some duration. This number has been steadily growing at an
average rate of 10% every 2 years and is highly disproportionate in its racial
disparity: since 2006, 65% of homeless service users in Berkeley identify as
Black or African American, compared to a general population of less than 10%.

e Despite this growing population, Berkeley’s homeless services beds’ have been
serving fewer unique households over time—even after accounting for the
change in system bed capacity over time. The average number of unique
individuals served per system bed has dropped from a high in 2011 of over 5 to
under 3 by 2017.

" This includes emergency shelter, transitional housing, and rapid rehousing programs.

Page 2



Page 3 of 36

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness ACTION CALENDAR

February 26, 2019

The same individuals appear to be cycling in and out of homelessness in
Berkeley. When looking only at clients who have used the system multiple times
we find that the average number of times these individuals return back to
homeless services has been increasing 9% year over year, and has increased
160% since 2006 (from 1.4 previous entries in 2006 to 3.5 in 2017). Moreover,
these homeless people are finding it harder to exit those beds to permanent
housing year over year; the average number of days they are spending in
homeless services beds has been increasing an average of 13% year over year,
from just under 1 month in 2006 to just under 3 months in 2017.

The likelihood of returning back to homelessness in Berkeley after previously
exiting the system for a permanent housing bed is increasing over time,
irrespective of personal characteristics or the type of service accessed.
Importantly, among those who previously exited the system to permanent
housing in the past but eventually returned, the largest percentage of those exits
had been to unsubsidized rental units. None of this is surprising given the
extreme increase in the East Bay’s rental housing costs over the past several
years, and the volatility that creates for poor and formerly homeless people
struggling to make rent.

A comprehensive regression analysis found that having any disability (physical,
developmental, substance-related, etc.) is by far the single largest reason a
person is unlikely to exit homelessness to housing and subsequently not return
back to homelessness. 2 Unfortunately, the percentage of homeless Berkeleyans
self-reporting a disability of any kind has increased greatly, from 40% in 2006 to
68% by 2017--meaning the population is increasingly comprised of those least
likely to permanently end their homelessness with the services available.

Per Federal mandate, all entities receiving HUD funding for homeless services
are required to create a Coordinated Entry System (CES) that prioritizes limited
housing resources for those who are most vulnerable. However, Berkeley’s
Federal permanent supportive housing (PSH) budget, which supports housing for
260 homeless people, can place only about 25-30 new people every year. To
help alleviate this lack of permanent housing subsidy, Berkeley experimented
with prioritizing rapid rehousing for its highest-needs individuals at the Hub. We
found that rapid rehousing can be used as a bridge to permanent housing
subsidies, but, used alone, cannot prevent some of the highest needs people
from returning to homelessness.

2 We regressed all final permanent exits from Berkeley’s homeless services system (i.e., an exit to
permanent housing with no eventual return back to the system at some point thereafter) on a variety of
personal characteristics, controlling for type of service accessed and year of enrollment in that project.
Those reporting any disability were over 730% less likely to permanently exit the system. Race and
gender had no discernable pattern of effects on outcomes.

Page 3



Page 4 of 36

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness ACTION CALENDAR
February 26, 2019

Staff conclude from these findings that the system has not created sufficient
permanently subsidized housing resources to appropriately service a
Coordinated Entry System, and has instead relied on rapid rehousing to exit them
from the system. Overreliance on rapid rehousing with high needs individuals in a tight
housing market—all of which we found evidence for in these data--is a strategy that is
tenuous in the long-run, as HHCS has previously explained in an April 2018 Information
Report.3

Overview of a Homelessness Response Plan
In offering a response to this situation, HHCS staff offers the following:

e First, even with a fully-funded system, some people will continue to experience
housing crises over time, and some of those people may lose their housing as a
result. What can be designed, however, is a homelessness response system that
renders homelessness brief, rare, and non-recurring: that is, a system that
quickly triages each person based on their need and assigns them to an
appropriate level of support to resolve their housing crisis as quickly as possible.
A homeless population of ‘zero’ on any given night cannot be planned for, but a
homeless population of ‘functional zero’ can: in other words, if the system’s
capacity to resolve homelessness is greater than the rate at which people are
becoming homeless over time, then long-term, chronic episodes of
homelessness can be eliminated.

e Second, while every homeless person lacks permanent housing, not everyone
needs the same level of support to obtain and retain new housing. A “right-sized”
system offers the right amount of a variety of interventions, ranging from targeted
homelessness prevention, to light-touch, one time assistance like housing
problem solving assistance, to rapid-rehousing, to permanently subsidized
housing.

e Third, not all permanent housing subsidies are the same. Some high-needs
individuals require a deep subsidy (whereby they pay 30% of their income,
whatever that may be, towards rent, with subsidy to cover the rest). However,
many others would be able to remain permanently housed with a shallow subsidy
(for example, $600 per month). In projecting costs, we offer two permanent
subsidy options for Council to consider: an option with 100% deep subsidies for
everyone who needs ongoing support, and an option that has some subsidy
variation.*

3 See: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2018/04 Apr/Documents/2018-04-

24 Item_ 39 Rapid Rehousing What it Can.aspx

4 Specifically, we assume that 1/3 will receive set-aside access to below market-rate (BMR) affordable
units already subsidized for those at 50% AMI; 1/4 will receive market-rate apartments with subsidies
covering 50% of the rent; 1/5 will receive a flat subsidy of $600 per month; and 1/4 will receive permanent

Page 4


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx

Page 5 of 36

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness ACTION CALENDAR
February 26, 2019

Addressing homelessness for 1000 people in Berkeley—the 1000 Person Plan

To permanently end homelessness for 1000 people in Berkeley, we estimate that the
resources outlined below will be required. Detailed information on calculations,
assumptions, and cost projections are available in Attachment 1.

Inventory - slots needed

Targeted homeless prevention slots 295
Light touch, no financial assistance slots 211
Rapid Rehousing slots 211
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) slots 218
Permanently subsidized housing (PH) slots 361
Outreach (FTE) 11

Cost (all line items assume 20% nonprofit admin
expenses and associated city staff costs)

Targeted homeless prevention slots $1,326,230
Rapid Rehousing slots $2,000,112
PH + PSH subsidies and case management -- $15,347,297
100% deep subsidies*

PH + PSH subsidies and case management -- with $11,891,616
subsidy variation*

Outreach costs $891,000
TOTAL ANNUAL COST -- 100% deep subsidies $19,564,639
TOTAL ANNUAL COST -- with subsidy variation $16,108,958

* Represents an ongoing annual expense

This amounts to an up-front expense ranging from roughly $16 - $19.5 million up front,
with an annual ongoing expense of between roughly $12 — 15 million for permanent
subsidies.

A plan for solving homelessness for 1,000 people, the original Council referral, does not
transform Berkeley’s homeless system into a system that achieves “functional zero”. To
achieve functional zero, more resources would be needed as outlined below.

Ending all homelessness in Berkeley — A plan for Functional Zero by 2028
A plan to sustainably end homelessness in Berkeley within 10 years would require:

e Aninvestment in targeted homelessness prevention of roughly $1.5M annually;

subsidy in market-rate apartments at 30% of their income. These proportions align with those used in the
2018 EveryOne Home Strategic Plan update.

Page 5



Page 6 of 36

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness

ACTION CALENDAR
February 26, 2019

e Aninvestment in light-touch, housing problem-solving for rapid rehousing of
roughly $2M in year one, shrinking to roughly $700,000 by 2028;

e Aninvestment in permanently subsidized housing of:

o $17Min year one, growing to $42M annually by 2028, for 100% deep

subsidies;

o $13Min year one, growing to $29M by 2028, for a varied approach to

permanent subsidy.

This amounts to a total annual expense—and corresponding effect on the homeless

population—as follows:

Total annual costs to reach
Functional Zero by 2028

e Cost with 100% deep subsidies

e Cost with subsidy variation

»$50
5545
S 540
$35
$30

$25 $21M $31M
S20

$15  $17m
$10

S5

S0

S43M

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Annual size of homeless population if

1800

1600

1400

1200

1000

800

600

# homeless individuals

400

200

all interventions are adopted

20182019202020212022202320242025202620272028

Detailed information on calculations, assumptions, and cost projections are available in

Attachment 1.

Since this option requires an investment of substantially more resources than currently
available, staff propose the following 5-year goals as a starting point.

Strategic Goals for Addressing Homelessness in Berkeley

Given the complexity and cost of homelessness in Berkeley, staff recommend that
Council prioritize the following strategic goals over the following 5 years:

1. Transform Berkeley’s shelter system into a housing-focused, low-barrier
Navigation System. Staff project that this can be accomplished with $4.8 million in

Page 6



Page 7 of 36

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness ACTION CALENDAR
February 26, 2019

2019, growing annually with costs of living to reach $5 million annually by 2023.
To be maximally successful, this strategy relies on increased County and State
funding for permanent housing subsidies. We believe, however, that shelters
could improve housing outcomes with additional financial resources. Navigation
centers, which are open 24 hours and allow more flexibility for clients, are more
appealing to Berkeley’s highest-needs street homeless population.

2. Reduce chronic homelessness by 50% by 2023. Staff project a total annual cost
of $1.3 million beginning 2019, growing to $5.1 million annually in 2023 and
beyond, to fund both deep and shallow permanent housing subsidies.

3. Enhance the efficacy of homeless prevention resources with pilot interventions
specifically targeted to need. Staff project that this can be accomplished with
$1.45 million in 2019, growing with costs of living to reach $1.52 million annually
by 2023. For reasons detailed in the report, we recommend Council adopt this
goal only after making progress on goals 1 and 2. Ideally, this would be funded by
Alameda County, given the regional nature of housing and homelessness.

4. Continue to implement changes to Berkeley’s Land Use, Zoning, and
Development Review Requirements for new housing with an eye towards
alleviating homelessness. If present economic trends continue, the pace with
which new housing is currently being built in Berkeley will likely not allow for a
declining annual homeless population. Berkeley should continue to streamline
development approval processes and reform local policies to help increase the
overall supply of housing available, including affordable housing mandated by
inclusionary policies.

We project that the annual costs of achieving all these goals (with the exception of goal
#4, which cannot be quantified at this time) is $7.8 million in year one, growing to $12.7
million annually by 2023. Detailed information on calculations, assumptions, and cost
projections are available in Attachment 1.

BACKGROUND

On April 4, 2017, Council voted unanimously to take the following action: “Refer to the
City Manager the creation of a 1,000 Person Plan to address the homeless crisis in
Berkeley as described in the attached Pathways Project report, including prevention
measures and a comprehensive approach that addresses the long-term needs of the
City’s approximately 1,000 homeless individuals. The plan should include the
assessment, development and prioritization of all homeless housing projects currently
underway; all homeless housing referrals from Council; housing and service
opportunities that may be proposed by the City Manager; and a comprehensive plan to
purchase, lease, build or obtain housing and services for Berkeley’s homeless. The
1,000 Person Plan shall be presented to the City Council by the end of 2017 and
include a preliminary budget and proposed sources of income to fund capital and
operational needs over a 10-year period.”

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Page 7



Page 8 of 36

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness ACTION CALENDAR
February 26, 2019

There are no identifiable environmental effects associated with strategic goals #1, 2,
and 3 recommended in this report. The adoption of strategic goal #4 may have
potentially significant environmental impacts, such as the reduction in vehicle emissions
as commuters have access to denser housing along public transit corridors, case
managers have less distance to travel when performing home visits to their formerly
homeless clients, etc. Precise effects depend on specific actions taken.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
The City may consider adopting one or more of the four strategic goals outlined above.

FISCAL IMPACTS OF POSSIBLE FUTURE ACTION
True costs of all four goals are unknown, but staff estimate that the 5-year strategic
goals 1-3 will cost $7.8 million in year one, growing to $12.7 million annually by 2023.

CONTACT PERSON
Peter Radu, Homeless Services Coordinator, HHCS, 510-981-5435.

Attachments:
1: Analyses, assumptions, and cost projections.

Page 8



Page 9 of 36

Attachment 1: Analyses, Assumptions, and Cost Projections Supporting the 1000

Person Plan Referral Response

To perform these analyses, HHCS has over the past several months:

Obtained 42,500 individual records from the county’s Homeless Management
Information System (HMIS), HUD’s standardized homeless database where
information on every person touching the service system in Berkeley is recorded.
These records date to 2006, the first year Berkeley programs began participating
in HMIS, and represent the most comprehensive data source available for such a
project.

Partnered with an intern from the UC Berkeley Goldman School of Public Policy
to perform intensive data preparation and preliminary analyses.

Aligned analytical methods with EveryOne Home (Alameda County’s collective
impact organization to end homelessness) and the City of Oakland, which have
both undertaken similar sets of analyses, to ensure comparability to other
strategic plans to address homelessness in the East Bay.

This attachment is structured in three parts.

Part | presents comprehensive analyses of Berkeley’s Homeless Services
System using HMIS data, finding that homeless services users in Berkeley are
generally getting more disabled and experiencing more spells of homelessness,
exacerbating two problems: (i) they are remaining in shelter and transitional
housing, finding it increasingly difficult to exit; and (ii) they are returning to
homelessness with increasing frequency for lack of permanently affordable
housing options in the greater Bay Area housing market. It draws the conclusion
that the greatest need to end homelessness in Berkeley is permanently
subsidized, affordable housing.

Part Il uses the analytical findings from Part | to present a model for reaching
“functional zero” in Berkeley by 2028. We argue that to permanently render
homelessness brief, rare, and non-recurring in Berkeley, the city should invest in
the following five types of interventions:

Targeted homeless prevention;

Light-touch interventions with no financial assistance;
Rapid Re-housing;

Permanent Supportive Housing; and

Permanently subsidized housing without services.

abrwnN =

Using intervention types and analytical methods that closely align with those
used by EveryOne Home and the City of Oakland, we project that the total
annual cost of these interventions is between $17 and $21 million in year one,
growing annually to a total annual cost of between $31 and $43 million by 2028,
to reach “functional zero.”



Page 10 of 36

Much discussion has been given to the concept and costs associated with
housing 1000 people in Berkeley. Using the same analytical methods, we
estimate that permanently ending homelessness for 1000 people in Berkeley
(i.e., the number sleeping on our streets on any given night) will require ongoing
costs of between $16 and $20 million annually. This does not account for future
inflow of newly homeless people into Berkeley so will not permanently address
homelessness in Berkeley.

All projected costs are in addition to Berkeley’s current general fund contribution
to homeless services.

e Part lll presents strategic recommendations for the Council. Given the
complexity and cost of homelessness in Berkeley, staff recommend that Council
prioritize the following strategic goals over the following 5 years:

1. Transform Berkeley’s shelter system into a housing-focused, low-barrier
Navigation System. Staff project that this can be accomplished with $4.8
million in 2019, growing annually with costs of living to reach $5 million
annually by 2023. To be maximally successful, this strategy relies on
increased County and State funding for permanent housing subsidies.

2. Reduce chronic homelessness by 50% by 2023. Staff project a total
annual cost of $1.3 million beginning 2019, growing to $5.1 million
annually in 2023 and beyond.

3. Enhance the efficacy of homeless prevention resources with pilot
interventions specifically targeted to need. Staff project that this can be
accomplished with $1.45 million in 2019, growing annually with costs of
living to reach $1.52 million annually by 2023. For reasons detailed in the
report, we recommend that Council adopt this goal only after making
progress on goals 1 and 2. Ideally, such an effort would be funded by
Alameda County, given the regional nature of housing and homelessness.

4. Continue implementing changes to Berkeley’s Land Use, Zoning, and
Development Review Requirements for new housing with an eye towards
alleviating homelessness. If present economic trends continue, the pace
with which new housing is currently being built in Berkeley will likely not
allow for a declining annual homeless population. Berkeley should
continue to streamline development approval processes and reform local
policies to help increase the overall supply of housing available.

We project that the annual costs of achieving all these goals (with the exception
of goal #4, which cannot be quantified at this time) is $7.8 million in year one,
growing to $12.7 million annually by 2023.

Part | - Overview of Berkeley’s Homeless System Performance

Finding 1: Our homeless population is growing—and it is bigger than we thought.



Page 11 of 36

Most homeless services experts agree that the HUD Point-in-Time (PIT) count actually
undercounts the number of people experiencing homelessness in a community. If
Berkeley’s estimated homeless population size of 972 is based on a single night of data,
that number will have missed anyone who lost their housing the next night, or who
ended their homelessness the night before. If people flow in and out of homelessness
every day, then utilizing a static, single-night estimate of the population size as the
baseline will underestimate the true annual need from a resources perspective (and
thus annual costs from a budgetary perspective). Simply put, a plan to house 1000
people will not end Berkeley’s homeless crisis, but rather end a portion of it.

With this in mind, estimating the annualized homeless population size in Berkeley—and
quantifying how it changes over time--is the first step towards “right-sizing” the system.
Projecting the correct number of housing subsidies to fund in a budget year, for
example, should be based on the estimated number of people who actually need to be
served over the course of that budget year.

2009 2011 2013 2015 2017

Single-Night Count (from point-in-time data) 680 746* 761* 834 972
Annual homeless pop. (estimated) 1387 1522 1553 1701 1983
Percent change from previous count 10% 2% 10% 17%

* Estimated from Alameda County counts; Berkeley-
specific data are not available.

HHCS estimates that, over the course of 2017 (the last year for which data are
available), as many as 1,983 people experienced homelessness in Berkeley.' As
indicated in Figure 1, this annual population has been increasing at an average rate of
roughly 10% every two years, with the largest gains occurring between 2015 and 2017:

Figure 1 Berkeley's Homeless Population is Growing
2500
2000
1500
1000
500
0

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Berkeley Single-Night Count (PIT Count) Berkeley Annual Count (estimated)

" This number was obtained by estimating a “multiplier” to translate the single-night estimate into an
annual estimate. Our estimated multiplier of 2.04 is within the range expected by homeless system
experts. The specific methodology used for estimating the multiplier is available upon request.



Page 12 of 36

HHCS has previously reported on staggering racial disparities in the homeless services
system.2 Whereas people identifying as Black or African-American constitute less than
10% of Berkeley’s general population, for example, they represent 50% of the single-
night homeless population. These analyses reveal that the disparity among service
users is even worse: since 2006, 65% of homeless service users in Berkeley identify as
Black or African American. This large difference in Black individuals between the point-
in-time count and service utilization count suggests that Black Berkeleyans are more
likely to seek help from the system if they lose their housing, though this cannot be
confirmed from the data available.

Finding 2: Despite a growing population, our system is serving a progressively smaller
percentage of the literally homeless population.

Despite a growing homeless population size, the number of people actually using
homeless system services each year in Berkeley (such as shelters, drop-in centers, or
rapid rehousing subsidies) has not kept pace with this growth since 2015. Our analysis
of HMIS data finds that, between 2011 and 2014, the homeless services system served
a large population that was not “literally homeless” upon entry—in other words, people
who reported staying with friends or family the night before, or coming from their own
housing. Filtering for only those users who came from literal homelessness when
entering the system, we find evidence that, since 2014, the homeless services
system is serving a smaller portion of the overall homeless population (see
Figure 2).3

2 See: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2017/07 _Jul/Documents/2017-07-

25 ltem 53 2017 Berkeley Homeless.aspx

3 1n 2014, Berkeley’s drop-in centers largely stopped entering new data in HMIS. When isolating the
effects of drop-in data, we find that since that time 45% of the discrepancy between literally and non
literally homeless users is attributable to drop-in center clients—in other words, 45% of non literally
homeless people who used homeless services did so at Berkeley’s drop-in centers. Importantly, removing
drop-in data altogether has no impact on the trend of overall declining system usership.



https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/07_Jul/Documents/2017-07-25_Item_53_2017_Berkeley_Homeless.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/07_Jul/Documents/2017-07-25_Item_53_2017_Berkeley_Homeless.aspx

Page 13 of 36

Figure 2 Despite a growing homeless population, fewer are being served

3000
2500

2000

RN

1500 \\/_—

1000

# of people per year

500

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
e Total homeless services users in Berkeley (HMIS)

e | iterally homeless service users in Berkeley (HMIS)
Total estimated annual homeless population in Berkeley

This drop in overall service users does not appear to be a function of a decline in
the system’s bed inventory over time. Between 2006 and 2017, the number of beds
in Berkeley’s system (shelter, transitional housing, and rapid rehousing slots) changed,
on average, less than 1% year over year. When controlling for the number of beds in
the system, we actually find that fewer unique individuals are using any given bed year
over year (see Figure 3).

Figure 3 Fewer unique individuals are using each system bed each year

# unique individuals per system

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Total Beds -

RRH, ES, TH 294 296 296 296 284 254 284 255 265 276 273 269




Page 14 of 36

Of note, both of the graphs above indicate that, beginning in 2016, trends began to
reverse. In 2016, Berkeley began implementing its Coordinated Entry System (CES).
These trends indicate that CES has had the discernable effect of serving a rising
number of literally homeless people (rather than serving people who could resolve their
homelessness with other options, like returning back to family), as was the system’s
intention.

Finding 3: The same people appear to be cycling in and out of the homeless system in
Berkeley

What explains this drop in service utilization over time? There are two reasons why
fewer unique individuals might be using any given bed each year:

e Hypothesis 1: Different users might be getting increasingly “stuck” in the system
over time--finding it more and more difficult, for example, to exit a shelter bed for
housing.

e Hypothesis 2: Alternatively, the same, repeat individuals might be cycling through
the system more and more over time, thus reducing access to the system for
other, “new” users.

This is a critical distinction with divergent policy solutions: the first hypothesis implies
that the system lacks resources to quickly “exit” people from homelessness (for
example, rapid rehousing subsidies to create “flow” through system beds). The second
hypothesis instead implies that the system lacks permanency of exits for clients—even
if someone previously exited the system to housing, they may be returning to
homelessness with greater frequency over time for lack of permanent affordability in the
housing market.

Our analysis of the data provides some support for both hypotheses. First, as
indicated in Figure 4, the average number of days individuals are spending in homeless
services beds has been increasing an average of 13% year over year, from just under 1
month in 2006 to just under 3 months in 2017. Berkeley’s shelters only removed length-
of-stay limits in 2016 (well after this trend emerged), meaning that the increase cannot
be attributed to this policy shift alone (see footnote* for more on the dip in 2017):

4 Note that, beginning with the initiation of Coordinated Entry in 2016, the upward trend of time spent in
homeless beds sharply reversed. There are two potential explanations for this trend reversal: either (i) the
average shelter stay length decreased as high-needs individuals, for whom CES began reserving beds,
chose not to remain in shelter for long; and/or (ii) CES began prioritizing the longest-term homeless
people for housing first, thus helping move some very long-term stayers out of system beds and into
housing. Unfortunately, the data available cannot reliably determine which explanation is driving the
trend.



Page 15 of 36

Figure 4 Clients are spending more time in homeless beds each year

140

=
N
o

=
o
o

(0]
o

D
o

N
o

housing, and rapid rehousing beds

N
o

Avg. days spent in shelter, transitional

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Moreover, in recent years, Berkeley has seen a reversal of an otherwise positive trend:
since 2014, clients are increasingly likely to exit the system to homelessness, and less
likely to exit to permanent housing destinations (see Figure 5)°:

Figure 5 Percentage of total annual system exits from shelter,
transitional housing, and rapid rehousing to...

e Homelessness Permanent housing
80%
70%
60%

50% \/

40%

30%
20%
10%

0%
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Second, analyses demonstrate that the system is increasingly open to only a small pool
of repeat consumers. As shown in Figure 6, the number of repeat consumers has
remained relatively stable over time (with Coordinated Entry reversing a downward

5 Figure 5 includes exits from all system “beds” (including shelter, transitional housing, and rapid
rehousing).



Page 16 of 36

trend in 2016, indicating success in targeting long-term homeless people for services),
but Figure 7 reveals that this pool of individuals is accounting for an increasingly large
share of overall service use:

Figure 6 Whereas the total number of "repeat” users of the system has not
discernably changed over time...

800

# unique individuals
D
o
o

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Figure 7 ..the average number of times each of these repeat users has previously used
the system is increasing dramatically.

average # previous entries per repeat
client
N

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Overall, the average number of previous entries is increasing an average of 9% year
over year, and has increased 160% since 2006—from 1.4 previous entries in 2006 to
3.51in 2017. (These analyses account for shelter, transitional housing, and rapid
rehousing beds only).

To summarize, these trends indicate that homeless people in Berkeley are generally
finding that it is harder, and takes longer, to exit homelessness to permanent housing
each year—and once they do exit, they seem increasingly likely to return back to the



Page 17 of 36

system over time. A regression analysis on the likelihood of exiting homelessness
without eventually returning found that, relative to 2006, Berkeleyans were 16%, 19%,
and 22% less likely to exit to housing without returning in 2015, 2016, and 2017,
respectively—regardless of any personal characteristics, or the type of service they
accessed.

None of this is especially surprising when viewed in light of the East Bay’s dramatic
uptick in rental prices and housing instability, at all income levels, over the past several
years. Between January 2015 and December 2017, for example, average asking rents
in Berkeley jumped 54% (from $1,371 to $2,113). Meanwhile, homeless Berkeleyans’
incomes are increasingly unable to keep pace: in 2017, homeless people exited the
system with an average of only $628 in monthly income, with only 7% able to increase
their income by any amount during their stay in the system (from an average of $481 to
an average of $1,190), irrespective of the type of service accessed. Meanwhile, the
average asking rent for a one bedroom apartment in Berkeley in 2017 was $2,581;6 in
Oakland over the same period, rent averaged $2,285.7

This housing instability, and general inability for previously homeless people to afford
rent on their own, is clearly reflected in the system data (Figure 8): among those who
previously exited the system to permanent housing in the past but eventually returned,
the largest percentage of those exits had been to unsubsidized rental units. Without an
intervention that focuses on creating permanent affordability in the housing
market, all available evidence suggests that anything Berkeley does to address
homelessness will not reduce it so long as present trends continue.

6 See: https://www.rentjungle.com/average-rent-in-berkeley-rent-trends/
7 See: https://www.rentjungle.com/average-rent-in-alameda-rent-trends/



https://www.rentjungle.com/average-rent-in-berkeley-rent-trends/
https://www.rentjungle.com/average-rent-in-alameda-rent-trends/

Page 18 of 36

8 Those who exit homelessness to an unsubsidized rental unit are the most likely

Figure
to eventually return to homelessness

60%

Owned by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy

50%

Owned by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy

40% Permanent housing (other than
RRH) for formerly homeless

ersons )
ental by client, no ongoing

30% housing subsidy

e Rental by client, with other
ongoing housing subsidy
20%
== Rental by client, with VASH
subsidy

10% e Staying or living with family,
permanent tenure

m e Staying or living with friends,

permanent tenure

% housing exits, by year, ever returning to homelessness

0%
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

*HUD has changed HMIS data categories over the years, making data prior to 2010
incomparable.

Finding 4: Berkeley’s homeless population is getting increasingly harder to serve

All of this begs the question: why are people getting stuck and cycling in and out of
homelessness in Berkeley? For one, the data clearly suggest that, in part, the
population is increasingly comprised of people who are very difficult to serve.

To isolate the effects of personal characteristics on likelihood of successfully exiting the
system and not returning to homelessness, we partnered with an intern from the
Goldman School of Public Policy to perform comprehensive system regression
analyses. The table below summarizes a few predictive variables of interest in an
analysis that controls for year and type of service accessed:

Characteristic Effect on likelihood of
successfully exiting from
homelessness
Amt. total monthly income (per dollar) No effect
Engagement in criminal activity -5%
Having a disability (of any kind) -733%

10



Page 19 of 36

Overall, these analyses reveal that having any disability (physical, developmental,
substance-related, etc.) is by far the single largest reason a person is unlikely to
exit homelessness to housing and subsequently not return.8 Perhaps
unsurprisingly, Berkeley’s homeless population is not only increasingly serving “repeat”
consumers,® but a greater proportion of people with a disability over time (see Figure 9):

Figure 9 Percentage of Total Service Users Who...

Have a Disability Are first time service users

100%
80%
60%
40%
20%

0%
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Note that, in 2016, the percentage of first-time service users saw its single largest
increase in the history of the database. By design, Coordinated Entry prioritizes
homeless resources for the most vulnerable (those least likely to be able to access the
system on their own). We believe that the success of this policy shift is reflected in
these trends.

Finding 5: Coordinated Entry is unlikely to end homelessness in Berkeley without
additional permanent subsidies.

The previous analyses have found that, over the past 11 years, (i) fewer first-time
homeless individuals are being served, (ii) more people with disabilities are entering,
and (iii) fewer people are exiting to permanent housing—and fewer are likely to keep
their housing once they leave. While much of this is undeniably the effect of a housing
market that has become more supply-constrained, competitive, and expensive, some of
it is also by design: beginning in 2016, our system began intentionally serving long-term
and disabled homeless individuals first.

8 Surprisingly, race/ethnicity had no major effects on someone’s likelihood to exit homelessness without
eventually returning, despite the documented disproportionality among people of color experiencing
homelessness. We posit two potential explanations: (i) either the system is not regularly discriminating by
race when sustainably exiting people to housing; and/or (ii) people of color previously served by the
system but returning to homelessness are less likely to access services altogether, or more likely to
simply relocate to other communities. The available data cannot be used to distinguish between these
two potential explanations.

9 Note that 100% of clients were “first-time users” in 2006. This is because the database was initiated in
2006, meaning every instance of service use was necessarily someone’s first.

11



Page 20 of 36

Per Federal mandate,? all entities receiving HUD funding for homeless services are
required to create a Coordinated Entry System (CES) that prioritizes limited housing
resources for those who are most vulnerable (and therefore least likely to resolve their
homelessness on their own). On January 4, 2016, Berkeley became the first jurisdiction
in Alameda County to establish such a system. This fortunate timing affords these
analyses two full years of data to explore the effects of CES on homelessness.

First, Figure 10 demonstrates that Coordinated Entry has restored homeless services
for people who are actually literally homeless. Beginning in 2011, Berkeley’s homeless
services system began serving a significant number of people who were not actually
literally homeless—i.e., they spent the previous night in their own rental unit or with
friends and family. Unsurprisingly, these individuals likely drove a temporary spike in the
percent of overall system exits to housing without an eventual return. Beginning in 2016,
with the start of Coordinated Entry, the City’s homeless services were restricted to
literally homeless people. This change in priority to help literally homeless people who
had been on the streets the longest and were disabled has had the trade-off of
compromising system housing performance in a remarkably consistent fashion:

Figure 10 Coordinated Entry has once again prioritized homeless services for those who
are literally homeless

Exits to housing without a return as a percentage of total exits % Literally homeless at entry
100%
80%
60%
40%
20%
0%

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Additional analyses suggest not that Coordinated Entry is ineffective at housing high-
needs homeless people in Berkeley, but rather that Berkeley has not had access to
sufficient tools needed to implement this policy shift. Berkeley has roughly 260
permanent supportive housing (PSH) vouchers for homeless people. In any given year,
only about 10% of these vouchers turn over for new placements, meaning that only 25-
30 homeless individuals can be permanently housed, with ongoing deep rental subsidy,

10 See: https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Notice-CPD-17-01-Establishing-Additional-
Requirements-or-a-Continuum-of-Care-Centralized-or-Coordinated-Assessment-System.pdf

12


https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Notice-CPD-17-01-Establishing-Additional-Requirements-or-a-Continuum-of-Care-Centralized-or-Coordinated-Assessment-System.pdf
https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Notice-CPD-17-01-Establishing-Additional-Requirements-or-a-Continuum-of-Care-Centralized-or-Coordinated-Assessment-System.pdf

Page 21 of 36

in any given year. Meanwhile, 27% of Berkeley’s homeless population is chronically
homeless—261 individuals on any given night.

To alleviate this supply/demand mismatch, the City implemented a policy of prioritizing
high-needs people not just for PSH, but also for rapid rehousing (RRH),"" beginning in
2016. As a result, the percentage of RRH clients entering with disability had approached
that of PSH by 2017 (see Figure 11):

Figure 11 More clients are entering RRH with a disability after CES

PSH RRH
100%

90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

% of total entries with a
disability

Given what we now know about the statistical effect of disability on housing success,
this has had the predictable effect of reducing the percentage of clients who are able to
ultimately keep their housing after the subsidy and intervention ends, from a pre-CES
average of 81% to a post-CES average of 57%. Compare this to PSH homeless return
rates, which were less than 9% in 2017:

" For more information on rapid rehousing as an intervention for homelessness, see:
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2018/04 _Apr/Documents/2018-04-
24 ltem_ 39 Rapid Rehousing What_it Can.aspx

13


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx

Page 22 of 36

More disabled clients return to homelessness from rapid rehousing than

Figure 12 . .
permanent supportive housing:

e RRH PSH
00%

80%

homelessness

60%

% clients not returning to

40%
20%

0%
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

In fact, among those who self-report a disability at exit, those exiting to housing with
subsidies are consistently less likely to eventually return to homelessness than those
who do not:

Figure 13 Permanent subsidies help prevent disabled homeless people from returning
to homelessness:

Exits to:
Family and friends e No subsidy Subsidy with services Subsidy without services

70%
[%2]
(%]
]

S 60%
(%]
<

£ 50%
o
<

o 40%
<

2 30%
o

S 20%
>

§ 10%
X

0%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

* HUD has changed data categories over the years, making data prior to 2010
incomparable.

Conclusion: Berkeley’s homeless services system is not under-performing—rather, it
lacks the tools appropriate for the population it serves.

These analyses demonstrate, with a level of rigor not previously undertaken within our
system, that the performance of homeless services in Berkeley is declining over time

14



Page 23 of 36

because it is suffering from a fundamental mismatch between client characteristics and
appropriate resources. The homeless population has gotten larger over time, but fewer
and fewer people are accessing the system as “repeat” clients cycle in and out of
homelessness. In response, Berkeley has prioritized resources for those most in need
through Coordinated Entry, and has seen tremendous success in restoring homeless
services for those who are literally homeless and unable to access the system on their
own. However, is the system has not created sufficient permanently subsidized
housing resources to appropriately service a Coordinated Entry System, and has
instead relied on rapid rehousing to exit them from the system. Overreliance on rapid
rehousing with high needs individuals in a tight housing market is a strategy that is
tenuous in the long-run, as HHCS previously explained in an April 2018 Information
Report.12

Part || — Overview of Interventions and Costs Needed to Achieve “Functional Zero”

To reach “functional zero” in Berkeley (that is, a dynamic system where the number of
people entering homelessness equals the number exiting homelessness each year), the
City must right-size its system such that the appropriate number of resources are
available, per year, to the right people who need them.

HHCS staff performed an analysis of system flow and trends, and projects that, if
present trends continue (i.e., no additional resources but continuing rates of exits,
returns, and system inflow), Berkeley will need resources for an additional 1,748 people
beginning in 2019, and an additional 2,664 people by 2028. This need is above and
beyond the total number the city’s current budget is projected to house each year:

Annual... 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Size of Homeless Population 2146 2233 2323 2416 2513 2615 2720 2830 2944 3062
Of this population, estimated...

Newly homeless population 944 982 1022 1063 1106 1150 1197 1245 1295 1347

Returners & long-term homeless

population 1202 1250 1301 1353 1408 1464 1523 1585 1649 1715
Exits to permanent housing 398 398 398 398 398 398 398 398 398 398
Number remaining homeless 1748 1835 1925 2018 2115 2217 2322 2432 2546 2664
Of this population, estimated...

#not currently using services 410 430 452 474 496 520 545 571 597 625

# using services 1338 1404 1473 1545 1619 1697 1777 1861 1948 2039

The table above quantifies this estimate. A significant portion of the population consists
of people who are new to the system (the “newly homeless population”). In other words,
with present resources, we project that as many as 944 individuals will fall into
homelessness for the first time in Berkeley in 2019—or roughly 17 people per week.
The remainder will consist of previously homeless individuals returning to homelessness

12 See: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2018/04 Apr/Documents/2018-04-
24 ltem 39 Rapid Rehousing What it Can.aspx

15


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx

Page 24 of 36

and long-term homeless individuals not yet served. Not all of these individuals will have
been last housed in Berkeley, but estimating the actual number last housed in Berkeley
cannot reliably be accomplished with existing data sources.

If present funding trends continue (i.e., funding for the current system remains
constant), we expect 398 permanent housing placements annually. Subtracting these
placements from the annual homeless population yields an estimate of those remaining
homeless, which contributes to the ensuing year’s population growth. By calculating the
difference between the annual estimated homeless population and the subset of those
individuals who actually surface in our homeless system database, we estimate that just
under 25% of the population annually will not utilize any homeless service and will
require additional outreach resources to engage.

Not all of these individuals will need or benefit from the same type of intervention. While
some will be unable to exit homelessness for good without the assistance of permanent
supportive housing, others will benefit from time-limited, lighter-touch interventions like
housing problem-solving conversations with appropriate referrals. To reach functional
zero, staff estimate that, Berkeley will need to invest in the following five types of
interventions:

Targeted homeless prevention;

Light-touch interventions with no financial assistance;
Rapid Re-housing;

Permanent Supportive Housing; and

Permanently subsidized housing without services

oo =

Below we describe each intervention, and their associated costs, in turn.

Targeted Homeless Prevention

One of the greatest uncertainties in a “functional zero” analysis is estimating the number
of people who could have been prevented from entering homelessness in the first place.

e First, it is difficult to estimate the number that become “newly homeless” year
over year. There is no database that registers an entry every time someone loses
housing and enters homelessness. Moreover, HMIS data (the database used for
this report) only tracks people who access services; with a limited number of
shelter beds, we know that a growing percentage of people do not access
services, anecdotally evidenced in part by the significant growth in homeless
encampments.

e Second, not everybody experiencing homelessness in Berkeley was housed in
Berkeley at the time they became homeless. For this population, Berkeley
homeless prevention efforts would likely be impossible. Since homelessness is
clearly such a regional issue, Alameda County must be the lead for an expanded
prevention effort to be maximally successful.

16



Page 25 of 36

e Third, the ability to accurately target homeless prevention resources to people
who are actually going to become homeless remains quite low.'3 Not every
person who is at risk of becoming homeless actually goes on to experience
homelessness. There are far more unstably housed people and people
experiencing poverty than people experiencing homelessness in this country,
making upstream prevention efforts difficult and often inefficient.

For these reasons, we found that approximately 221 (roughly 25%) of the estimated 873
people who became newly homeless in Berkeley in 2018 would have been amenable to
homeless prevention interventions,' at a cost of roughly $1.3 million annually.’® These
interventions would be targeted as much as possible using homeless risk screening
tools and prioritized for people least likely to resolve their housing crisis on their own,
and are therefore qualitatively different from broader eviction prevention efforts currently
funded by the City of Berkeley.

We also predict that a small number of individuals who lose their permanent supportive
housing and return to homelessness for preventable reasons, such as nonpayment of
rent (no more than 10 on average each year) could be prevented with a modest
additional investment (roughly $130,000 in year one).

Figure 14 summarizes the annual investment needs for this intervention. The spike in
2021 results from preventing additional future returns to homelessness from new
permanent interventions discussed below.

3 See: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.926.5184&rep=rep1&type=pdf

4 We calculate this number from by multiplying (i) the percentage of people who, in 2016 and 2017,
entered homelessness from living situations amenable to homelessness prevention, such as their own
rental housing or from friends/family (25%); (ii) the percentage of Berkeleyans in the 2017 Point-In-Time
Survey that reported being housed in Alameda County at them time they lost housing (76%), using this as
a proxy for being housed in Berkeley for lack of more specific data; and (iii) the percentage of people who
would likely actually have their housing successfully sustained by prevention efforts (75%), using data
from Berkeley’s Housing Retention Program. This methodology was also used by EveryOne Home and
the City of Oakland.

5 This assumes an average grant size of $5000 per recipient and 20% for administrative and nonprofit
overhead expenses.

17


http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.926.5184&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Page 26 of 36

Figure 14 Projected costs - targeted homeless prevention

$1,480,000
$1,460,000
$1,440,000
$1,420,000
$1,400,000
$1,380,000
$1,360,000
$1,340,000
$1,320,000
$1,300,000
$1,280,000
$1,260,000

$1,353,949
$1,326,230

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Light-touch Interventions with No Financial Assistance

Not everybody who becomes homeless requires a great deal of assistance to resolve
their homelessness. Poor and unstably housed people are remarkably resilient and
often able to resolve their homelessness on their own with no financial assistance. For
example, 38% of system users in Berkeley between 2006 and 2017 touched the system
only one time and never returned back to the system again. Of these, roughly 10%
exited to unassisted permanent destinations, such as permanent accommodations with
family or their own, unsubsidized housing.

From these numbers, we estimate that up to 10% of non-chronically homeless
individuals in Berkeley would benefit from light-touch interventions with no financial
assistance, such as a focused housing problem-solving conversation with trained staff.1®
We believe this type of intervention could be built into the administrative expenses
quantified in the rapid rehousing interventions described below.

Rapid Rehousing

The 2017 point-in-time homeless count revealed that 94% of Berkeley’s homeless
population consists of single, unaccompanied adults. As we have previously reported to
the Council,'” very little research exists on the long-term efficacy of rapid rehousing in
ending homelessness among single adults, and while this intervention can be
successful for this population, it must be carefully applied to people who are most likely
to succeed with the short-term assistance it offers.

6 This proportion was used by the City of Oakland and EveryOne Home as well.
17 See: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2018/04 Apr/Documents/2018-04-
24 ltem_ 39 Rapid Rehousing What_it Can.aspx

18


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/04_Apr/Documents/2018-04-24_Item_39_Rapid_Rehousing_What_it_Can.aspx

Page 27 of 36

From national literature, a highly important predictor of success is the ability to increase
income over the course of the intervention.'® Locally, the analyses in this report reveal
that the single largest predictor of returning to homelessness over the long-run is having
a disability of any kind. Therefore, to estimate the proportion of individuals in Berkeley
who are likely to benefit from rapid rehousing and not eventually return to
homelessness, we examined the proportion of non-disabled individuals who had some
capacity to increase their income (either they already worked or did not report a fixed
disability income as their only source). From these numbers, we estimate that roughly
10% of the population is likely to permanently exit homelessness with a rapid rehousing
intervention, with roughly half of that requiring only one-time assistance (e.g.,
assistance with security deposits) and the other half requiring up to several months of
rental subsidy and case management. This translates into 211 rapid rehousing “slots” at
an annual cost of $2 million in year one, and shrinking to $700,000 by 2028'° as the
overall homeless population shrinks.

In comparison to the Hub and the STAIR Center’s budgets for rapid rehousing and
administration, these estimates reveal that Berkeley actually needs little additional rapid
rehousing investment, as this has been the greatest focus of subsidy expansion in
recent years. Figure 15 summarizes the annual costs for this intervention through 2028.

Figure 15 Projected costs - rapid rehousing

$2,500,000
$2,000,000 $2,000,112
$1,500,000
$1,000,000
$500,000 $700,240

S0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

18 Focus Strategies (2017). Valley of the Sun United Way Final Evaluation of the Rapid Rehousing 250
Program.
http://kjzz.org/sites/default/files/RRH%20250%20Final%20Phase%200ne%20Report%2006262017 %20(
1).pdf

9 For one-time assistance costs, we relied on HMIS exit data finding that among those exiting to
unassisted permanent destinations in 2016 band 2017, 55% exited to their own rental housing and 45%
exit to family and friends; we assume $3500 in average assistance for the former, plus an average travel
or relocation voucher of $250 for the latter. For those exiting with several months of assistance, we
employ Hub data to estimate average rents and durations. Both estimates include associated staff and
administrative expenses of 20%.

19



Page 28 of 36

Permanent Supportive Housing and Permanently Subsidized Housing Without Services

Part | of this report concludes that the single largest “missing piece” in Berkeley’s efforts
to end homelessness is permanently subsidized, affordable housing. As rents rise while
wages and fixed-income benefits stagnate, those who exit to unassisted permanent
housing (for example, after a rapid rehousing intervention has ended) face ongoing risks
of returning to homelessness in the face of ongoing housing market volatility. To reach
functional zero in Berkeley, the single largest investment required will be in permanent
rental subsidies for the majority of homeless people who are simply too poor—and do
not have the capacity to increase their incomes--to make it on their own in Northern
California’s tight, expensive housing market.

We distinguish between two types of permanent subsidies—those with supportive
services, and those without. The former is traditionally reserved for the chronically
homeless, but we believe that only 50% of chronically homeless people in Berkeley
require ongoing case management. The rest—as well as the rest of the homeless
population unable to benefit from prevention, light-tough, or rapid rehousing
assistance—will simply need permanent rental subsidies. This translates to roughly 218
permanent supportive housing exits, and 440 permanent subsidy exits, in year 1 alone.

Figure 16 summarizes the annual costs?® associated with this intervention through
2028. Note two important characteristics of the cost curve over time:

e First, the curve increases over time because permanent subsidies require a
permanent fiscal outlay—as new individuals are housed each year, the overall
fiscal commitment grows.

e Second, the curve plateaus over time. This is because (i) a large initial
investment is required up front to address the currently homeless population, and
(ii) as the portfolio of subsidies increases, a growing fraction of the need each
year can be addressed with turnover.

20 To calculate costs, we assume (i) apartments are rented at HUD rent-reasonableness rates for
Berkeley (those data courtesy of the Berkeley Housing Authority); (ii) an average client income at SSI
levels for 2018, with tenant rents at 30% of that amount; (iii) annual rent growths of 2% and annual
program cost growths of 1%; and (ii) sufficient city staff and nonprofit administrative support to administer
what amounts to 5 times the current Shelter Plus Care capacity in Berkeley.

20



Page 29 of 36

Figure 16 Projected costs - subsidies and case management

$45

$40
$42M
$35

$30

%20
15 ¢17m
S10

$5

S0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Experimenting with Permanent Subsidy Variation

These cost estimates assume a “worst-case scenario” in which all individuals are
housed at rents equaling 30% of their income, with subsidy to cover the difference.
Emerging evidence suggests, however, that flat or shallow subsidies (for example, a
fixed monthly subsidy of, say, $600 per month) can prove extremely effective at helping
formerly homeless people maintain their housing over time.2! If Berkeley were to pilot
such an approach, yearly costs could be reduced. Following EveryOne Home’s
recommendation, for example, we calculated the annual costs if:

e 1/3 of the population had set-aside access to below market-rate (BMR)
affordable units already subsidized for those at 50% AMI,

e 1/4 of the population were housed in market-rate apartments with subsidies
covering 50% of the rent;

e 1/5 of the population received a flat subsidy of $600 per month (akin to the Basic
Income experiment starting in Stockton in 2019%2); and

e 1/4 of the population received permanent subsidy in market-rate apartments at
30% of their income.

Piloting such an approach to subsidy variation is predicted to have the cost differential
effects depicted in Figure 17:

21 See: https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/22311/413031-A-Proposed-Demonstration-of-
a-Flat-Rental-Subsidy-for-Very-Low-Income-Households.PDF
22 See: hitps://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/30/business/stockton-basic-income.html

21


https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/22311/413031-A-Proposed-Demonstration-of-a-Flat-Rental-Subsidy-for-Very-Low-Income-Households.PDF
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/22311/413031-A-Proposed-Demonstration-of-a-Flat-Rental-Subsidy-for-Very-Low-Income-Households.PDF
https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/30/business/stockton-basic-income.html

Page 30 of 36

Cost differential - permanent subsidies

Figure 17
with and without variation

Permanent subsidies and case mgmt with 100% deep subsidies

PH + PSH Subsidies and case mgmt with subsidy variation

$42M

Millions

$30 $29M
s20 — S17M

S$13M

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Capital Expenses

The permanent subsidy expenses calculated above simply account for operating
subsidy expenses; they do not account for capital costs to build new units. With vacancy
rates in the greater Bay Area at historic lows as construction of all types of housing lags
behind projected need—and as other Bay Area jurisdictions compete with one another
for a shrinking pool of naturally-occurring affordable housing for their respective
homeless populations—there are simply not enough units in the rental market to make
an approach that relies solely on scattered-site, tenant-based subsidies viable. Some
new construction, of 100% affordable projects and/or market-rate projects that take
advantage of inclusionary zoning policies, will have to be a part of this solution over the
long-run.

At the time of writing, the outcome of Measure O, the City’s Affordable Housing Bond
Measure, is unknown. If the measure passes, City officials must decide how to use the
proceeds. If the City opts to utilize all of the $135 million in bond funds to construct new
affordable housing, staff estimate that this one-time infusion of funds would result in
approximately 450-750 new affordable housing units (at a City subsidy rate of
$150,000-250,000 development cost per unit), with approximately 20% (or 90-150) of
those units affordable to the homeless population. If other types of more costly housing
are desired, the net new units would be fewer.

Total Expenses and Effects on Homelessness in Berkeley

The types and sizes of the interventions above are designed to help Berkeley reach
“functional zero” by 2028. If each is adopted, it would come at an estimated annual
expense of between $17 and $21 million in year one, growing annually to a total annual

22



Page 31 of 36

budget obligation of between $31 and $43 million by 2028. Figure 18 depicts how
annual expenses change over time, while Figure 19 depicts associated annual
decreases in homelessness:

Figure 18 Total annual costs to reach Functional Zero by 2028

e Cost with 100% deep subsidies === Cost with subsidy variation

$40 $43M

$25 %21 231M

$15 $17M

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Figure 19 Annual size of homeless population,
assuming all interventions are adopted

1800
1600
1400
1200
1000

800

600

# homeless individuals

400
200

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

1000 Person Plan to Address Homelessness in Berkeley

To permanently end homelessness for 1000 people in Berkeley, we estimate that the
resources outlined below will be required.

23



Page 32 of 36

Inventory - slots needed

Targeted homeless prevention slots 295
Light touch, no financial assistance slots 211
Rapid Rehousing slots 211
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) slots 218
Permanently subsidized housing (PH) slots 361
Outreach (FTE) 11

Cost (all line items assume 20% nonprofit admin
expenses and associated city staff costs)

Targeted homeless prevention slots $1,326,230
Rapid Rehousing slots $2,000,112
PH + PSH subsidies and case management -- $15,347,297
100% deep subsidies*

PH + PSH subsidies and case management -- with $11,891,616
subsidy variation*

Outreach costs $891,000
TOTAL ANNUAL COST -- 100% deep subsidies $19,564,639
TOTAL ANNUAL COST -- with subsidy variation $16,108,958

* Represents an ongoing annual expense

This amounts to an up-front expense ranging from roughly $16 - $19.5 million up front,
with an annual ongoing expense of between roughly $12 — 15 million for permanent
subsidies.

Part Ill — Strategic Goals and Recommendations

In the event the City is unable to finance the functional zero or 1000 person plan costs
estimated above, staff offer the goals below as more realistic alternatives for Berkeley’s
budget and capacity. They are strategically designed to maximize potential federal
drawdowns over time, and to recognize the role that Alameda County must play as a
collaborative partner in the effort.

1. Transform Berkeley’s shelter system into a housing-focused Navigation
System. The functional zero analyses in Section | reveal that shelter users in
Berkeley are (i) getting “stuck” in beds for lack of access to housing exits, and (ii)
with Coordinated Entry, increasingly coming from a long-term and disabled
homeless population. Berkeley’s traditional year-round shelters have an average
annual budget of $640,000—little more than 25% of the STAIR Center’s budget.
However, any shelter can be turned into a Navigation Center with sufficient staffing
and flexible funding. To help move Berkeley’s shelter system from one that is
focused on respite to one that is focused on flow from the streets into housing, we
recommend bolstering shelter budgets so they all reflect the priorities of the STAIR
Center.

24



Page 33 of 36

Achieving this goal will require an additional $4.8M in total new funding for shelters,
growing annually with inflation/costs of living. This funds:
e New navigators, peer site monitors, and management at each shelter at
highly competitive salaries to attract and retain top talent;
e Flexible subsidies and one meal a day for each bed;
e Overhead and training support for shelter staff.

Staff believe that this goal is appropriate and achievable for Berkeley given its
position as a relatively small jurisdiction within Alameda County. Berkeley’s general
funds and powers of taxation are insufficient to generate the revenue needed to fund
permanent subsidies at the numbers calculated in Section Il of this report. Thus,
Berkeley can provide the low-barrier, service rich navigation centers to help
transition unhoused residents from the streets and into housing, but Alameda
County administers increasing levels of State funding for homelessness (such as
California Whole Person Care and various revenues stemming from California SB
850) and must take the lead in piloting permanent operating subsidies for its
homeless population. Homelessness does not respect arbitrary jurisdictional
boundaries within Alameda County; stronger county investment in permanent
housing support is imperative for this local investment strategy to be maximally
effective.

Even without sufficient permanent affordable housing to create “flow,” there are still
tangible benefits to investing in lower-barrier shelter models. As staff highlighted in a
recent evaluation of the STAIR Center’s opening,?® lower barriers generally mean
that higher-needs individuals are more willing to use shelter, addressing the
“‘meanwhile” problem of very disabled and chronically homeless people sleeping on
the streets.

2. Reduce chronic homelessness by 50% by 2023. In the event the County cannot
provide new permanent subsidies, Berkeley has a robust federally funded Shelter
Plus Care program with extensive expertise in the administration of permanent
subsidies for chronically homeless individuals, and already funds a small number of
permanent subsidies for chronically homeless people through the Square One
program. By expanding Square One to 54 new vouchers in 2019 and 222 total
vouchers by 2023, we calculate that Berkeley, on its own, can achieve the goal of
reducing chronic homelessness by 50% by 2023.

Increased funding for subsidies and staff can also help leverage Federal support
over time, as HUD funds are increasingly tied to measurable reductions in yearly
homeless counts. Tackling chronic homelessness is an effective way to bring overall
homeless counts in Berkeley down, as Berkeley’s rate of chronicity (27%) far
exceeds the national average (roughly 15%).

23 See: hitps://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City Council/2018/10 Oct/Documents/2018-10-
09 WS Item 01 An_ Evaluation of the Pathways.aspx

25


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/10_Oct/Documents/2018-10-09_WS_Item_01_An_Evaluation_of_the_Pathways.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/10_Oct/Documents/2018-10-09_WS_Item_01_An_Evaluation_of_the_Pathways.aspx

Page 34 of 36

Achieving this goal will require:
e An additional $1.3M in funding in year 1, growing to $5.1M annually by 2023.
o Administrative, staff, and services costs total $370k in year 1, and $1M
annually by 2023.
o Subsidy expenses total $900k in year 1, and $3.9M annually by 2023.
e New and existing below market-rate unit set-asides for chronic
homelessness.

3. Enhance the Accuracy of Homeless Prevention Interventions by Targeting to
Need. Our ability to accurately target homeless prevention resources to people who
are actually going to become homeless remains low.?* Most people who are unstably
housed in this country do not become homeless; our functional zero analyses
necessarily assume that large numbers of people cannot be prevented, even with
additional resources. For these reasons, discussed in more detail in Section Il, we
do not recommend focusing on homeless prevention at this time. Instead, we
strongly recommend (i) targeting all prevention funds to those who are previously
homeless and at risk of returning from rapid rehousing or permanent supportive
housing interventions, and/or (ii) piloting a new, targeted approach to homeless
prevention that prioritizes applicants based on imminent homelessness and relative
level of need, and lowers barriers to receiving aid (such as certain documentation
requirements).

Achieving this goal will require an additional $1.5M annually through 2023, growing
annually with inflation/costs of living. This funds:
e Flexible funds for keeping previously homeless people housed;
¢ Administration and flexible funds for a pilot Coordinated Entry approach to
prevention that prioritizes based on need.

4. Continue to implement changes to Berkeley’s Land Use, Zoning, and
Development Review Requirements.
Even if Council funds sufficient scattered-site housing subsidies, there is not enough
available housing stock to utilize them--all Bay Area cities are competing for the
same limited supply for their own homeless populations. Staff believes new housing
construction will have to be part of any long-term plan to end homelessness in
Berkeley.

An emerging body of research links high housing costs and low vacancy rates—and
therefore, high rates of homelessness?—to land use and development regulations
that restrict the creation of new housing of all income levels.?¢ For example, a 2015

24 See: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.926.5184&rep=rep1&type=pdf
25 See: http://urbanpolicy.berkeley.edu/pdf/qrs_restat01pb.pdf
26 See, for example, https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2015/finance/housing-costs/housing-costs.pdf

26


http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.926.5184&rep=rep1&type=pdf
http://urbanpolicy.berkeley.edu/pdf/qrs_restat01pb.pdf
https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2015/finance/housing-costs/housing-costs.pdf

Page 35 of 36

report from the bipartisan California Legislative Analyst’s Office?” found that urban
density is growing at a slower rate in Coastal California relative to comparable metro
areas nationally, in part because California’s local governments (i) impose slow and
cumbersome project review standards (each additional layer of independent review
was associated with a 4 percent increase in a jurisdiction’s home prices); (ii) impose
growth controls, such as limiting height and densities via zoning regulations (each
additional growth control policy a community added was associated with a 3 percent
to 5 percent increase in home prices); and (iii) use CEQA and other design review
processes to regulate housing construction (only 4 other states impose similar
review standards). Such local policy decisions, the report concludes, are worsening
California’s income inequality, increasing poverty rates, increasing commute times,
and forcing lower-income residents into crowded living situations.

Between 2014 and 2016, San Francisco and San Jose were the second and fourth
highest performing metro economies in the world, respectively, as measured by
employment and GDP growth per capita.?® Berkeley—caught in the middle of these
two global economic powerhouses—will likely continue to experience housing
shortages as wealth accumulates amidst an inelastic housing supply.

Because similar pressures are emerging in other metro areas, Federal funders of
affordable housing and homeless services are beginning to take note:

e For the first time, the US Interagency Council on Homelessness’ new Federal
Strategic Plan to Prevent and End Homelessness, released in July of 2018,
recommends that local governments begin “Examining and removing local
policy barriers that limit housing development in the private market and have
adverse impacts on housing affordability.’?°

e HUD has begun a stakeholder engagement process to reform enforcement of
the Fair Housing Act by tying federal grants to less restrictive local residential
zoning regulations.®

With this in mind, the pace with which new housing is currently being developed in
Berkeley will likely not accommodate a declining annual homeless population over
time. Staff recommends that Council heed the emerging funding pressures noted
above and continue the difficult process of examining how local land use restrictions
can be reformed with a specific eye towards alleviating homelessness.

Costs and Impacts of Strategic Goals and Recommendations

27 See: https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2015/finance/housing-costs/housing-costs.pdf

28 See: https://www.brookings.edu/research/global-metro-monitor-2018/

29 See p. 20: https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Home-Together-Federal-Strategic-
Plan-to-Prevent-and-End-Homelessness.pdf

30 See: https://www.wsj.com/articles/hud-moves-to-shake-up-fair-housing-enforcement-1534161601

27


https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2015/finance/housing-costs/housing-costs.pdf
https://www.brookings.edu/research/global-metro-monitor-2018/
https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Home-Together-Federal-Strategic-Plan-to-Prevent-and-End-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Home-Together-Federal-Strategic-Plan-to-Prevent-and-End-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.wsj.com/articles/hud-moves-to-shake-up-fair-housing-enforcement-1534161601

Page 36 of 36

Figure 20 summarizes the annual costs associated with strategic recommendations #1,
2, and 3 above, while Figure 21 highlights the relative impact these goals would have on
the city’s homeless population through 2023.

Figure 20 Strategic goals - Annual funding requirements

@ Cut Chronic Homelessness 50% by 2023
=== Tranform Shelters to Navigation Centers
=== Targeted Homeless Prevention Efforts

$14,000,000 $12,722,217
$12,000,000
$10,000,000
$7,834,768
$8,000,000
$6,000,000 $4,300,000 $5,060,900

$4,000,000 $4,994,899
1,515,536
$2,000,000 $1,456,400 $
$0 51,315,510
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Figure 21  Strategic goals - Associated annual outcomes
Annual Chronically Homeless Population
Annual Homeless Population
=== Nightly Homeless Count
2000
1614
% 1600 1378
=]
=]
=
© 1200
£
a 791
© 800 675
€
2 390
** 400 220
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
CONTACT PERSON

Peter Radu, Homeless Services Coordinator, HHCS, (510) 981-5435.

28



CENTERING RACIAL
EQUITY IN HOMELESS g
SYSTEM DESIGN

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN Fl

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS SYSTEM DESIGN ........uuueeieeeaeeieeeeeee ettt 3
aTa et [V ot Lo s USRS 3
Lo Tol (o]l o 10118 VAN [ e o Lot a AV Lo 1 VA K RSP PR 4
1Y =2 o Lo PRSI 4
Homeless PoOPpUlation DEMOGIAPRICS..........coc.eeevueeeieieiieeeet ettt ettt ettt e site ettt e s e et esine e bt enaaeeaneen 5
HOUSING ANA ECONOMUC INSECUITLY ..c..veveeeeeeeeee ettt e et e e ettt e et e e e ettt e e e s steaeesasesaeastsaaeasssseeassesaaantssaennseaessssenanans 8
HOMEIESS SYStEIM PEIFOIMQNCE ...ttt e e ettt e ettt e ettt e e e sttt e eesaea e e tseaaaassssaenasseasaassesansnsssasannseens 10
FOCUS GIOUPS «.oeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeteeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeaeeeeeeaeeaaeaaeaetaeetaaetaeaeeaeeeaeeeeeaeeeeeeeaeeeeeaaeaeesaeeaeeees 15
System Strateqies t0 AQVANCE EQUILY ......c...eueeeeueeeeeeiieeeeee et e sttt e sttt e e st e e e s stta e s s sabea e s s sasaaessssseaesssnsees 26
Opportunities to Increase Racial Equity in the Homeless Response System Model .............cccoccueeeveieeeeeciveesiineesaniennn 26
Inventory Recommendations Households With ONly AQUILS.............coeeeeeeeeceeieeeeeee e ectee e ctee et te e e st a e e saaaeesseeeas 28
Inventory Recommendations Households With Minor CRldIren .................cccveeeeeeieeeiieeeeeieeeeecieeeesceee e e e e esavaeesveeann 36
A =AY (=] o LN 43
Yo TN (<o Lo [=d 1 T=T o 1 SRS 44
Appendix A: Racial Equity Impact ANGlYSiS FOCUS GIOUPDS .........cccuueeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeesiieeeesiteaeesieraeesirsnasesisssaeessenas 46
[0 g a Lo e [e o] (] Loty SRS 46
Systems Modeling and Equity FOCUS Groups BACKGIOUNG .............cccuuveeeceeeeeiiieeeeiieeeecieeeesteeeeeetaaeeeisssaassseaasassaaeenses 47
FOCUS GIOUPD RECIUITIMENT ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt e ettt et et et e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aaeaeaaaaaees 48
Homelessness and Equity FOCUS Group QUESEIONNGIIE..........ccueecviesiueesiiiesisesiisesssesiisessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessses 49
System Modeling and Equity Focus Groups Moderator ROIE GNd TIPS .........cccuueeeeeuieeeeeiieeeiiieeeeciiieeeeieeessiaeessieaessnes 50
Focus Group Discussion Guide For People with Lived Expertise oOf HOMEIESSNESS........cccueeveeeveeeseeenieeiieesieesieeeeeeas 52
Racial Equity and Systems Modeling Focus Groups Notetaking ProtoCo! ............cccuoeecvueeevcieeeeeciiieeeiieeeesieeeesiiieessaanns 55
NOLEEAKING TEMPIALE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e ettt e at e et e e st e ettt e st e et e enaeeebeeeseeeanes 57
Appendix B: Method of Estimating Annual Homeless Population and Geographic Distribution...................... 63
Appendix C. Program Models for Households With Only AQUILS ............ccoeceeeeecceeeeeecieeeeeciee e eceea e 66
Appendix D: Program Models for Households with Minor CRildren ..............cccccueeeeecvieeeeciiieeeciieaeeccieaeeeven 77
Appendix E: CoC Sub-Geography Models, EQSt COUNTY ..........cceecceeeeeeeieeeeeiieeeeeiieeeesiieaeesieaaeesirsaaaesirssaeessenas 86
Appendix F: CoC Sub-Geography Models, Mid-COUNLY ............ccccueeeeeeieeeeeeiieeeescieeeesiiaeeesceraeesiaaaeesiaenaeesrenas 90
Appendix G: CoC Sub-Geography Models, NOrth COUNLY..........cccueeeeecieieeeieseeesieeeeeieeeesctaaeeseiaaeesreaaeesseeas 94
Appendix H: CoC Sub-Geography Models, OQKIANd..................cccueeeeeceiieeeiieeeeeee e eeciea e cea e e 98
Appendix I: CoC Sub-Geography Models, SOUth COUNLY ........cccccuveeeeeciiieeeiiiieeeciieeeecteeessieeeescteaaessieaaeeians 102
SOUICES .ottt ettt ettt e e e ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e s ettt e e e e e s ettt e e e e e e e snnnnee 106

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS SYSTEM DESIGN

Introduction

Between 2017 and 2019, homelessness sharply increased by 43% in Alameda County, California. Housing market

failures, homeless system challenges, and long-standing discrimination have produced a crisis in affordable housing and

homelessness, which has significantly impacted low-income people and communities of color. The surge in

homelessness and its disproportionate racial impacts, especially on African Americans and Native Americans, became

the impetus for a revamp of the homeless system modeling process to ensure that it is restructured to employ a racial

equity lens. With the goal of producing a homeless system that works better for all to end homelessness in Alameda

County, this system modeling process seeks to:

1) Identify and address factors leading to the over-representation of people of color in the population of people
experiencing homelessness.

2) Understand how facets of the homeless system benefit or burden people of color and pinpoint opportunities to
advance racial equity within the system.

3) Formulate key elements of a model homeless system, including optimal types and quantities of housing units and
service programs; and

4) Develop recommendations to more effectively and equitably allocate resources, prioritize investments, and advance
proactive, targeted strategies to end and prevent homelessness.

The homeless system model provides a blueprint for effectively
and equitably allocating resources and prioritizing investments

to end homelessness in Alameda County.

Process & Stakeholders

The racial equity and homeless response system modeling project was made possible in Alameda County by a Federal
technical assistance grant from the HUD Office of Special Needs Assistance Programs (SNAPS). Abt Associates, a HUD
technical assistance provider, facilitated the process and development of the model. EveryOne Home, the Continuum of
Care lead agency and collective impact backbone organization, convened the project under the leadership of three co-
chairs: Colleen Chawla, Director of the Alameda County Health Care Services Agency; Libby Schaaf, Mayor of the City of
Oakland; and Doug Biggs, Chair of the Continuum of Care Board.

The homeless system racial equity modeling process was collaboratively implemented over eight months. The timeline
was shaped by the intention to use the system modeling and racial equity impact analysis recommendations to structure
the Measure W tax measure on the November 2020 Alameda County ballot. Between October 2019 to May 2020,
partners in responding to homelessness—elected officials, civil servants, local government agencies, service providers,
philanthropic organizations, stakeholders, and people with lived expertise of homelessness—worked together to design
a model system to end homelessness in Alameda County.

At the start of the project, a Leadership Committee was formed to consider the models’ implications and viability across
sectors and jurisdictions. This committee included a broad range of key stakeholders. Elected and civil servant
representatives from the county and nine of the 14 cities and unincorporated areas countywide participated in the
committee, including: Alameda County, and the cities of Alameda, Albany, Berkeley, Emeryville, Fremont, Hayward,

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 3



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Livermore, Oakland, and San Leandro. The Leadership Committee was integral in advocating for formulating the
problem of homelessness and its potential solutions through a racial equity lens. This request to focus on racial equity
transformed the models. Infusing racial equity in the system model’s approach to resource allocation is both an
innovation in homeless system planning and a fundamental requirement for ending homelessness. The Leadership
Committee regularly convened (in October 2019; January, February, and May 2020) to provide feedback into the system
modeling process.

A Racial Equity Impact Analysis Team was established to develop and apply a racial equity lens in the system modeling
efforts. The team included county, city, and homeless community stakeholders who worked closely and collaboratively
over seven months (November 2019 to May 2020). Homeless system modeling involved two additional working
groups—one focused on households with only adults and another on households with minor children. Participants in the
Working Groups included community-based service providers as

well as city and county departments involved in homeless housing,
Infusing racial equity in the system model’s

approach to resource allocation is both an
innovation in homeless system planning

support services, and adjacent systems (education, re-entry,
transition-aged youth, seniors/older adults, victims of domestic
violence/human trafficking, and health care). Informed by Point in
Time Count results on the homeless population, Homeless
Management Information System (HMIS) data on service delivery,
provider knowledge about service populations, and existing and
potential service delivery models, the Working Groups developed
program models, assembled combinations of programs (pathways) needed to end and prevent homelessness, and
determined the proportion of the homeless population that would be best served through each pathway with a keen
eye on ensuring racial equity in outcomes.

and a fundamental requirement for ending
homelessness.

Racial Equity Impact Analysis

Method

Racial Equity Impact Analysis (REIA) is a data-driven, structured problem-solving approach that explores the systemic
benefits and burdens on communities most impacted by racial disparities when designing and vetting potential solutions
to ending and preventing homelessness. This requires:

=  Focusing intentionally on race, including raising awareness of historical factors that advantage some and
disadvantage others based on race.

= Using disparity data to center further investigation of root causes of disparities in the present time.

= Engaging people who have been impacted by disparities to challenge assumptions about their experience.

= Using quantitative and qualitative information to shape pro-equity programs and inventory recommendations to
reduce racial disparities in outcomes.

= |mplementing system-wide pro-equity programs and approaches to reduce racial disparities in outcomes.

= Ongoing evaluation and accountability through the development of equity performance measures to track
progress.

The REIA framework used in this project was developed by the City of Oakland’s Office of Race and Equity. More
information can be found in Appendix A.

The 2019 EveryOne Counts! Report and Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) are the data sources used in
discussions of population demographics and homeless system performance, respectively.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 4



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL F

The REIA recognizes that system planning efforts often leave out the perspectives of people who are most impacted by
system decisions. For this reason, the REIA team aimed to elevate the voices of people with current or former
experiences of homelessness, specifically those over-represented racial groups in the homeless population. The focus
groups also sought out the voices of unsheltered people living in encampments, homeless immigrants, young adults,
seniors, and households with minor children.

Convening the focus groups was only possible with the help of community-based organizations in Hayward, Livermore,
and Oakland, including:

? . . INTERTRIBAL P
( FRIENDSHIP H

ST.MARY'S CENTER OOT )] Ookiand. ca o

N _Jgemmunity Urban Rez Est, 1955 ek

U
L ) A
% SOUTH HAYWARD PARISH \ ]BJ—\(./LS

). () Open Heart Kitchen
NNAS

ALLIN3.
ﬁ‘ the new war on poverty
A

Homeless Population Demographics

Each year, it is estimated that 15,786 people in 13,135 households experience homelessness in Alameda County. The
2019 Point in Time Count (PIT) provides the basis for extrapolating these annual numbers. See Appendix B for detail on
the method used to derive estimates. The 2019 Point in Time Count shows that people experiencing homelessness in
Alameda County tend to be from Alameda County, with 78% residing in Alameda County before becoming homeless.
Men make up 61% of people experiencing homelessness, 35% identify as women, two percent identify as transgender,
and two percent as gender non-binary. Seventy-three percent of people experiencing homelessness were between 25
and 59 years, with 14% aged 60 years or older, and nine percent aged 18 to 24 years. Four percent of people
experiencing homelessness are younger than 18 years of age.

Households with only adults make up 91.4% of all households experiencing homelessness, an estimated 12,005
households each year. This proportion includes the estimated number of households with only adults who receive
services in the domestic violence system and never receive services from the mainstream homeless response system.
Ninety-five percent of households with only adults have only one member.

Households with minor children make up 7.5% of all households experiencing homelessness, an estimated 985
households each year. This proportion includes the estimated number of households with minor children who receive
services in the domestic violence system and those who never receive services from the mainstream homeless response
system. On average, households with minor children have three members.

Households with only minor children make up 1.1% of all households experiencing homelessness, an estimated 144
households each year. Runaway youth is one example of a household with only minor children. On average, households
with only minor children have one member.

Figure 1 shows the distribution of people and households experiencing homelessness across the 14 cities and
unincorporated areas of Alameda County. Homelessness is concentrated in Oakland, followed by mid-County (Alameda,
Hayward, San Leandro, Unincorporated) and North County (Albany, Berkeley, Emeryville) and then the Tri-City (Fremont,
Newark, Union City) and Tri-Valley (Dublin, Livermore, Pleasanton) areas.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 5



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Estimated People

Estimated Households

Households

Annual Estimates and Geographic Distribution of People & Households Experiencing Homelessness in Alameda County
Households

Households

Experiencing Experiencing with Only with Minor with Only
Geographic Regions in Alameda County Homelessness Annually Homelessness Annually Adults Children Children
Mid-County (Alameda, Hayward, San Leandro, Unincorporated) 2,920 2,430 2,221 182 27
North County (Albany, Berkeley, Emeryville) 2,605 2,167 1,981 163 24
Oakland 8,004 6,659 6,087 499 73
Tri-City (Fremont, Newark, Union City) 1,579 1,313 1,201 99 14
Tri-Valley (Dublin, Livermore, Pleasanton) 679 565 516 42

Total 15,786 13,135 12,005 985 144

Figure 1: Annual Estimates and Geographic Distribution of People and Households Experiencing Homelessness in Alameda County

Subpopulations

Although many homeless people have experienced domestic violence, households fleeing domestic violence make up a
relatively small proportion of the overall number of households experiencing homelessness each year. The precise
number of households fleeing domestic violence is unknown. The working groups, which included domestic violence
victim service providers, decided to develop models inclusive of these households’ needs rather than create separate
models for victims fleeing domestic violence.

Veterans make up an estimated 6% of all households experiencing homelessness in a year; the majority are households
with only adults. The community decided to develop the models to be inclusive of these households’ needs, recognizing
that there are resources dedicated to serving homeless veterans.

Homeless Transition Aged Youth aged 18 to 24 (TAY) make up 6.7% of all people experiencing homelessness. TAY is an
important subpopulation with dedicated shelter and housing inventory set aside to meet young people’s unique needs.
The model for households with only adults includes specific pathways for TAY. TAY service providers participated in the
working groups, the Racial Equity Impact Analysis (REIA) included a focus group with members of the Youth Advisory
Board, and two formerly homeless TAY participated in the Leadership Committee. However, the community decided not
to create a specialized model for youth. Instead, the Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care (CoC)
intends to undertake a youth-focused modeling process that includes extensive youth representation.

Households experiencing chronic homelessness—defined as homeless for a year or longer with one or more disabling
conditions—make up 46% of all homeless households. HMIS data shows that roughly 49% of households with only
adults and 25% of households with minor children meet the definition of chronic homelessness. The model for
households with minor children includes a surge strategy to quickly address all households experiencing chronic
homelessness with 246 Permanent Supportive Housing units. The model for households with only adults does not
include a surge because there are thousands of chronically homeless households with only adults. For this reason, the
models for households with only adults are designed to effectively serve a significant proportion of households with
disabilities and long durations of homelessness.

Racial Disparities in the Homeless Population

While homelessness is widespread in Alameda County, it disproportionately impacts people of color. The 2019 Point in
Time count shows that people of color make up more than 2 out of 3 people (or 69%) experiencing homelessness in
Alameda County.! The racial groups most disproportionately affected are people identifying as Black or African
American, collectively referred to as Black people in this report, and American Indian or Alaska Native, collectively
referred to as Native American people in this report. Black people account for 47% of the homeless population,
compared to 11% of the general population in Alameda County.? Native Americans make up four percent of the

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 6



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

homeless population, compared with one percent of county residents. Black and Native Americans appear in the
homeless population at a rate four times higher than in the general county population.

Racial Distribution of Alameda County's General Population
Compared With Alameda County's Homeless Population (2019)

60% :
50%

50% 47%
40%
32% 31% E
30%
22%
0 17%
20% o 14% ’
0
10%
o 2 Z :

African American Indian or Asian Multiracial Native Hawaiian or White I Hispanic/Latinx
American/Black Alaska Native Pacific Islander '
B Alameda County General Population B Homeless Population

Figure 2: Racial and Ethnic Distribution of Alameda County's General Population Compared with Alameda County's Homeless Population, 2019

Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders and Multiracial people are also disproportionately affected. Meanwhile, Whites (who
account for 31% of the homeless population, compared to 50% of the county population), Hispanic/Latinx (17% of
homeless vs. 22% of county residents), and Asians (two percent of homeless vs. 32% of county residents) are under-
represented in the homeless population.

Structural Racism

The over-representation of people of color among those experiencing homelessness reflects structural racism across
multiple systems.® While Black people comprise 47% of the homeless population in Alameda County, they make up 22%
of people living in poverty. Native Americans account for four percent of people experiencing homelessness but one
percent of people in poverty. This suggests that, beyond income and poverty, racism and systemic inequities are key
factors producing disparate homeless outcomes.

Racial inequities in homelessness are deeply rooted in a “history of exclusion and dispossession, centered on race, and
driven by the logic of capitalism” — which “established massive inequities in who owned land, who had access to
financing, and who held political power.”* Racial exclusion began with the colonization of Native Americans and
dispossession of their lands, resulting in land conquest by Spanish, Mexican, and early U.S. settlers and governments.
Land theft, genocide, forced assimilation, and relocation of Native Americans have led to historical trauma and deep
distrust of government institutions — which has lasting impacts on current experiences of homelessness and resistance
to government assistance.

Racial exclusion later took the form of discriminatory housing policies, such as racial redlining. Beginning in the 1930s,
the Federal Home Owners Loan Corporation developed color-coded maps that used racial criteria to appraise the
“residential security” of neighborhoods for real estate investment. The red sections of the map represented the lowest
level of “residential security” and, therefore, the highest risk. Banks and insurers adopted these maps to guide their
lending and underwriting decisions. Residential security maps produced racial discrimination by rationalizing social

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 7



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

disinvestment from these neighborhoods. Many redlined areas still align with racial/ethnic minority communities that
struggle with disinvestment, high and persistent poverty, and racial segregation. Housing instability—barriers to
affordable, healthy housing—and homelessness co-occur in these places and communities.

Persistence of Neighborhood Poverty by Census Tract,
Home Owners Loan Corporation Map, Alameda County, 1970-2010
Oakland-Berkeley-Northern Alameda County, 1937

T T T T LY
~ e IDENTIA ITY WA
R\

~LEGEND -

Persistent Poverty Group

"

() = |
R e S W Ve

 FEEEE
Figure 3: Home Owners Loan Corporation Map, Oakland-Berkeley-Northern Alameda County, 1937
Figure 4: Persistence of Neighborhood Poverty by Census Tract, Alameda County, 1970-2010

‘Sourte: CAPE, with data from Geckytics Nelghbarhood Change Databass, 1970.1950, Consus 2001; and Amencan Com maunity Survey 2013 5.year Hes.

The redlining example raised awareness of how racism is mediated through historical and contemporary structures that
include housing policies, banking systems, government institutions, and social practices. This awareness, in turn,
highlighted the need for a definition of structural racism. The REIA used the Aspen Institute’s definition of structural
racism:

STRUCTURAL RACISM is a system in which public policies, institutional practices, cultural representations, and
other norms work in various, often reinforcing ways to perpetuate racial group inequity. It identifies dimensions
of our history and culture that have allowed privileges associated with ‘whiteness’ and disadvantages associated
with ‘color’ to endure and adapt over time. Structural racism is not something that a few people or institutions
choose to practice. Instead it has been a feature of the social, economic and political systems in which we all
exist.—Aspen Institute

This definition points to how systems, including the homeless system of care and other social safety net systems,
reproduce racial discrimination. Many of the conclusions and recommendations in this report reflect the workings of
structural racism through mutually reinforcing systems. Creating equitable outcomes will require transformations in
legal, education, workforce development, and social welfare systems, among others. At this moment, partners in the
homeless continuum of care are bringing an intentional focus on the workings of structural racism in the homeless
system of care and changing the way the CoC does business to achieve equitable outcomes. It will not be sufficient to
focus exclusively on the homeless continuum of care. Rather, it provides a starting place for willing and engaged
partners to take up the challenge.

Housing and Economic Insecurity

Homelessness increased by 43% in Alameda County between 2017 and 2019. This increase took place in the context of
population growth and a tight housing market. Beginning in 2010, Alameda County saw a 10.7% increase in its
population® and a 48% decrease in rental vacancies.® The growing population and low vacancies have rapidly increased
the cost of housing.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 8



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

As housing costs skyrocket, low-income residents struggle to find affordable housing. The diminishing supply of
affordable housing in Alameda County is a result of decades-long retrenchment in affordable housing development.
From 2008-2018, Alameda County lost 80% of federal and state funding for affordable housing production and
preservation.” In addition, NIMBYism (or “not in my backyard” resistance) of existing homeowners and restrictive local
zoning ordinances have thwarted the development of low-income, affordable housing, especially multi-family housing
units. Loopholes in inclusionary zoning ordinances have also permitted developers to pay fees to avoid requirements to
set aside a proportion of their housing developments as affordable for low- and very-low-income households. As a
result, it is very difficult to obtain and maintain affordable housing without subsidies.

The rise in housing and rental costs has far Fair Market Rents & Income Needed to Afford Housing Costs
outpaced increases in household income. Income Needed Income Needed
From 2000 to 2015, the median rent in (2020 FMR) for Housing Costs | for Housing Costs
Alameda County increased 29%, while median at 30% of Income [ _at 50% of Income
renter household income increased only three Studio 51,488 54,960 52,976
percent (adjusting for inflation).2 Figure 5 lists One bedroom $1,808 $6,027 $3,616
monthly fair market rents (FMR) set by HUD for Two bedroom $2,239 $7,463 $4,478
rental housing in Alameda County, compared Three bedroom $3,042 $10,140 $6,084
with the monthly income needed for housing to Four bedroom $3,720 $12,400 $7,440

be affordable at 30-50% of income. Figure 5: Fair Market Rents & Income Needed to Afford Housing Costs

The minimum wage in Alameda County ranges from $13.50/hour to $16.50/hour. At these rates, gross income for full-
time minimum wage employment falls between $2,335/month and $2,854/month. So, a family of three with the head of
household earning minimum wage is severely cost-burdened. Households that depend on public benefits or Social
Security have much lower incomes. In Alameda

County, 71% of extremely low income (ELI) Monthly Public Benefit & Social Security Income

on housing costs compared to just two percent

£ oderate.t N holds 13 Alameda County GA $336/month maximum?
OT moderate-income nouseholds.

$878-5983/month maximum
for family of three®®

Homeless households have extremely low Social Security Disability $1,258/month national average!
incomes and often rely on public benefits, Social

Security, or minimum wage employment. During
federal fiscal year (FFY) 2019, 25% of adults in
the homeless system had no income, and 49% had incomes between $1 and $1,000 when they enrolled in homeless
services.* Almost three out of four adults entering the homeless system earn $1,000 or less per month. This means the
majority of people experiencing homelessness cannot afford fair market-rate housing.

CalWORKs/TANF

Social Security Retirement $1,503/month national average!?

Figure 6: Monthly Public Benefits and Social Security Income, 2020

Disaggregating monthly cash income by race and ethnicity shows some racial variations in income among adults entering
the homeless response system (program start). The highest proportions with low monthly incomes of $1,000 or less
were reported among Multiracial (60%), Black (57%), and Native Americans (57%). Native Americans reported the
greatest percentage of adults (13%), earning no income at the program start. Further exploration is warranted to
understand better how factors such as age, disability, and employment shape income differences by race.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 9



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Monthly Cash Income at Program Start

0,
60% 51% 53% |
48% |
50% 44% 43% r44%
1
40% 34% i
1
30% !
1
1
o, 17% 1
20% 5, 15% 3% .. % 2% 12% 3% | 0w 7
0% 11% 9% ° ° % 9% 1 0, 1%
10% 8% 6% 1 I &% ° 7% ] e
[ L allin slnan Sl I%I‘ 1]
0% [ l |
American African Asian Multiracial Native White Hispanic/Latinx
Indian/Alaskan American/Black Hawaiian/Pacific
Native Islander

mSO mS$1-S1,000 mS$1,001-$1,500 $1,501-$2,000 mS$2,001+
Figure 7: Monthly Cash Income of Adults at Program Start by Race and Ethnicity, Federal Fiscal Year 2019

Homeless System Performance

The following sections will explore homeless response system performance as a whole and disaggregated by race and
ethnicity in each of the following areas: inflow, access to homeless system resources, permanent housing outflow,
returns to homelessness, length of time homeless, and coordinated entry.

High and Racially Disproportionate Inflow into the Homeless System
Homelessness surged in Alameda County between 2017 and 2019 due to
high inflow rates into the homeless system (people entering the homeless
response system for the first time) and low rates of outflow (people exiting
homelessness to permanent housing). During FFY 2019, a total of 3,622
people accessed homeless response system programs for the first time.® w w w 7‘\ T
This was a 61% increase in first-time homelessness over FFY 2018,

exceeding the targeted upper limit of 2,500 persons entering homelessness

that was set in the EveryOne Home 2018 Strategic Plan Update.

In2019:

Nearly 3 people For every 1 person
became homeless who became housed

Disaggregating the first-time homeless data by race shows that the flow of people into homelessness is racially
disproportionate. In FFY 2019, Black and Native Americans entered the homeless system at five times their
representation in the general county population. Black people made up 58% of people entering the homeless system for
the first time, compared with 11% of the general population in Alameda County. Native Americans comprised 5%
compared with one percent of the county population.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 10


https://everyonehome.org/about/the-plan/

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Racial and Ethnic Distribution of People Entering the Homeless System for

the First Time
70%
60%
50%

58%
50%

40% 32%
30% 24% 229%
17%
20% 11% .
0% 19 % 3% 5% 6% 1% 2% .
African American Indian Asian Multiracial Native Hawaiian White Hispanic/Latinx
American/Black or Alaska Native or Pacific
Islander
B Alameda County General Population B Homeless Population

Figure 8: Racial and Ethnic Distribution of People Entering the Homeless System for the First Time, Federal Fiscal Year 2019

Access and Outflow to Permanent Housing Does Not Vary by Race

While inflow into homelessness is racially disproportionate, administrative data from the Homeless Management
Information System (HMIS) shows that access to homeless system programs is roughly proportionate to the racial
breakdown of the homeless Point in Time (PIT) count. People who identify as Black or African American access homeless
response system programs at higher rates than their proportion of the population. Rates of access among Native
Americans, Asian, and Native Hawaiian are equivalent to their population demographics. People who identify as
Multiracial or White access homeless programs at lower rates than their proportion in the PIT population measures.
Reasons for the variation among Black, Multiracial, and White participants in homeless programs may stem from the
concentration of homeless-serving programs in Oakland and Berkeley, where according to PIT data, a greater proportion
of the homeless population is Black; 70% in Oakland and 56% in Berkeley. The next step in data analysis should include
further disaggregating participation and outcomes by geographic region.

System-Wide Access and Permanent Housing Outcomes by Race and

Ethnicity
(FFY 2019)

? 47% |

50% !

40% !
30% 25%24% | .
20% 14% ' 17%16%18%

0, 0, 8% 9% 1
10% 4% 4% 4% 2% 2% 2% B 2% 2% 2% ! . . l

0% I = . — — — - - — — — !

African American Indian Asian Multiracial  Native Hawaiian White Hispanic Latinx
American Black Alaska Native Pacific Islander

M Point In Time Count M System Access M System PH Exits

Figure 9: System-Wide Access and Permanent Housing Outcomes by Race and Ethnicity, Federal Fiscal Year 2019

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 1



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

The rate of exits to permanent housing lags far behind the inflow into the homeless system. In FFY 2019, a total of 1,344
persons exited the homeless response system to permanent housing destinations.'® This was a two percent increase

over FFY 2018, but still far behind the goal in the EveryOne Home 2018 Strategic Plan Update of 2,000 persons exiting to
permanent housing. In 2019, nearly three people became homeless for every person who obtained permanent housing.

While exits to permanent housing are fewer than needed, the rates at which homeless people achieve positive housing
outcomes from the homeless response system does not vary by race.” Black people make up 56% of the homeless
response system participants and 58% of the exits to permanent housing. Native Americans make up four percent of the
homeless response system and four percent of exits to permanent housing.

Reviewing access to and permanent housing outcomes from specific programs reveals a similar picture, with access and
permanent housing outcomes remaining nearly equivalent. Transitional Housing numbers show higher participation
rates for Black people and lower rates for White people. One reason for this may be because most Transitional Housing
programs are located in Oakland, where Black people make up a much higher proportion of the homeless population
(70%) as compared with the homeless response system overall (47%).

Access to & Permanent Housing Outcomes from Individual Program Types
by Race/Ethnicity: Alameda County, FFY 2019

Access and Permanent Housing Outcomes African American American Indian Native Hawaiian Hispanic
by Race and Ethnicity (FFY2019) Black Alaska Native Asian Multi-Racial Pacific Islander  White Latinx
Point in Time Count 47% 4% 2% 14% 2% 31% 17%
System Access 56% 4% 2% 8% 2% 26% 16%
L PH Exits 58% 4% 2% 9% 2% 24% 18%
Emergency Shelter Access 59% 4% 2% 7% 2% 24% 16%
gency PH exits 57% 5% 3% 9% 2% 23% 16%
- ) Access 69% 3% 1% 8% 1% 17% 18%
Transitional Housing -
PH exits 68% 3% 1% 9% 1% 17% 20%
Rapid Re-Housin Access 60% 5% 3% 7% 3% 21% 20%
P & PH Exits 59% 5% 3% 6% 3% 23% 20%
) ) Access 53% 3% 3% 9% 1% 30% 16%
Permanent Supportive Housing -
PH exits 53% 4% 3% 10% 1% 29% 18%

Figure 10: Access to and Permanent Housing Outcomes from Individual Program Types by Race and Ethnicity, Federal Fiscal Year 2019

Disproportionate Returns to Homelessness Among Black Americans, Native Americans, & Native Hawaiians/Pacific
Islanders

In FFY 2019, the rate of returns to homelessness was 18%, with 312 persons returning to homelessness within two years
of leaving the homeless response system for permanent housing destinations.'® Disaggregating the data by race shows
that Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander and Black people have the highest return rates to homelessness, at 23% and 21%,
respectively.’ Native Americans and Multiracial people are in the middle, each with a rate of return at 17%, followed by
Whites at 14%, Hispanic/Latinx at 13%, and Asians at seven percent. It should be noted that some groups have a small
sample size, including Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders (n = 40) and Asians (n = 72).

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 12



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Rate of Return to Homelessness by Race and Ethnicity (FFY 2019)

Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander (n=40) I 23%
African American/Black (n=1,251) GGG 1%
American Indian or Alaska Native (n=63) I 17%
Multiracial (n=225) I 17%
White (n=445) I 4%
Asian (n=72) I 7%

Hispanic/Latinx (n=369) GGG 13%

Figure 11: Rate of Return to Homelessness by Race/Ethnicity, Federal Fiscal Year 2019

The prior living situation of people returning to homelessness from permanent housing shows that a significant number
of people who return to homelessness were last living in unsubsidized rental housing. This is the most frequent prior
living situation for returns overall and the top prior living situation for Black, Asian, Multiracial, and White people. For
Hispanic/Latinx people, unsubsidized rental housing is tied with staying or living with family as the most frequent prior
living situation. For Native Americans, the most frequent prior situation is staying or living with family. Native
Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders who returned to homelessness most frequently had lived in rental housing situations with a
Rapid Re-Housing subsidy or another ongoing housing subsidy. The prior living situations of people who return to
homelessness reflect the barriers to housing stability that formerly homeless people confront in the rental housing
market. The high rate of returns from family points to the strength and strain of family networks that may be similarly
vulnerable. Together, this analysis informs the homeless response system model’s emphasis on ongoing forms of
support linked to household income in the form of shallow and deep subsidies. These types of supports will help
economically vulnerable homeless households retain permanent housing. The analysis also points to the need for
changes beyond the boundaries of the homeless response system, including housing and economic policy changes that
will make housing sustainable for the lowest income households.

Coordinated Entry

Coordinated entry is the front door and central organizing feature of the homeless response system. The purpose of
coordinated entry is to organize “the Continuum of Care’s (CoC) system of care so that it fits together intentionally and
efficiently, resulting in more efficient use of resources and improve fairness and ease of access to resources, including
mainstream resources while prioritizing people who are most in need of assistance.”? In the Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda
County Continuum of Care, coordinated entry occurs through the standardized processes of access, triage, housing
problem solving, assessment, prioritization, and matching to resources. A custom prioritization tool identifies those
“most in need” based on a combination of factors, including household size and composition, length of time homeless,
health, income, housing barriers that include rental and homeownership history, law enforcement, and risk. A weighted
scoring framework assigns point values to these barriers and vulnerability factors, with the highest scores indicating the
most vulnerable households. These households are prioritized for the limited resources available in the homeless
response system.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 13



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Prioritization determines access to housing resources. As such, it is both appropriate and necessary that prioritization
works fairly across racial and ethnic groups. There have been local and national concerns over the October 2019 study
by C4 Innovations that found racial disparities in the outcomes produced by a prioritization tool called the VI SPDAT,
which many communities use in the U.S.? Prioritization data in Alameda County does not show racial disparities. At
present, the custom prioritization tool used in the Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care is producing
outcomes proportionate to the population by race.

As an example, the proportion in the top five percent of the countywide By Name List (BNL) of prioritized households
and the proportion on the BNL generally are within four percentage points. This is important because the top five
percent of the BNL is most likely to get matched to housing resources. At the same time, the overall BNL includes
anyone who is literally homeless. Native Americans, as well as Multiracial people, are represented at slightly higher rates
(two to four percent) in the top five percent of the BNL as compared with BNL generally. People identifying as African
American or Black, Asian, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, White, or Hispanic/Latinx appear in the top five percent of
the BNL at slightly lower rates than on the list generally (one to two percent). The representation of each group in the
2019 PIT Count and in HMIS gives two additional population measures as a comparison. The 2019 annual evaluation of
coordinated entry explores the prioritization tool in greater detail and is available on the System Coordination
Committee page of the EveryOne Home website (www.everyonehome.org).

American Indian African American . Native Hawaiian . . . Hispanic

Alaska Native Black Asian Pacific Islander Muilti-Racial White LaI:inx
% on BNL (4/15/2020) 2% 57% 2% 2% 6% 26% 15%
Top 5% of BNL (4/15/2020) 4% 55% 1% 1% 10% 27% 14%
All HMIS FFY2019 4% 56% 2% 2% 8% 26% 16%
2019 PIT 4% 47% 2% 2% 14% 31% 15%

Figure 12: By Name List (BLN) of prioritized households

It is essential that the homeless response system fairly and transparently allocate resources. This is even more true
because the number of homeless households far exceeds the available inventory. During 2019, the homeless response
system saw roughly 350 Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) vacancies. Of those, 221 were existing units turned over,
and slightly more than 125 units were added to the system. In Rapid Re-Housing (RRH) during 2019, of the 1,595
households served, 787 moved into housing. During that same period, there were as many as 9,000 homeless
households in need of permanent housing. Together, the current level of permanent housing resources (PSH+RRH) in
the homeless response system is enough to reach between 10-13% of the households on the prioritized BNL.

The purpose of coordinated entry is to quickly fill housing vacancies with an eligible and highly vulnerable household;
too few vacancies is a significant barrier to an effective coordinated entry system. In the current homeless response
system, most households will not be matched to housing resources or support services because there are not enough
beds and units available. In 2020, EveryOne Home’s System Coordination Committee (the Coordinated Entry Policy
Entity) worked with the Alameda County Office of Homeless Care and Coordination (the Coordinated Entry Management
Entity) to right-size the prioritization process to the inventory of resources. At the same time, the Racial Equity Impact
Analysis and system modeling provide clear direction on the types of interventions and scale of resources required to
end homelessness in Alameda County.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 14


http://www.everyonehome.org/

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Focus Groups

Methodology

Nine 90-minute focus groups were conducted in English and one in Spanish, with facilitators who shared the
participants’ racial/ethnic backgrounds. Focus groups followed a semi-structured interview guide (see Appendix A) with
guestions about the root causes of homelessness, barriers to obtaining housing, and homelessness prevention, crisis and
interim services, housing barriers, types of housing interventions, and returns to homelessness. Several notetakers
attended each focus group and used a standardized template to record the conversation, then collated their notes
afterward to increase accuracy and collect verbatim quotes. Notetakers also provided observations and insights into key
messages, tone, and dynamics within each focus group.

A total of 57 people shared their lived experiences to inform homeless system modeling. Focus group sites were
selected to ensure representative participation across race, age, household composition, geographic regions, and
sheltered, unsheltered, and formerly homeless perspectives. Participants were recruited by staff at these sites. See
Appendix A for the numbers and demographics of participants by race/ethnicity, gender, age, and homelessness status.
Participants were invited to speak openly about their lives, experience of homelessness, and interactions with homeless
programs, services, and systems. Participants received a meal and were compensated for their time.

A sub-group of the REIA Team conducted a qualitative analysis by reading through detailed notes and using qualitative
analysis software (Dedoose) to code participant quotes into themes. Reliability was increased through a standardized
“codebook” that defined themes that researchers discussed and refined throughout the analysis. Key themes that
emerged were integrated into findings and recommendations.

It is important to note some methodological limitations of the focus groups.?? Recruitment through existing relationships
can lead to selection and convenience biases. To capture the breadth and diversity of experiences within and across
racial and ethnic groups, more focus groups would have been needed. Some participants may have felt uncomfortable
voicing negative perspectives about homeless programs, services, and systems, particularly if groups were located at
sites where participants receive services. Qualitative analysis was also subject to researcher bias.

To reduce these biases, staff from the host organizations were absent from all or most of the focus groups. Participants
were assured of confidentiality (their names would not be used in reporting). Some staff reported that multiple contacts
while recruiting helped increase trust with participants. Analytic biases were mitigated by involving a diverse group of
researchers who worked together to code and extrapolate findings.

Analysis of qualitative data from nine focus groups deepened understanding of how structural racism plays out across
multiple systems and intersects with lived experiences of homelessness. The following themes emerged from the focus
groups, including stories of resourcefulness and resilience to prevent and overcome homelessness and cope with
structural barriers.

Mass Incarceration

Focus group participants described how incarceration impacted their ability to find and keep housing. While
incarceration is a barrier to housing and employment for anyone who has been to prison, the well-documented mass
incarceration of Black, Latinx, and other people of color means that incarceration is a barrier to housing
disproportionately impacting people of color.?®

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 15



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

I’d been in jail for 20 years. The only way | got in [to housing] was the subsidy | got through [this program]. They
had to pay double in security deposit. It made it really hard because they hold mistakes against you. I’'m kind of
stuck where I’'m at because | know it will be a problem if | need to go anywhere else even though | have
completely changed.

— Participant 24, Black man, aged 50-64

I spent 20 years in prison. Incarceration led me to become unhoused.
— Participant 53, Asian man, aged 40-49

I can’t find a place [to live]. I’'m an ex-felon. I've been out 30 years, but I’m still a felon.
— Participant 20, White man, aged 65+

Health

Research on the social determinants of health shows that the places where people live, work, and go to school impact
their health. Awareness of the social determinants of health is particularly important in light of the history of redlining in
the United States, which segregated Black, Native American, and other people of color and divested those
neighborhoods of economic, educational, and social opportunity. Many participants in the racial equity focus groups
described growing up in communities marked by this divestment in Oakland and broadly in Alameda County. Places with
fewer opportunities are also places with poor health outcomes. Not surprisingly, poor health was a root cause of
homelessness for many people in the racial equity focus groups.

| first became homeless when | was 59. | had a bad heart attack and couldn’t work. | had savings, then the money
ran out and | had no place to go.
—Participant 29, Black man, aged 50-64

I loved my job; | was there about 10 years... | needed back surgery, so | thought I’d have surgery and be fine, go
back to work. That wasn’t the case. | was out for a year. And | tried to go back to work even though | wasn’t
feeling good. | had my own place and worked 6 days a week. Anyway, long story, after that | went into
depression, the worker’s comp thing because in my mind | knew | couldn’t keep my own place.

—Participant 45, White woman, aged 50-64

I learned of an illness | had from childhood that affected me. It was not my fault and it started when | was 13. |
got a live-in caregiver job and when she died | had nowhere to go. | was couch surfing and there was housing
with rats and roaches.

—Participant 25, Black woman, aged 65+

I had a stroke and they told me | wouldn’t be able to talk or walk anymore... Since | had the stroke, | have not
been able to return to work.
—Participant 39, Latino man, aged 50-64

Likewise, poor health is a consequence of homelessness that impacts communities of color over-represented in the
homeless population. Across the focus groups, participants described physical health challenges, including heart
conditions, back problems, joint problems, and emotional and behavioral health challenges like depression, bipolar
disorder, stress, anxiety, trauma, and Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), and substance use disorders. As both a
cause or consequence of homelessness, this analysis identified poor health as a structural outcome of inequality that
disproportionately impacts Black Americans, Native Americans, and other communities of color.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 16



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Education

Several participants recounted how education outcomes and housing instability are interconnected. Participants talked
about the ways housing instability made it difficult to take advantage of educational opportunities, which created
another barrier to employment and housing. Once again, the history of redlining is instructive in understanding the
structural divestment of educational opportunities from communities of color and the reverberation of that divestment
in the current homelessness crisis.

I was trying to go to school but also needed to find housing, so | went to transitional housing. | dropped out of
school and [am] trying to work full time and find housing.
—Participant 1, Black man, aged 18-24

| went to Oakland Tech. Before that | was going to really good schools but got kicked out because of altercations
and was being rebellious because my life was terrible. I’'m the black sheep of the family so | didn’t get too much
support with that. In Oakland Tech | was smart as hell and was able to pass just going for two days and coming
back a week later. But | wasn’t able to graduate because of so many incompletes.

—Participant 2, Multiracial man, aged 25-39

I’m battling really tough depression. It’s hard to concentrate on school with everything else that’s going on.
—Participant 46, Latino man, aged 40-49

I didn’t go to school, | didn’t learn work, | am not able to pay rent because | don’t work.
—Participant 44, Latino man, aged 50-64

These narratives show how housing instability and economic necessity present barriers to finishing school, which
becomes a barrier to income and housing.

Immigration
Homeless Hispanic/Latinx participants talked about multiple stressors they experience, including fear of deportation,
barriers to accessing help, distance from family, grief for lost family members, and discrimination.

I lost three members of my family—my mom, my grandma, and my brother. Then | lost my wife. Life is hard and
it’s hard being an immigrant. Being alone and far away from family.
—Participant 40, Latino man, aged 40-49

Latinos . . .[they] look at us like trash. They don’t allow our backpacks. There are stereotypes specifically for
Latinos.
—Participant 43, Latina man, aged 50-64

The Latin community...cannot truly stand up for themselves. They pick on the Latin community because they
[Latinx] cannot go to the law enforcement. It’s hard for everyone but especially females. Latin community stays
within themselves.

—Participant 31, Latino man, aged 50-64

Many people are afraid of being deported for even trying to get services.
—Participant 44, Latino man, aged 50-64

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 17



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

In these narratives, participants describe how immigration status, distance from family, and the stigmatized stereotypes
of being Latinx in U.S. American society present additional impediments to housing stability and returning to housing.

Inability to Increase Income

Structural racism creates barriers to employment and increasing income. Frequently barriers and adverse impacts
carried over from one system to another, such that poor health and disabilities, mass incarceration, barriers to
education, and immigration status combined to limit the focus group participants’ ability to work, earn sufficient wages,
and secure higher-paying jobs. Examples include:

I’m on SSI. Rent is $1,500 a month, and | only get $900.
—Participant 24, Black man, aged 50-64

Even if you have an income [it’s hard to pay rent]. Like | have SSI plus I’'m working as a crossing guard. Both of
those incomes together won’t do it.
—Participant 47, Multiracial woman, aged 50-64

Our income is not high enough. I’'m working and my son is working too, but our income has got to be higher.
—Participant 12, Native American woman, aged 50-64

How do you get your income that high, though? What are you supposed to do to make it go higher?
—Participant 18, Latino man, aged 50-64

Within the context of structural racism, homeless participants described their ongoing struggles to earn enough to pay
for housing, transportation, and other basic living costs. Many described trade-offs; needing to choose between paying
for housing, food, or transportation:

Like everything is so expensive, not just rent. Just necessities and other things. It’s hard to save and have money
to pay your rent, utilities, and food.
—Participant 7, Native American woman, aged 18-24

If  am going to pay rent, | can’t eat or buy gas. It’s hard. On 52,000 you can’t make it. You need 53,500 because
rent is 51,800 or more. You need to work three jobs and sell peanuts on your lunch break.
—Participant 14, Black man, aged 50-64

Often poverty is represented as a key feature and cause of homelessness. Importantly, the focus group showed that low
incomes for many homeless households are inextricable from structural racism.

Displacement

A 2018 report from California Housing Partnership and UC Berkeley Urban Displacement Project show how the rapid
increase in housing costs between 2010 and 2015 forced lower-income households of color out of cities and into more
affordable suburban areas with fewer support services.?* The report concluded that the result is an intensification of
racial segregation and disparities across the Bay Area. Focus group participants echoed these findings, describing the
pressure to leave the city or county to find affordable housing, including housing opportunities offered by the current
homeless response system. For many, displacement means leaving places where they grew up, had family, community,
and employment:

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 18



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

What we’re finding is that we’re going to have to leave the city and county to find an affordable place to
stay. And then I'll have to find a new job. And leave our home here.
—Participant 8, Native American woman, aged 25-39

I am still looking [for housing] and two years into it.... Antioch and other places are miles away. | built a life here
for myself and want to stay here. | want to be close to my son and grandsons. Nothing has come up in Oakland.
—Participant 30, Black woman, aged 65+

I was living in Oakland with my mom, but the rent got too high, so we moved to Stockton for two years. Lot of
people that are from the Bay Area that are all moving out there. But it’s nicer out here; | was born and raised in
Oakland.

—Participant 18, Latino man, aged 50-64

They lead us on and say we got the place. Wait for us to call back and they say you don’t got the place. You see
on Craigslist again for a higher price. Just seem like they want us to get out of here. Gentrification is happening.
They don’t want us here. They want us out.

—Participant 9, Native American man, aged 18-24

Through these voices and supporting research, it becomes clear that racialized displacement is produced through the
ostensibly race-neutral housing affordability pressures at work in Alameda County. For this reason, a significant finding
from the REIA focus groups is recognizing the discourse of affordability as structural racism.

Distressed Networks and Supports

For families already struggling against the impacts of structural racism, focus group participants described how familial
instability or the death of a family member resulted in homelessness. Several informants in the racial equity focus
groups experienced familial instability as children. Their perspective shows how the impacts of structural racism are
transmitted and compounded in the next generation.

I came from a broken home. When | was 8 my mom couldn’t take care of four kids by herself. We bounced
around shelters for years. For me, [homelessness is] based on lack of family supports.
—Participant 2, Black Male, aged 25-39

For me it’s like | was in foster care so | could do my AB12 for extended foster care, but | kinda messed that up
when | was 19. | had my apartment and it got hit by SWAT and | was in jail a little bit. My background and my
income [are barriers]. | really don’t know too many resources for people in my situation. | usually turn to
someone | know before | turn to something else.

—Participant 11, Multiracial woman, aged 18-24

Particularly in the Native American and Black focus groups, participants talked about their families’ cultural significance
in maintaining housing and well-being. Several Black participants described the loss of both housing and cultural
supports after the death of a parent or grandparent:

I first realized | was homeless when my mom and dad died when | was 40. One passed in July and one in August. |
was living with my mother and father. My sister sold the house and | see for sale sign on house. | couldn’t go
back there, so | started sleeping my car.

—Participant 26, Black Male, aged 65+

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 19



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

We are lost as African Americans — and people living in this country. We don’t value ourselves — the struggle and
hard work. When my grandma died, all the values she tried to instill in our family went out the window. She was
our Big Mama. That comes from a spiritual place — the things that bring peace and happiness — and all those

things you want for your life.
—Participant 35, Black woman, aged 25-39

My parents died and the rest of the siblings sold the house. | had always had a place with my mother. | was not
responsible enough to hold a job. | did the homeless thing real well. | learned how to be an addict and homeless.

—Participant 23, Black man, aged 65+

And even as participants described positive family relationships, few had family supports sufficient to end their

homelessness. These stories echo the findings of the Paul et al. study of homelessness in Oakland and reinforce research

findings on the racial wage and wealth gap.? Particularly in the Native American, Black, and Hispanic/Latinx focus
groups, participants shared the cultural significance of family in maintaining housing and well-being. Several Black

participants described the loss of both housing and cultural supports after a strong elder’s death. The result that the

impacts of structural racism are transmitted and compounded in the next generation. A significant finding of the equity

focus groups is that over time structural racism thins the familial resources and supports that may otherwise prevent

homelessness. The resulting losses are both material and cultural.

Barriers in the Housing Market

Despite the end of legal segregation and explicit housing discrimination, the deeply rooted association between race and

risk persists and influences access to housing, on what terms, and where.®®* While race-neutral at face value, credit

checks, income requirements, and background checks form barriers to the housing market that disproportionately affect

people of color and effectively produce housing discrimination.

| went to programs that paid first and last month rent. My credit score is bad so they don’t want to help you out.
Then they don’t want to let people come and inspect the place. It’s bad if you don’t have an average credit score

even if you have got money and job. Also, the application fees.
—Participant 14, Black man, aged 50-64

Like the applications they want bank statements, showing you have money saved. Some places they don’t want

you to leave stuff blank. | don’t have a bank account so | can’t put stuff there. Transportation and trying to get

places. Some places want you to drop it off at the property. | had to go to Berkeley once.
—Participant 10, Native American woman, aged 25-39

Money. And, we don’t have an address, we can’t keep our place of living to get notified, to have our ID sent to us.

It’s very hard even to have your mail.
—Participant 17, Black woman, aged 50-64

The applications you fill out for apartments are really intrusive. | don’t understand some questions. They want to

go so deep into your life. A lot of stuff you forget, and they want to go back 10 years ago. | don’t remember

where | lived 10 years ago. If you leave out anything, anything minor, they turn the application down. I fill them

out to the best of my knowledge, but it’s not enough.
—Participant 29, Black man, Aged 50-64

I filled out an application for housing in West Oakland. | guess it was one of those income/tax-based apartments.
I gave them everything, check stubs, proof of income. And they told me that I still don’t make enough. Then my

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

20



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

five-year old son has autism — my son just got approved for SSI. When you get it, bring it in. Took too long to get
started, passed me up.

—Participant 33, Black woman, aged 25-39

High rents period. Having to have five times the income. It’s hard for those with bad credit, or generations of bad
credit. There is nothing to build upon.
—Participant 8, Native American woman, aged 25-39

As the cost of housing has steadily increased, many landlords are seeking high incomes, strong credit, and a clean
criminal background. Stories emerged within and across homeless participants about how multiple barriers — such as
application fees, low incomes, poor credit, obtaining identification, and having a bank account— can converge and make
it extremely difficult to find housing. These barriers disproportionately impact homeless households of color.

Lack of Deeply Affordable Housing

The racial equity focus groups identified an important gap in the homeless system services: extremely low-income
households without ongoing support service needs. At present, the only deeply affordable permanent housing
opportunity in the homeless system is Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH), which requires an extended length of time
being homeless and a disability. Other deeply affordable housing may be reserved for seniors aged 62 and older.
Participants in the REIA focus groups described the absence of resources appropriate to their circumstances as
profoundly unresponsive.

What'’s frustrating to me is | don’t have a drug problem. I’'m just a mom with kids who has been in abusive
relationships. | remember the lady interviewing me saying I’ll score higher if | have a drug problem—I'd get right
in tonight.

—Participant 8, Native American woman, aged 25-39

When you’re homeless, the first thing they tell you is to call 211... We called 211. They kept saying to keep
calling. They wanted to do this whole screening process. Single people with kids need to be a priority. 211 was no
help whatsoever. The only way | got into [this program] was because of this one [211] operator—who said call
this other number, off the record, and they will be able to help you.

—Participant 33, Black woman, aged 25-39

All  want is a home that | can bring my grandkids to ((crying)). I’'m tired of having doors closed in my face. I've
been filling out applications every day. And then they say you can’t get in because you’re not 62. Or they’re
telling us it’s a lottery. I’'m tired. I’'m tired. I’'m done fighting. I’'ve been fighting to get off drugs, I’'m not fighting
anymore.

—Participant 47, Multiracial woman, aged 50-64

For these participants, not having a disability or support service needs became a barrier to accessing housing. Even focus
group participants who welcomed support services made clear the value of their privacy and autonomy. Many
participants viewed the service model offered in permanent supportive housing to be too intrusive:

I love having my own place, don't like too much intrusion unless I'm asking for it.
—Participant 26, Black man, aged 65+

A lot of people will feel good, getting some assistance and not [having support service providers] on our back...

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 21



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

People would feel good being independent.
—Participant 32, Latino man, aged 25-39

Further, participants framed autonomy as part of their cultural identity and an expression of resistance to past and
contemporary racial injustice:

We have a distaste for social services and government. The government rounded up my grandparents like cattle.
We panic because these are terrible places. It’s been happening for generations. Government scares us, because
of what they’ve done to us.

—Participant 13, Native American woman, aged 40-49

There are Latinos who are very proud and don’t seek out help because of pride. There is fear to grab services
because the president [“Obama”] is deporting. We know that when people get deported, they are killed there,
where they go back to. | have lost friends this way.

—Participant 43, Latino man, aged 50-64

Evaluating Current Homeless Housing Interventions and Services
Focus group participants shared their experiences accessing housing and services from the homeless system and
provided insight on how the system could be more responsive to their needs.

Crisis Response (shelter, safe parking, showers, bathrooms, meal programs, and street outreach)
Overall, participants were appreciative of the crisis response services available, especially:

Shelters were the main thing that supported me when | was younger.
—Participant 2, Multiracial man, aged 25-39

The [outreach] people that bring food, that really helps. They come out with resources, ponchos when it’s raining.
That really helps. Showers. Laundry.
—Participant 17, Black woman, aged 50-64

The people that bring food help. And outreach people do a good job. Showers and laundry are very helpful.
—Participant 21, White woman, aged 25-39

For my little family we live in an RV. We utilize the people that do the showers on Miller and E 15™. There are
some places that serve hot dinner, you just gotta stand in line. Or the food bank. Or just random people come by
and bring toiletries.

—Participant 8, Native American woman, aged 25-39

(What would be helpful?) Storage.
—Participant 47, Woman with Unknown Race/Ethnicity, aged 50-64; Participant 50, White Woman,
aged 50-64; and Participant 52, Black man, aged 40-49

Shelter 3 days a week for the homeless, that’s really, I'm grateful for it. Trinity has been closed for years. But to

have the opportunity to do laundry and showers 3 days a week; it’s really a benefit in my opinion.
—Participant 52, Black man, aged 40-49

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 22



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

At the same time, participants remarked how crisis responses, specifically shelter and transitional housing, have
programmatic barriers, including limited hours, restricting access to certain populations, and prohibiting visitors:

Sometimes they try to control your visitors and they put my daughter out. I’'m in transitional housing right now
and can have people come a couple times a year.
—Participant 26, Black man, aged 65+

That’s one thing | don’t like about here is they don’t let you have visitors.
—Participant 27, Black woman, aged 65+

Maybe Saint Vincent de Paul in downtown Oakland. They have clothes there and showers. SVDP also gave access
to computers and everything. | wish there was a lot of places like that, especially if it was 24 hours.
—Participant 4, Black woman, aged 18-24

A lot of them won’t really support the type of families we come from. A lot of us have adult kids and parents. We
are non-traditional families. This is the way our people were from the beginning. Our system doesn’t fit with the
government funds. We can’t go anywhere because he is a man not in this family anymore but he is my son and
he is family. And we are not going to split up, we are going to stick together.

—Participant 8, Native American woman, aged 25-39

In addition to these barriers, participants described negative experiences in shelters, including staff favoritism, conflicts
with staff and other occupants, and concerns about health and safety in shelters:

I would go back to my car before | put my kids inside a shelter. | didn’t want to have a newborn in a shelter — it
was filthy. There were so many beds in there. Why are they not filling these beds? What is going on? Do you
choose to pick who you put in there? It was just crazy. There are people out here, and you told me you did not
have any beds... Now I’'m seeing all the empty beds.

—Participant 33, Black woman, aged 25-39

There are rotten apples (staff) that are at some of the shelters.
—Participant 32, Latino man, aged 25-39

People get ripped off. People steal from you. The other night, somebody took my motorcycle helmet.
—Participant 31, Latino man, aged 50-64

You’ve got to stay in there and do everything perfect. You have to have a sponsor. You’ve got to get up real early.
The only thing good about a shelter is the roof and the bed.
—Participant 17, Black woman, aged 50-64

Rapid Re-Housing (RRH)

Participants in the focus groups thought Rapid Re-Housing is particularly well-suited for people who just need “some
help and some time,” or those who are in a position to “get back on their feet.” RRH relieves people from worrying
about rent for several months (it can “take off the stress”) and offers time to regroup, become more financially stable,
and/or look for permanent housing. This aspect of RRH resonated with many focus group participants:

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 23



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Something like this would do me good. I’'m a commercial truck driver. It would put me in a position that would
help me. | would not have to worry about rent for six months. | could get my back account, my necessities... |
would be able to regroup.

—Participant 31, Latino man, aged 50-64

| think it works for this reason: It will help you get into a place you couldn’t get on your income alone [while
homeless]. Even if all you have leftover is $500 dollars a month... Then you can establish you can pay the rent.
—Participant 13, Native American woman, aged 40-49

These kinds of programs work for people who are very motivated and have the wherewithal to get back on their
feet.
—Participant 35, Multiracial woman, aged 25-39

Other participants reflected that while RRH may work for some, it would not work for them. For those with limited ways
of increasing their income, short-term support like RRH was not appealing:

You gotta pack up again because it goes so quick. If | don’t have the benefits to move on and then I’'m in the
same spot, (homeless). My anxiety would kick in too. It would be hard.
—Participant 26, Black man, aged 65+

When | was younger and could get an income, but now | can’t... 20 years ago maybe, when | had different
energy. But now, | wouldn’t take that chance. If something didn’t pull through to make my housing affordable,
I’d have to pack up and start again. Pack up and go to a shelter.

—Participant 30, Black woman, aged 65+

So you’re in a place, and your job hasn’t elevated — then you’re homeless again. After that, what are you going to
do?
—Participant 14, Black man, aged 50-64

Back then it would been bad for me because | just needed somewhere to live. That’s what most people would do.
I would need something longer. Because there’s a lot of people where it’s a cycle that’s going to happen again.
—Participant 4, Black woman, aged 18-24

Rather than rejecting Rapid Re-Housing as an intervention, the focus group participants drew attention to the challenges
of using RRH effectively in a high-cost housing market. The participants point to a need to refine and target the use of
RRH to households who show potential for increasing their income and to provide a backstop for households in RRH
who realize they need ongoing financial or services support.

Permanent Supportive Housing

Focus group participants were enthusiastic about the long-term, deeply subsidized rent component of Permanent
Supportive Housing. The ongoing support service model received mixed reviews. Some welcomed support services—
particularly light touch services that helped them feel secure—while others described support services as intrusive.

It depends on what the support is. Some people need substance abuse support. Some people need health care
support. Some just need help going over finances and having their ducks lined up so they are making bills.
—Participant 13, Native American woman, aged 40-49

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 24



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

It will put me in a basic stable environment, compared to something temporary. It would help me work on my
long-term issues. Go back to the root.
—Participant 32, Latino man, aged 25-39

I need security and social services. Elders need someone in the building to make sure everything is okay. They got
a desk clerk and someone that walks the grounds at night to make sure they’re not abused.
—Participant 27, Black woman, aged 65+

I kinda need it (PSH) right now. | have my own apartment right now but after all the stuff I’ve been through. All
the trauma and times- I’'ve been hit by a car a couple of times. I’'m in a good place right now but have two
different forms of bipolar disorder. | think about how there are a lot of people housed without that type of
support. You have to support the mind and the physical.

—Participant 2, Multiracial man, aged 25-39

Dedicated Affordable Housing
Participants discussed how dedicated affordable housing was preferred to the other housing interventions because it
allowed them to pay rent and live independently from what was interpreted as required services:

I get $1000 a month and I’'m willing to put half of it down for housing. I’d jump all over this—let's do this.
—Participant 19, Latino man, aged 50-64

The idea sounds good, but what is the wait to get in to such a program that offers that kind of help? You could
get on a list and wait years. You could get on a list in 2020, but you don’t get in until 2024.
—Participant 14, Black man, aged 50-64

I think it would probably work in my situation. Yeah, because the other one had support and | don’t want people
all up in my household living.
—Participant 10, Native American woman, aged 18-24

A lot of people would feel good getting some assistance and not having people on our back. If one could feel free
to make decisions [about their housing]... People feel good being independent.
—Participant 32 Latino man, aged 25-39

Discussion

Participants in the focus groups repeatedly took personal responsibility for their homelessness, describing themselves as
lazy or irresponsible. Others described feeling worthless or ashamed. Yet looking across the narratives, structural
patterns emerge that reflect the ways that systems work in mutually reinforcing ways to produce the racial disparities in
the homeless population. Participants described structural barriers—in education, accumulated adverse health impacts,
mass incarceration, and generational poverty—that precipitated homelessness. Through this analysis, it became clear
that when structural racism is not pinpointed as a root of homelessness for Black, Native Americans, and people of color,
it is lived and systemically constructed as a personal failure.

The disproportionate number of people of color who are experiencing homelessness results from structural racism, with
origins in manifest destiny, slavery, redlining, mass incarceration, and displacement. The REIA focus groups highlighted a
lifetime of racial discrimination accumulated in the experiences of homeless Black, Native American, and other people of
color. These include experiences of mass incarceration, barriers to education, adverse health impacts, generational
poverty, and the loss of family and other networks of social and economic support.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 25



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Participants in the racial equity focus groups frequently described family and friends as providing economic and housing
stability during times of insecurity. At the same time, the cumulative impact of structural racism may thin or distress
these networks and make Black, Native American, and people of color vulnerable to homelessness.

The Bay Area’s housing crisis’s economic features are well documented: stagnant wages, particularly for the lowest-paid
workers in a high-cost, low vacancy housing market. The racial equity focus groups show that the impact of structural
racism in homeless people’s lives—mass incarceration, barriers to education, and adverse health impacts, to name a
few—makes it difficult to increase income.

The race equity focus groups heard that race-neutral housing application requirements form barriers to accessing
housing and how these requirements disproportionately impact Black and Native American people. These include, but
are not limited to, credit histories, bank account information, and extended residential histories.

The race equity focus groups affirmed the Point in Time count survey finding that homeless people have ties to the
communities where they experience homelessness. Many reported growing up or raising children in the communities
where they are now homeless. At the same time, the high cost of housing means that like many low-income households,
homeless housing programs increasingly cannot find affordable housing opportunities in Alameda County. This dynamic
disproportionately displaces Black, Native American, and other households of color from Alameda County.

A third of homeless households in Alameda County report no physical or mental health conditions, but nearly 75% have
monthly incomes less than one thousand dollars. While the link between homelessness and poor health is well
documented, it should not be equated with intensive ongoing support service needs. Participants in the racial equity
focus groups looked forward to living independently in housing they could afford, without intensive—or invasive—case
management.

The REIA found that the homeless response system does not have the interventions needed to permanently rehouse
people experiencing homelessness. Reducing disparities and improving outcomes for the racial and ethnic groups most
impacted by homelessness will require adding new types of programs to the homeless response system, increasing all
programs’ availability, and improving program design and delivery.

Opportunities to Increase Racial Equity in the Homeless Response System Model

e Increase the availability of homeless housing for people with extremely low incomes and high service needs.
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) is the only form of deeply subsidized housing available in the homeless
response system. Long lengths of time homeless and a disability are required to qualify for this type of housing,
which includes intensive, coordinated services. PSH works very well to help formerly homeless people with
disabilities and long histories of homelessness to obtain permanent housing and prevent returns to
homelessness. Because PSH works well, there are very few PSH units available each year. During FFY 2019, only
221 households exited PSH, a turnover rate of just 8%.2° There is not enough PSH to serve all extremely low-
income, disabled households experiencing chronic homelessness. For this reason, the modeling recommends
increasing the amount of PSH available in the homeless response system to accommodate 25% of households
with only adults and 10% of households with minor children.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 26



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

o Develop homeless housing opportunities for people with extremely low incomes and low ongoing service
needs. The REIA focus groups identified a gap in resources for extremely low-income households with low
ongoing support service needs. Structural racism has a significant economic impact due to histories of
incarceration, barriers to education, and employment discrimination, among other situations. Focus group
participants described a need for Dedicated Affordable Housing, a form of deeply subsidized housing for
homeless people that does not require a disability to qualify. The model anticipates that 28% of households with
only adults and 30% of households with minor children could end their homelessness with a deep housing
subsidy and limited support services.

o Develop subsidized housing models for people with low incomes. The REIA focus groups and provider input
reinforced research that shows a growing number of Alameda County households are barely making ends
meet.?” Focus group participants drew attention to the gap between what they can earn and high housing costs.
In response, the model creates Shallow Subsidies. Shallow rental subsidies provide a small amount of money to
bridge the gap between income and rent. The model anticipates 13% of households with only adults and 21% of
households with minor children could end their homelessness with a shallow subsidy.

e Create targeted homelessness prevention and rapid resolution resources. To respond to the intensifying,
racially disproportionate inflow of people into homelessness, the model recommends investment in prevention
resources targeted toward households most at risk of becoming homeless. Prevention resources include flexible
funds, which can be used for car repair, back rent or utility bills, or stabilizing an extended family unit to keep
one or more household members from becoming homeless. Flexible funds should not be restricted to one-time
only. Prevention also takes ongoing shallow subsidies to address the gap between a household’s earned income
and high housing costs. This approach recognizes persistent shortfalls in income for households living from
paycheck-to-paycheck and struggling to cover housing and basic living expenditures at their earned wage levels.
Targeted prevention should look for opportunities to stabilize the extended family unit or household, not just
the person(s) experiencing homelessness.

o Targeted use of temporary supports. Both the quantitative and qualitative components of the REIA made clear
that one-time or temporary supports may fall short of realizing long-term housing stability for the highest-need
households served in the homeless response system. These include households with long histories of
homelessness, high service needs, and extremely low-income households with limited opportunities to increase
income. This challenge is particularly acute for households of color due to racism in the employment sector and
accumulated structural barriers. At the same time, the homeless response system model affirms RRH as an
intervention that can be successful for as many as 13% of households. For this reason, the modeling
recommends targeting RRH to households that show potential to increase their income and extending the
timeline from six-to-nine months to 12 months. Additionally, the model plans for backstops that will help
households that try RRH only to realize they need ongoing financial or service supports.

e Create homeless housing opportunities throughout the county. REIA highlighted the acutely limited housing
options available in Alameda County for extremely low-income people. As a consequence, quantitative and
qualitative research demonstrate the mounting pressure on low-income people to find more affordable housing
elsewhere. The homeless response system must not participate in displacing low-income communities of color
from Alameda County. Creating homeless housing opportunities throughout Alameda County will allow
participants to choose to live in the communities where they work, have social support networks, and receive
services.

e Increase access by lowering programmatic barriers to participation in crisis services. The equity focus groups
highlighted the value and need for low-barrier crisis response services. These include supports for unsheltered

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 27



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

households such as safe parking, laundry, hygiene services, storage, and street outreach. Lowering barriers to
crisis response services also means taking a critical eye to restrictions, including but not limited to curfews,
storage, and food. Likewise, ensuring that programs can accommodate a variety of family units, including adult-
only households with multiple adults, such as parents and adult children, as well as partners and spouses.

e Increase Independence and Autonomy. Participants in the racial equity focus groups described wanting to live
in environments where they could access support and retain independence and privacy. This recognition
appears in the program models as an emphasis on voluntary support services provided by staff trained to
understand structural racism and provide anti-racist support.

e Improve Communication. The REIA showed that too often, participants receive inconsistent messages and
incorrect information. The homeless response system must communicate clearly and with one voice about
available resources, eligibility criteria, and the process for accessing resources.

Responding to homelessness as an outcome of structural racism will change how the homeless response system engages
homeless people from frontline services to management to executive decision making. The racial equity lens also
clarifies that ending homelessness will require social and structural changes beyond the boundaries of the homeless
response system. Even so, the homeless response system must seize this moment to implement the changes daylighted
through this analysis: naming structural racism, identifying the barriers that impact homeless people of color, and
implementing structural solutions.

Inventory Recommendations Households with Only Adults

The inventory recommendations for households with only adults are premised on the implementation of the REIA
recommendations. These recommendations include calibrating new and existing programs to the REIA-informed
program designs to reduce the barriers homeless people of color encounter in program policies and procedures. As well,
the resource pathways are proportioned to respond to the needs identified in the REIA. Resource pathways are designed
to ensure that the homeless response system has enough of the right resources to end homelessness for households
with only adults, and particularly Black and Native American households disproportionately represented in the homeless
adult population.

Homeless households with only adults include an estimated 91.4%, or 12,005 households, and are the majority of
people experiencing homelessness in Alameda County. Households with only adults are disproportionately Black (58%)
and Native American (three percent) as compared with the general population of Alameda County (11% Black, one
percent Native American).

The diagram below illustrates resource pathways designed to respond to the root causes of homelessness and barriers
to housing stability that the REIA identified. These resource pathways must be available in a high-performing homeless
response system to end homelessness for Black and Native American adults, who encounter the greatest barriers to
housing and disproportionately return to homelessness.

While some homeless households will stay in a Crisis Response Program—emergency shelters, safe havens, domestic
violence shelters, and transitional housing—before permanently becoming permanently housed, the homeless response
system in Alameda County expects to directly connect unsheltered homeless households to permanent housing without
a stay in a crisis response program. Participants in the REIA focus groups highlighted the positive benefits homeless
people experience from crisis services, including street outreach, mobile health clinics, laundry, showers, and meal
programs. The dashed lines represent pathways for unsheltered households, and the solid lines represent pathways for

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 28



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

sheltered households. The model presumes that roughly 10% of households with only adults will either “self-resolve”
their homelessness by finding resources in their personal networks to end their homelessness, or the system will lose
touch with them.

Permanent Housing—Market Rate,

. Adequate . Limited . Extremely Limited
Inventory Inventory Inventory Family & Friends, Affordable Housing

—— sheltered path ! pathway

SELF-RESOLVERS ﬁ

‘ 2 | [ Hp/RAPID
—#{ |RESOLUTION
SLOTS

(Eh) | RAPID
” | REHOUSING
JsLoTs

and/

or h

A //’\ ( Eﬁ SHALLOW
12,008 < R nlil / suBsiDy

Households

experiencing
sheltered or

unsheltered

homelessness

TRANSITIONAL
HOUSING BEDS
FOR YOUTH

DEDICATED
AFFORDABLE
HOUSING

p PSH-

m SENIOR

UNITS

Figure 13: Resource Pathways for Households with Only Adults

The resource pathways for households with only adults are inclusive of the needs of households fleeing domestic
violence and chronically homeless households. Transition Aged Youth and Seniors have unique pathways.
Transition Aged Youth (TAY) aged 18-24 make up 12% of households with only adults in Alameda County. The
community decided to address the needs of TAY within the system and program models generally until it is possible to
do an intensive youth-focused modeling process with extensive participation from young adults aged 18-24. In the
model for households with only adults, TAY will be served in the following ways:
e Homelessness Prevention/Rapid Resolution programs provide an ongoing income-contingent, long-term subsidy
to people with jobs who need a subsidy to afford rent.
e Transitional Housing for Youth programs are specialized to serve young adults for 12 months in transitional
housing and then through an ongoing shallow subsidy linked to the recipient’s income.
e RRH programs will serve TAY who can increase their income to afford rent with an 18-month rental subsidy. This
pathway presumes that TAY may find shared housing situations and/or increase their income so they can
assume the full rent at the end of the subsidy period. A small percent of TAY households in RRH will need a
Permanent Supportive Housing backstop because of more intensive service needs.

Seniors and adults aged 55 and older make up about 30% of households with only adults. The model anticipates that
seniors will be served in the following ways:

e Dedicated Affordable Housing is responsive to older adults living independently on fixed incomes. Seniors will
access Dedicated Affordable Housing from sheltered and unsheltered homeless living situations.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 29



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

e PSH for Seniors is a more service-intensive version of PSH for formerly homeless adults who can no longer live
independently. Because the homeless and the formerly homeless population is aging, the models presume 10%
of households with only adults will need a higher level of care offered by PSH for Seniors.

Households with Only Adults: Leveling Up

Bringing the REIA-informed resource model to fruition involves “leveling up” the current system, which means reshaping
the current homeless response system to match the REIA-informed system model. To do this, the community must add
capacity in the areas where the system is under-resourced. Currently, the homeless response system has the greatest
capacity in its Crisis Response interventions. This is not to say that the system has all the residential Crisis Response
resources it will ever need to end homelessness. Instead, it is to say that bringing all the homeless response system
resources into proportion with the existing amount of residential Crisis Response resources will generate flow through
the system and enable the existing Crisis Response resources to function better. Indeed, at the writing of this report in
August 2020, the average length of stay in a shelter is 171 days. To reach model performance level, the system must
build up the permanent housing resources and homelessness prevention interventions to match the current level of
residential Crisis Response capacity. Doing so will enable the residential Crisis Response resources to function at a higher
level, serving four households each year for a 90-day average length of stay.

Importantly, the REIA showed that the homeless response system does not have homeless prevention and permanent
housing interventions that work for the disproportionately Black and Native American households experiencing
homelessness. Leveling up the under-resourced parts of the homeless response system by creating programs tailored to
the root causes of homelessness among Black and Native Americans is designed to create more equitable outcomes.
Leveling up the current system to realize a more effective and equitable system represents the beginning of ongoing
work:
e Adding capacity in alignment with the REIA-informed inventory recommendations in the system model.
e Re-calibrating programs to the equity standards in the program models.
e Ongoing evaluation to ensure that the remodeled homeless response system is producing more equitable
outcomes.
e Continuous improvement of the program and inventory models to respond to racial and ethnic disparities as
they are identified.

The Level Up Calculator for households with Only Adults shows the type of resources and the number of units needed to
align the homeless response system with the number of Crisis Response units currently available in the system. Crisis
Response includes emergency shelters, transitional housing (excluding youth TH), safe-havens, and domestic violence
shelters. Safe parking is not included because a systemwide count of inventory as not taken place.

All inventory in the Level Up Calculator is represented in units that correspond with the maximum number of
households that can be served at a time. For permanent supportive housing, PSH for Seniors, Dedicated Affordable
Housing, and Shallow Subsidy, the 2020 inventory in the Level Up Calculator is the number of units—new or as
turnover—expected to be available over a year. The “level up cost” applies cost estimates generated by a working group
of funders and providers. Aligning the homeless response system to meet adult-only households’ needs will cost an
estimated $211 million (rounded).

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 30



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FIN

Level Up Calculator: Households with Only Adults
What type and amount of capacity and investment is needed to maximize exisiting resources and balance the system inventory?
i . . How close is the
|deal Ratio to 2020 Inventory Additional Units current system to
Crisis Response | (available units) | Ideal # Units Needed Level up cost | theidealratio?
Homeless Prevention and Rapid Resolution 25% 53 339 286 $5,152,500 16%
Crisis Response (ES, TH, SH) 100% 1,357 1,357 0 $0 100%
Transitional Housing for Youth 17% 103 226 123 $4,495 583 46%
Rapid Re-Housing (RRH) 183% 278 2,488 2,210 | 349,168,792 11%
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) 133% 321 1,809 1,488 | $37,654,833 18%
PSH for Seniors 83% 0 1,131 1,131 | $33,925,000 0%
Dedicated Affordable Housing 233% 0 3,166 3,166 | $65,543,100 0%
Shallow Subsidy 108% 0 1,470 1,470 | 314,700,833 0%
Total 2,112 11,987 9,875 | $210,640,642 18%

Figure 14: Level Up Calculator for Households with Only Adults

The 2020 HIC provides a pre-COVID-19 point-in-time snapshot of the system inventory. At the writing of this report, the
COVID-19 pandemic has necessitated decompressing congregate Crisis Response residences. Nonetheless, an Annual
Performance Report of these crisis shelter programs shows that as of July 29, 2020, the number of households with only
adults being served in crisis shelter programs has increased from 1,357 capacity reported in the HIC to 1,515
households. The above recommendations can be considered conservative, considering this expansion in shelter
occupancy.

Households with Only Adults: Scaling Up

Once the homeless response system is proportionately aligned with the model, it can be brought to a scale capable of
addressing the population needs of homeless households with only adults. The below chart shows the package of
homeless prevention, crisis shelter, and permanent housing resources needed to serve each additional 100 homeless
households with only adults.

The resource package describes interconnections between homelessness prevention, crisis shelter, and permanent
housing resources. New resources cannot be added as modular components. An equitable and effective homelessness
response requires planners, funders, providers, and elected leaders to develop a coherent and proportionate system of
interrelated pathways. Permanent housing resources must accompany investments in crisis response for the system to
achieve flow and perform at a higher, more equitable level.

Some of the inventory will serve multiple households. For example, each unit of emergency shelter will serve four
households each year for three months each, for a combined total of 48 households annually. Because some households
will use more than one, the interventions will not total 100. Cost estimates are estimated by a working group of funders
and include funders’ and subcontractors’ administrative costs. Multi-year estimates include a three percent cost of living
adjustment compounded year after year.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 31



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

100

HOUSEHOLDS WITH ADULTS ONLY
NEED IN A YEAR

CRISIS RESPONSE PERMANENT HOUSING UNITS OR VOUCHERS
SERVING SEVERAL HOUSEHOLDS A YEAR WITH SERVICES AS NEEDED

[ HP/RAPID RESOLUTION :@ 22 RAPID {\ /} 2 8 DEDICATED
= $4,500 per HH T REHOUSING AFFORDABLE HOUSING

$22,250 $20,700

bl Sl
alr 13 SHALLOW SUBSIDY
12 EMERGENCY SHELTER + 16 PSH Anla $10,000
$25,550 $25,300

/4-\?‘L 2 TRANSITIONALHOUSING FOR YOUTH V23 PSH-SENIOR

w $36,500 lon] 10 $30,000
Many single adult households are unsheltered and A few single adult households are able to exit to permanent housing
are served through street outreach and hygiene with minimal support from the homeless system

responses while they are homeless.

COST PER 100 HOUSEHOLDS
$2,337,500 in the First Year

COST TO MAINTAIN HOUSING FOR
HOUSEHOLDS IN PERMANENT HOUSING
$6,083,207 over Next 4 Years

Figure 15: What 100 Households with Adults Only Need in a Year

The modeling workbook allows the community to adjust three variables: inflow into homelessness, returns to
homelessness, and level of investment. The variables can be adjusted to match the current situation or project the
impact of changes in these variables. Because of these inputs, the modeling workbooks are dynamic and powerful tools
for planning. At the same time, it is important to notice that even as the community process worked to build the REIA
into the system model structures, the modeling workbooks alone are not enough to ensure racially equitable outcomes.
Ongoing evaluation and community accountability are required to fully implement the REIA recommendations
throughout the system, remove barriers, identify latent or emerging racial disparities, and course-correct. This is the
work ahead.

To illustrate the model’s utility as a planning tool, Figure 16 assumes that the more equitable and responsive homeless
system represented in the model will improve the rate of permanent housing retention, steadily reducing the 19% rate
of returns to homelessness by three percent each year to seven percent over five years. The inflow of households into
the homeless response system maintains at 20%, close to the inflow rate that Alameda County experienced between
2017 and 2019. Scenario 1 begins with a significant investment of $100 million in year one and then adds $S60 million in
year two, $50 million in year three, $30 million in year four, and $250,000 in year five. The total combined cost of
Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Figure 16 is $1.1 billion.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 32



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Scenario 1 Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Returning from Previous Year 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Total New Investment (cumulative) $100,000,000 | $160,000,000 | $210,000,000 | $240,000,000 | $240,250,000
Annual HH in the System 12,005 14,925 16,218 15,765 14,926 14,742
Annual Exits 4,442 7,773 11,308 13,447 14,731 14,741
Annual Remaining 7,563 7,152 4,909 2,318 195 0
Unmet Need 63% 48% 30% 15% 1% 0%

Figure 16: Scenario 1, Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Using the variables in Figure 16, the models show an increase in homelessness in year two at 16,218 households with
only adults. Unmet need steadily declines year after year until reaching functional zero, no unmet need, in year five.
Figure 17 describes the additional units needed each year in Scenario 1. Some of these resources will serve multiple
homeless households that year, such as Homeless Prevention and Rapid Resolution, Crisis Response, and Transitional
Housing for Youth. Other resources are likely to serve only one household, including Permanent Supportive Housing,
PSH for Seniors, Dedicated Affordable Housing, and Shallow Subsidies.

Scenario 1 Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention / Rapid Resolution 194 260 318 368 373
Crisis Response (ES, TH, SH) 997 1,335 1,633 1,890 1,915
Transitional Housing for Youth 155 208 255 295 298
Rapid Re-Housing (RRH) 1,672 2,237 2,736 3,166 3,208
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) 1,244 1,665 2037 2357 2,388
PSH for Seniorg| 777 1,041 1,273 1,473 1,492
Dedicated Affordable Housing 2,176 2,914 3,565 4124 4178
Shallow Subsidy 1,010 1,353 1,655 1,915 1,939

Figure 17: Scenario 1, Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

There is good reason to think that an infusion of significant, new investment in alignment with the REIA-informed
program models and inventory recommendations can produce a more equitable and effective response to
homelessness. The model shows that the proportion of households that exit homelessness to permanent housing
(Annual Exits/Annual HH in the System) will increase from 37% to 100% in year five. The proportion of households
returning to homelessness will decrease. These outcomes—obtaining and retaining permanent housing—are directly
targeted to improve outcomes among homeless Black and Native Americans, who encounter structural barriers to
obtaining housing and return to homelessness at disproportionately high rates.

Yet even as the strategy in Scenario 1 supports a homeless response system that works better for the people it serves,
investment alone will not end homelessness. As showing in Figure 16, an extraordinary number of adults in Alameda
County, particularly Black and Native American adults, will continue to experience homelessness because of the high
inflow rate. Inflow will not abate without addressing structural racism, economic inequality, and housing shortages that
drive homelessness in Alameda County.

Scenario 2 provides a point of comparison. Figure 18 uses the same rate of return and inflow rate as in Scenario 1,
assuming that retention will quickly improve, reducing by three percent each year to seven percent returning in the fifth
year. Scenario 2 also assumes that inflow into homelessness will remain both steady and high at 20%. Finally, Scenario 2
adds $50 million of new investment each year. The combined cost of Leveling Up and Scaling up is $956 million over five
years.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 33



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Scenario 2 Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Returning from Previous Year 18% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Total New Investment (cumulative) $50,000,000 | $100,000,000 | $150,000,000 | $200,000,000 | $250,000,000
Annual HH in the System 12,005 14,925 17,617 20,240 21,326 22,336
Annual Exits 4,442 6,107 7773 11,308 13,447 15,586
Annual Remaining 7,563 8,818 9,844 8,932 7,879 6,749
Unmet Need 63% 59% 56% 44% 37% 30%

Figure 18: Scenario 2, Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 shows a homeless response system that is gradually improving. Unmet need, the proportion of all households
that remain homeless from one year to the next (Annual Remaining/Annual HH in the System) declines from 63% to 30%
over five years. The proportion of households that obtain permanent housing increases to 70% in year five, and housing

retention improves to seven percent.

Nonetheless, the number of households experiencing homelessness increases each year (Annual HH in the System)
reaches 22,336 homeless households with only adults in year five. This is an 86% increase over the total number of
households estimated to experience homelessness in 2020. In Scenario 2 the system does not reach functional zero, no
unmet need, in five years. Even as the homeless response system becomes more efficient, the high inflow rate and a
gradual investment strategy means that households are homeless longer and more people are homeless at a point in

time.
Scenario 2 Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention / Rapid Resolution 153 165 208 235 260
Crisis Response (ES, TH, SH) 784 846 1,069 1.207 1,336
Transitional Housing for Youth 122 132 167 168 208
Rapid Re-Housing (RRH) 1,313 1,416 1,792 2,023 2,239
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) 977 1.054 1,334 1.506 1,666
PSH-Seniors 611 659 834 941 1,042
Dedicated Affordable Housing 1.710 1,644 2,335 2,635 2,917
Shallow Subsidy 794 847 1,084 1,223 1,354

Figure 19: Scenario 2, Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

The side-by-side charts in Figure 20 represent the different impacts of Scenario 1 and Scenario 2 in the homeless
population: annual population (blue), exits from homelessness (red), and annual remaining homelessness (green). These
graphs show that significant investment early in the process and can quickly turn the curve. At the same time, both
scenarios indicate that thousands of adults will continue to experience homelessness each year, even after five years of
aggressive investment. These households are likely to be disproportionately people of color and, in particular, Black and
Native American people. Without addressing the factors driving homelessness—racism, economic inequality, and
housing shortfalls—homelessness will continue to harm an extraordinary number of adults in Alameda County.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 34



FINAL REPORT

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Scenario 1 Investment Impact Dashboard

Households with Only Adults Scenario 2 Investment Impact Dashboard

25,000 Households with Only Adults

25,000

20,000
20,000

15,000
15,000

10,000
10,000

/

5,000

/

2020 2021
——Annual HH in the System

5,000

2025 0
Annual Remaini

2020 2021
=—=Annual HH in the System

2022 2023

=——Annual Exits

2024
2022 2023

——Annual Exits

2024 2025

Annual Remaining

Figure 20: Investment Impact Comparison of Scenario 1 and Scenario 2 in Households with Only Adults

Households with Only Adults: Regional Models

Regional models that divide the estimated homeless population into the Continuum of Care’s sub-geographic areas
using the 2019 Point in Time Count can be found in the appendices. Both Scenario 1 and 2 are available for each of the
five CoC sub-geographic regions. These regional estimates make three important assumptions:

1. Household compositions and needs are relatively consistent across the CoC.
2. The inflow of people into homelessness is consistent across the CoC.
3. Rates of returns to homelessness are consistent across sub-geographic regions.

At the writing of this report, the CoC does not have baseline inventory data for each region. As a result, it is difficult to
provide accurate estimates of additional units needed in each region. The below table shows the additional permanent
housing inventory needed in Scenario 1, which reaches functional zero. The inventory needs are divided into the five
sub-geographic regions using the population distribution from the 2019 Point in Time Count.

Scenario 1 Total New Units Needed by Year 5 by Geography, Households with Only Adults
All CoC East County |Mid-County |North County |Oakland South County
PIT % by Geo. 100% 4.3% 18.5% 16.5% 50.7% 10.0%
PSH 7671 330 1419 1266 3889 767
PSH - Seniors 5292 228 979 873 2683 529
Dedicated Affordal 15,584 670 2883 2571 7901 1558
Shallow Subsidy 7,235 311 1338 1194 3668 723
| Total Units 35,781 1,539 6,619 5,904 18,141 3,578

Needed

Figure 21: Scenario 1, Total New Units Needed by Year 5 by Geography, Households with Only Adults

In the future, the Point in Time Count, HMIS, and additional data collection may provide a more detailed understanding
of regional similarities and differences in the characteristics and needs of homeless households in each community, the
inflow rates and returns to homelessness, and the crisis and housing resource inventories.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 35



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Inventory Recommendations Households with Minor Children

This report’s inventory recommendations for households with minor children provide a blueprint of the community’s
best thinking toward addressing the equity gaps in the homeless response system. Based on findings from the REIA, the
inventory recommendations allocate resources in ways designed to remove structural barriers and create opportunities
for homeless families with minor children, and in particular the Black and Native American households over-represented
in the homeless population.

Households with minor children make up 7.5% of all households experiencing homelessness, with an estimated 985
households with minor children experiencing homelessness each year in the Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County
Continuum of Care. Homeless families with minor children are disproportionately Black (55%) and Native American (5%)
as compared with the general population of Alameda County (11% and one percent respectively).

Figure 22 illustrates the resource pathways for families that the community designed to be responsive to the root causes
of homelessness and barriers to housing stability identified in the REIA. These resource pathways represent the
community’s best thinking about the resources needed to produce greater equity in a high functioning homeless
response system.

Permanent Housing—Market Rate,
Family & Friends, Affordable Housing

SELF-RESOLVERS 2

O
=Z° | HP/RAPID RESOLUTION SLOTS

E@ RAPID REHOUSING SLOTS

985 =
Households \ |

experiencing
homelessness
annually

SHALLOW
SUBSIDY

DEDICATED
@ AFFORDABLE
\ HOUSING

3 [I%T PSH
. Adequate . Limited ' Extremely Limited

Inventory Inventory Inventory

Figure 22: Resource Pathways for Households with Minor Children

The working group that focused on households with minor children began from the premise that the vast majority, if not
all homeless families with minor children, would use residential crisis response programs like shelter and transitional
housing if those programs are carefully calibrated to their needs. Details on the features of crisis response programs that
homeless families need can be found in Appendix D. Like the pathways for households with only adults, this set of
pathways assumes that 10% of households “self-resolve” their homelessness or lose contact with the system. The
pathway diagram shows that Shallow Subsidies, Dedicated Affordable Housing, and Permanent Supportive Housing are
the interventions that need the most significant investment.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 36



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Households with Minor Children: Leveling Up

Bringing the REIA-informed resource model to fruition involves two steps, including “leveling up” the current homeless
response system to align with the model and then “scaling up” the homeless response to serve the entire population of
families experiencing homelessness. Leveling up is reshaping the current system response to match the REIA-informed
model system for serving families with minor children. To do this, the CoC must add capacity in the areas where the
family system is under-resourced.

Currently, the systemic response to homeless families has the greatest capacity in its Crisis Response, followed closely by
Rapid Re-Housing. Crisis Response includes emergency shelter, transitional housing, and domestic violence shelters. The
system has a greater capacity in Crisis Response and RRH, but that does not mean that the family system has all the
Crisis Response or RRH resources it will ever need to end homelessness. Instead, it is to say that building up the
permanent housing and homeless prevention resources will create flow through the system and enable the existing
Crisis Response and RRH resources to function more efficiently. For example, adding PSH and Dedicated Affordable
Housing resources will provide a permanent housing backstop that is modeled for families with minor children in RRH.
The community anticipates that this backstop will reduce the number of families that return to homelessness from RRH.

Once again, the REIA showed that the homeless response system currently does not have the kinds of homelessness
prevention and permanent housing interventions that will work in the long term for homeless families that are
disproportionately Black, Native American, and other people of color. These include Short Term and Ongoing Homeless
Prevention and Rapid Resolution programs, Shallow Subsidies, and Dedicated Affordable Housing. Leveling up the
homeless response system by creating programs tailored to the root causes of homelessness among Black and Native
American families with minor children is expected to create more equitable outcomes. Adding inventory to the current
system to realize a more effective and equitable system is just the beginning, however. Ongoing work includes:

e Adding capacity in alignment with the REIA-informed inventory recommendations in the system model.

e Re-calibrating existing programs and developing new programs to meet the equity standards in the program

models.
e Measuring performance to verify the remodeled homeless response system produces equitable outcomes.

e Continuous improvement of the program and inventory models to respond to racial disparities and barriers as
they are identified.

The Level Up Calculator shows the types and quantity of units needed to bring the systemic response to homeless
families into alignment with the REIA informed model. All the numbers represent units or the maximum number of
households with minor children that can be served at a given time. The 2020 Inventory for Permanent Supportive
Housing (PSH), Dedicated Affordable Housing, and Shallow Subsidy are shown as the number of units—new or
turnover—expected to be available over a year.

The model for households with minor children includes a surge of 246 PSH units for homeless households with minor
children who have experienced long lengths of time homeless. The “Level up cost” column applies cost estimates for
each intervention type that were generated by a working group of funders and providers. Aligning the homeless
response system to meet the needs of homeless households with minor children, including a surge in Permanent
Supportive Housing, will cost an estimated $18 million (rounded).

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 37



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FIN

Level Up Calculator: Households with Minor Children

What type and amount of investment is needed to maximize exisiting resources and balance the system inventory?

Surge units |Total additional How close is the

Ideal Ratio to | 2020 Inventory units (level up + current system to

Crisis Response|(available units)| Ideal # Units |longstayers |(longstayers) Level up cost | the ideal ratio?

Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 14% 3 22 19 $336,273 14%
Crisis Response (ES and TH) 100% 159 159 0 30 100%
Rapid Re-Housing 68% 102 108 6 $142,602 94%
Permanent Supportive Housing 45% 61 72 246 258 $7,846,718 19%
Dedicated Affordable Housing 136% 0 217 0 217 $5,609,086 0%
Shallow Subsidy 182% 0 289 0 289 34,423,091 0%
Total Total Units 325 867 246 789 | $18,357,770 37%

Total HH served 650 723 246 605

Figure 23: Level Up Calculator for Households with Minor Children
At the writing of this report, the COVID-19 pandemic has necessitated decompressing congregate shelter and

transitional housing environments. Nonetheless, an Annual Performance Report of Crisis Response programs shows that
as of July 29, 2020, the number of households with minor children being served in shelters is 123, 36 households fewer
than the capacity of 159 reported in the 2020 HIC. There is good reason to think that current occupancy, even with
congregate decompression, is comparable to what is reported in the HIC. For one, the HIC includes all inventory, while
the APR reports occupancy. Occupancy may be lower than the decompressed inventory if, for example, a shelter slot
was unoccupied at the quarterly Point in Time count on July 29, 2020. The HIC includes domestic violence shelter
capacity, while the APR does not include domestic violence shelter occupancy. For these reasons, it is reasonable to
think that crisis response inventory for households with minor children during COVID-19 is comparable to pre-COVID-19
capacity and that the above recommendations remain accurate.

Households with Minor Children: Scaling Up
Once the homeless response system that serves homeless families with minor children is aligned with the model, it can
be brought to a scale capable of addressing the needs of all households with minor children. The below chart shows the

package of prevention, crisis shelter, and permanent housing resources needed to serve 100 households with minor
children.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 38




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

100
HOUSEHOLDS WITH ADULTS AND CHILDREN
NEED IN A YEAR

CRISIS RESPONSE PERMANENT HOUSING UNITS OR VOUCHERS
SERVING SEVERAL HOUSEHOLDS A YEAR WITH SERVICES AS NEEDED

_ﬁ/ 3 ::/slz%pxizis“ownon :@ 15 RAPID REHOUSING {\ﬁ/} 30 DEDICATED
= s a3 $22,250 AFFORDABLE
s HOUSING
$25,870

EMERGENCY SHELTER o
$25,550 + 1 0 PSH 4 SHALLOW SUBSIDY
$30,470 5 $15,300

A few single adult households are able to exit to permanent housing
with minimal support from the homeless system

COST PER 100 HOUSEHOLDS
$2,642,650 in the First Year

COST TO MAINTAIN HOUSING FOR
HOUSEHOLDS IN PERMANENT HOUSING
$7,294,505 over Next 4 Years

Figure 24: What 100 Households with Adults and Children Need in a Year

Importantly, homeless families need prevention, crisis response, and permanent housing resources that interconnect to
meet their needs and create pathways out of homelessness. Adding resources in ways that reinforce those pathways will
lead to a more effective and equitable homeless response. The 100-household package of resources describes the
interrelationship between homelessness prevention, crisis shelter, and permanent housing resources that homeless
families need. Planners and funders, the Continuum of Care, Alameda County, cities, and philanthropies must invest in
the combined package of resources to produce a coherent system that performs efficiently and equitably.

Some of the inventory will serve multiple households. For example, each emergency shelter slot will serve four
households each year for three months each, serving a total of 88 households annually. As well, some households will
use more than one intervention. For this reason, the chart does not add up to 100. Cost estimates are determined by a
working group of funders and service providers, describe the cost per household served, and include funders’ and
subcontractors’ administrative costs, operating costs, but exclude capital costs. The cost to maintain housing for
households in permanent housing over four years includes a three percent cost of living adjustment compounded year
after year.

The modeling workbooks are powerful tools for planning because they can be adjusted to reflect different rates of
inflow, returns, and investment. Still, it is critical to remember that even as the community process worked to build the
REIA into the system model structures, the modeling workbooks alone are not enough to ensure racially equitable
outcomes. Ongoing evaluation and community accountability are required to implement the REIA recommendations,
remove barriers, identify emerging racial disparities, and course-correct. This is the work that lies ahead.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 39



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Scenario 1 Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Returning from Previous Year 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Total New Investment (Cumulative) $13,000,000 | $21,000,000 | $26,000,000 | $28,000,000 | $29,000,000
Annual HH in the System 985 1,171 1,222 1,194 1,118 1,124
Annual Exits 364 618 823 1.012 1,088 1,125
Annual Remaining 621 592 399 182 30 (2)
Unmet Need 63% 47% 33% 15% 3% 0%

Figure 25: Scenario 1, Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

As an example, Figure 25 assumes inflow into the homeless system is realistically high, maintaining at 20%, close to the
22% inflow rate Alameda County experienced between 2017 and 2019. It also assumes that the modeled homeless
system is more equitable than the current system, resulting in an improved permanent housing retention rate. The rate
of returns steadily reduces by two percent each year from 12% to four percent over five years. Scenario 1 begins with a
significant investment of $13 million in year one and then adds $8 million in year two, $5 million in year three, $2 million
in year four, and $1 million in year five. The total combined cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up the response for
homeless households with minor children is $135 million (rounded) over five years.

Using the variables in Scenario 1, the CoC could see an increase in the annual number of homeless households with
minor children that peaks in year two at 1,222 households. Unmet need declines year after year, achieving functional
zero in five years. Figure 26 describes the additional Point in Time inventory needed each year according to the
investment strategy, inflow, and returns to homelessness defined in Scenario 1. Some of these resources will serve
multiple homeless families with minor children that year, such as homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution and Crisis
Response programs. Other resources are likely to serve only one household, including Permanent Supportive Housing,
Dedicated Affordable Housing, and Shallow Subsidies.

Scenario 1 Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 15 21 25 27 28
Crisis Response (ES, TH) 128 172 210 226 234
Rapid Re-Housing (RRH) 93 123 152 163 169
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) 62 82 101 109 113
Dedicated Affordable Housing 186 247 303 327 338
Shallow Subsidy 247 329 405 435 450

Figure 26: Scenario 1, Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Significant new investments in alignment with the REIA-informed program models and inventory recommendations are
likely to produce a more equitable and effective response to homelessness. The proportion of households that exit
homelessness to permanent housing (Annual Exits/Annual HH in the System) will increase from 37% to 100%. The
proportion of households returning to homelessness will gradually decrease. The number of families with minor children
who return to homelessness will decrease. Increasing the number of households that obtain and retain permanent
housing are key performance targets that are essential to improving outcomes for homeless Black and Native American
families, who encounter structural barriers to obtaining housing and return to homelessness at disproportionately high
rates.

Yet even as the homeless response system becomes more effective, the number of households with minor children
experiencing homelessness each year remains unacceptably high. The steady and elevated inflow rate into
homelessness disproportionately impacts Black and Native American households with minor children. Changing the

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 40



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

inflow rate depends upon addressing structural conditions—racism, economic inequality, and housing shortages—that
drive the intensification of homelessness across the CoC.

Changing the inputs in turn changes in the model changes the trajectory of homelessness. Scenarion 2 shown in Figure
27 reflects the same returns and inflow rates as Scenario 1. Scenario 2 changes the investment strategy to add $6 million

of new investment each year. The total combined cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 2 is $108 million

(rounded).

Scenario 2 Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Returning from Previous Year 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Total New Investment {Cumulative) $6,000,000 $12,000,000 | $18,000,000 | $24,000,000 | $30,000,000
Annual HH in the System 985 1,171 1,345 1,623 1,719 1,857
Annual Exits 364 482 599 723 950 1,177
Annual Remaining 621 689 746 800 769 680
Unmet Need 63% 59% 55% 53% 45% 37%

Figure 27: Scenario 2, Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

This scenario shows annual increases in the number of households with minor children that are homeless each year
(Annual HH in the System). In year five, 1,857 families experience homelessness. Unmet need or the proportion of all
households that remain homeless from one year to the next (Annual Remaining/Annual HH in the System) declines from
63% to 37%. Still, it continues to impact hundreds of families each year. In sum, families will remain homeless for longer,
and the number of homeless families will double in five years.

Scenario 2 Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 12 15 18 24 29
Crisis Response 100 125 150 198 245
Rapid Re-Housing (RRH) 72 90 108 142 177
Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) 48 60 72 95 118
Dedicated Affordable Housing 144 180 217 285 353
Shallow Subsidy 193 239 289 380 471

Figure 28: Scenario 2, Entire CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

The additional investment described in Scenario 2, if made in alignment with the REIA-informed program models and
inventory needs shown above, will result in a more effective homeless response over five years. Yet even as the
homeless response system becomes more effective in Scenario 2, the number of households with minor children that
experience homelessness each year remains high because of the rates of inflow and unmet need. Without significant
investment and addressing the root causes of homelessness—racism, economic inequality, and housing shortfalls—
homelessness will continue to harm an extraordinary number of households with minor children in Alameda County.

Figure 29 shows the impact of Scenario 1 and 2 side-by-side for comparison of the annual number of homeless
households with minor children (blue), the number of households that exit to permanent housing (red), and the number
of households with minor children that remain homeless from one year to the next (green). These graphs show that the
investment scenario matters. Significant investment early on can turn the curve of homelessness for households with
minor children.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 41



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FI

Both scenarios show that hundreds of families with minor children will continue to experience homelessness each year
in Alameda County. These are likely to be disproportionately households of color, specifically Black and Native American
households. Addressing the factors driving homelessness, namely structural racism, economic inequality, and housing
shortages, is intrinsic to ending family homelessness.

Scenario 2 Investment Impact Dashboard

Scenario 1 Investment Impact Dashboard Households with Minor Children

Households with Minor Children
2,000
2,000

1,800
1,800

1,600
1,600

1,400

1,200
1,000 /
800

1,400
1,200

1,000

800
o 600 /
400 / 400
200 200

0 0

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

——Annual HH in the System  =——Annual Exits Annual Remaining ===Annual HH in the System  ===Annual Exits Annual Remaining

Figure 29: Investment Impact Comparison of Scenario 1 and Scenario 2 in Households with Minor Children

Households with Minor Children: Regional Models

Regional models that divide the estimated homeless population into the Continuum of Care’s sub-geographic areas
using the 2019 Point in Time Count can be found in the appendices. Both Scenario 1 and 2 are available for each of the
five CoC sub-geographic regions. The regional estimates make three important assumptions:

1. Household compositions and needs are relatively consistent across the CoC.
2. The inflow rate into homelessness is consistent across the CoC.
3. Rates of returns to homelessness are consistent across sub-geographic regions.

At the writing of this report, the CoC does not have baseline inventory data for each region. As a result, it is difficult to
provide accurate estimates of the number of additional units needed in each region. The below table shows the total
additional units of permanent housing needed to serve households with minor children in Scenario 1, which reaches
functional zero. The inventory needs are divided into the five sub-geographic regions using the population distribution
from the 2019 Point in Time Count.

Scenario 1 Total New Units Needed by Year 5 by Geography, Households with Minor Children
All CoC East County |Mid-County |North County |Oakland South County
PIT % by Geo. 100% 4.3% 18.5% 16.5% 50.7% 10.0%
PSH 257 11 47 42 130 26
Dedicated Affordable Housing 1,285 55 238 212 652 129
Shallow Subsidy 1,712 74 317 282 868 171
Total Units Needed 3,254 140 602 537 1,650 325

Figure 30: Total New Units Needed bv Year 5 bv Geoaraphv. Households with Minor Children

In the future, the Point in Time Count, HMIS and additional data collection may provide a more detailed understanding

of the regional similarities and differences in the characteristics and needs of homeless households in each community,

the inflow rate and returns to homelessness, and the crisis and housing resource inventories.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

The work of developing a racially equitable and effective homeless response system is only beginning. Bringing racial
equity into the fabric of homeless system planning is a critical innovation. It will also take ongoing effort and
determination to put racial equity at the center of every aspect of the homeless system. As a starting place, the
Continuum of Care is committed to disaggregating performance outcomes by race. Consistently disaggregating
performance outcomes by race will help the CoC identify and respond to racial disparities and evaluate progress toward
a racially equitable system. Also, stakeholders can begin implementing the program model recommendations, deeply
informed by the Racial Equity Impact Analysis. The program models’ structures and practices can be developed into
policies, incorporated into contracts, and measured using the Results Based Accountability framework.

A high performing and racially equitable homeless system of care will require significantly more resources to address
service gaps. Stakeholders must develop coordinated funding strategies. These include creating a reliable funding source
to expand permanent supportive housing, shallow subsidies, and dedicated affordable housing. The Home Together
general sales tax ballot initiative that passed in November 2020, is a promising new revenue stream. The CoC, among
other concerned stakeholders, will need to work closely with the Alameda County government to ensure that the funds
are used in alignment with the inventory recommendations and program models developed through the REIA and
system modeling process.

Additionally, the community does not have a system-wide inventory of deeply affordable housing earmarked for
homeless households, though some of this type of housing exists. Adding Dedicated Affordable Housing to the HMIS and
filling those units through coordinated entry will provide a way of tracking the development of this housing type and
ensuring that vacancies are filled with another homeless household. Increasing the inventory of deeply affordable
housing will also require obtaining and developing new housing. Strategies for adding deeply affordable housing include
Low-income Housing Tax Credits and Community Land Trusts, among others.

The Racial Equity Impact Analysis focus groups can be resumed and expanded to capture insight into what works (and
doesn’t) for LGBTQI+ people and Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders, as an example of two perspectives not captured in
the first round of focus groups that was cut short by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Finally, the models are dynamic and can be adjusted annually as new information about the homeless population
becomes available, and as new resources are implemented. An annual process of updating the models will provide a
current gaps analysis and allow the CoC to track progress toward fully implementing the models. These measures should
be interpreted against racial equity performance outcomes, including but not limited to the racial and ethnic
composition of inflow and returns to homelessness.

The racially equitable and effective homeless response system that is the goal of this report is best understood as an
ongoing set of actions rather than a static structure. Making it a reality and keeping it going through intentional actions
is the most important kind of work. That work starts now.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 43



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

EveryOne Home authored this report on behalf of the Continuum of Care, with co-author support on the Racial Equity
Impact Analysis from Alameda County Public Health Department and Social Services Agency. Thank you, Jessica
Shimmin, Alexis Lozano, Liz Maker, Tammy Lee, and Emile Durette.

Thanks to Colleen Chawla, of Alameda County Health Care Services Agency, Mayor Libby Schaaf of the City of Oakland,
and Doug Biggs, of the Continuum of Care Committee for co-chairing and championing the Racial Equity Impact Analysis

and Homeless System Modeling project.

The EveryOne Home Leadership Board embraced this project, weaving the framework into the Measure W ballot
initiative and Continuum of Care governance charter. Thank you for launching and sustaining the momentum.

Thanks to the Office of Special Needs Assistance Programs at the Department of Housing and Urban Development for
supporting the community’s vision of infusing racial equity in system planning and for making this project possible with a

generous technical assistance grant.

Abt Associates facilitated the modeling process with sharp analysis, graphics, and an appetite for problem solving. Thank
you, Joyce Probst MacAlpine, Stephanie Reinauer, Puneet Kaur, and Meghan Takashima.

The following organizations participated in the Leadership Committee:

Abode Services

Alameda County Administrator's Office

Alameda County District 1, Supervisor Haggerty's Office
Alameda County District 2, Supervisor Valle's Office
Alameda County District 3, Supervisor Chan's Office
Alameda County District 4, Supervisor Miley's Office
Alameda County District 5, Supervisor Carson's Office
Alameda County Health Care Services Agency
Alameda County Housing and Community Development
Agency

Alameda County Social Services Agency

All Home

ALL IN Alameda County Youth Action Board

Bay Area Community Services

Benioff Homelessness and Housing Initiative, UCSF
Berkeley Housing Authority

City of Alameda

City of Albany

City of Berkeley

City of Emeryville

City of Fremont

City of Hayward

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

City of Livermore

City of Oakland

City of San Leandro

Consumers of Homeless Services
Crankstart

EveryOne Home Leadership Board
Housing Authority of Alameda County
Housing Authority of the City of Alameda
Kaiser Permanente

Livermore City Council

Livermore Housing Authority

Mayor of Fremont, Lily Mei

Mayor of Livermore, John Marchand
Mayor of Oakland, Libby Schaff

Veteran Affairs Network Homeless Coordinator
Northern California VA

Oakland City Council

Oakland Housing Authority
Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care’s
HUD CoC Committee

University of California San Francisco

44



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Each of the following organizations contributed countless hours of staff time to develop the homeless system models in
the working groups:

Abode Services Covenant House

Alameda County Health Care Services Agency East Oakland Community Project
Alameda County Housing & Community Development EveryOne Home Leadership Board
Agency Family Violence Law Center

Alameda County Social Services Agency First Five Alameda County

Alameda Point Collaborative Housing Consortium of the East Bay

All Home LifeLong Medical Care

ALL IN Alameda County Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care
ALL IN Alameda County Youth Action Board Roots Community Health Center

Bay Area Community Services Ruby’s Place

Berkeley Food and Housing Project Satellite Affordable Housing Associates
Building Futures St. Mary’s Center

City of Alameda South Hayward Parish

City of Berkeley Supervisor Carson’s Office

City of Fremont Supervisor Chan’s Office

City of Livermore UCSF Benioff Children’s Hospital Oakland
City of Oakland

The Racial Equity Impact Analysis and this report would not exist without the steadfast support of the City of Oakland’s
Office of Race and Equity, EveryOne Home Leadership Board, EveryOne Home staff on behalf of the Continuum of Care,
Alameda County Health Care Services Agency’s Department of Public Health and Office of Homeless Care and
Coordination, Alameda County Social Services Agency, and Alameda County Supervisor Wilma Chan’s Office. Specific
thanks to:

Ayanna Allen Laura Guzman Susan Shelton
Emile Durette Tammy Lee Jessica Shimmin
Darlene Flynn Alexis Lozano Sarah Ting
Sandi Galvez Liz Maker

Mara Goby Andrew Nelson

The following organizations recruited persons with lived experience of homelessness for the Racial Equity Impact
Analysis Focus Groups:

ALL IN Alameda County Youth Action Board Intertribal Friendship House
BANANAS Open Heart Kitchen

Bay Area Community Services ROOTS Community Health Center
City of Livermore St. Mary’s Center

Thank you to the City of Oakland, Alameda County Department of Public Health, and Alameda County-Oakland
Community Action Partnership, Open Heart Kitchen and CityServe who provided food and compensation for the focus
group participants with lived experience of homelessness.

Deep and humble thanks to the people with current or former experiences of homelessness for sharing your stories in
the focus groups. Your insights are the foundation of this plan.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 45



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Appendix A: Racial Equity Impact Analysis Focus Groups

Demographics
A total of 53 individuals participated in the focus groups, provided below is more on the composition of the participants.

Focus Group Participant by Age
50%
40%
40%

30%

o, 17% 17%
20% 13% 1%
- I N
. 2%
0% E—
18-24 25-39 40-49 50-64 65+ Prefer not to

state

Focus Group Participants by

Focus Group Participants by Current
Gender

Literal Homelessness Status

m Female
m No
m Male
® Yes

Focus Group Participants by Race/Ethnicity |
I
40% 34% :

30% : 25%
20% . I
13% 11% 11% :

10% 0
0% [ | — :
. N
& & & 7 & o*\é QQ’Q\Q
s & > N S
)\ > N N N\
\’b(’ K(J /b(\ \’b
) O RY .(\0

& & O
$® VS(\ \:b

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 46



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Systems Modeling and Equity Focus Groups Background

Focus Group Advantages

* @ather diverse opinions and ideas directly from people with first-hand knowledge of the issue. Views
participants as “experts.”

» (Can be lower-cost and more efficient than one-on-one interviews.

* The group dialogue can help participants to think about and recall their own experiences or viewpoints.

Focus Group Disadvantages

* Relies heavily on a non-biased facilitator with good rapport with the group

* Some individuals may dominate the discussion while others do not speak up.

= May not be able to generalize findings to the whole population (members cannot speak for everyone else in

their demographic or interest group).

Key Focus group roles

Moderator

= Sets the tone of the focus group, conveys respect, and shows appreciation for the expertise of the group.
* Asks questions and guides the participants through the focus group.

* Makes sure the discussion stays on topic.

Notetaker

* Records conversation as accurately as possible using the provided note-taking template.

* If multiple notetakers there can be focus areas assigned (i.e. one person to capture themes and one to
capture quotes”)

=  Assists the Moderator as requested.
Observer

= Attends focus group and notes key themes from the discussion.

* Notes the focus group process and helps apply insights to future focus groups.

Logistics Support

* Before the focus group: Chooses the location, sets up the room, arranges and sets up food, brings supplies
(such as name tags and flip charts).

* During the focus group: signs in participants, makes sure they fill out and hand in the demographic

questionnaire, distributes incentives (gift cards).

£0A Cg
a* G,

¥

,
3
Tient -¥

“NeYe

Prepared by the Community Assessment,
Planning and Evaluation (CAPE) Unit

nand . 4

January 2020
Ty
KT

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 47



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Focus Group Recruitment

Research Question: What ideal model of the homeless services and housing system emerges from a nuanced
understanding of homeless people’s experiences, and in particular the needs of over-represented groups including
African Americans, Native Americans, Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders, and Spanish speakers

Recruitment guidelines: People currently experiencing homelessness or formerly experiencing homelessness.
Homelessness is defined as staying in an emergency shelter, transitional housing for homeless people, or safe haven
program, or living outside in a place not meant for people to live such as a sidewalk, bench, park, tent, abandoned
building, vehicle, RV, etc.

Each group will have 8-12 participants, with the suggestion of recruiting 15 and having some not show.
Compensation:
e Snacks or light lunch

e  Gift such as gift card or care package

Service Providers and Attendance: We recognize that some participants will feel more comfortable with a trusted

service provider in attendance. For this reason, staff members are welcomed to attend the groups in a supportive role.

Because the focus groups are intended to elicit experiences from people currently or previously experiencing
homelessness, service providers must play a listening and learning role.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

48



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

WEPA Cop .

v’r 4"; 4 ’A Uy

o B O'0 2 [ o W

2 Z 7

= w

% § ﬁllﬁ EveryOne CITY OF OAKLAND
/"'Mru o

Homelessness and Equity Focus Group Questionnaire
Please fill out this short questionnaire. It will help us describe who was part of this discussion group. Your individual
responses will NOT be shared — we'll just describe the group as a whole. Thank you!

1. Whatis your age?
O Younger than 18 O Between 18-24 O Between 25-39 [ Prefer not to state

O Between 40-49 O Between 50-64 O 65+ [ Don’t Know

2. With what gender do you identify?

1 Male [J Female
O Transgender [] Queer/gender non-conforming
O Other:

3. With what your race or ethnicity do you identify? [Mark all that apply]

0 American Indian or Alaskan Native [0 Asian

[ Black or African American O Latino/a/ Hispanic (Mexican, Central/ South American)
[0 Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander [0 White or Caucasian

O Other (specify)

4. Where have you stayed in the past 30 days? [Mark all that apply]

U In my own apartment/house L Car/RV

L] With my parent(s) indoors L] with other relatives indoors
1 With my friend(s) indoors L] Foreclosed building / squat
L] Drug/alcohol treatment center L] Hospital

[ Hotel/motel L] Shelter

[ Transitional living program [ Outside/tent/encampment
[ Other (specify)

5. Did you have any children under age 18 living with you in the past 30 days?
O Yes O No

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 49



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

System Modeling and Equity Focus Groups Moderator Role and Tips

Moderator Role
* Having a good moderator is key to having a successful focus group with rich and valid insights. An effective
moderator:
» Can quickly put people at ease and draw them out in a group environment.
» Has experience leading group discussions and comfort with the focus group topic.
> Is somebody who can relate to the participants and who participants will feel comfortable speaking
openly and honestly with.
» Can remain impartial.
» Can encourage participation.
> Is sensitive to gender, cultural issues and power differences among and within groups.

Moderator Tips
* Follow the focus group interview guide.
> Increases the credibility of the research results.
» Increases the comprehensiveness of the data and makes data collection more efficient
* Read one question at a time.
* Hold back your opinions. Your role is to moderate, not participate.
* Interrupt as little as possible
* Avoid putting words in participants’ mouths. Avoid questions that are leading, meaning that they reflect your
opinions or assumptions.
* Listen to responses. If something is unclear, practice reflective listening and ask a follow-up question
(sometimes called “probes.”)
> Repeat the question. This gives people time to think about their responses.
» Summarize what you’ve just heard. Ask participants if the summary is correct. See if others agree or
disagree.
» “Ithink what I heard you say is.... Did I get that right? Do others have a similar or different opinion?”
> Follow suggested probes in the interview guide, or ask when, what, where, which and how questions.
Avoid “why” questions, which can put people on the defensive.
* Encourage participation by all participants and interaction between participants.
* Maintain good eye contact with participants.

DA ¢,
WELA Cg
W

aand . p)

%, .
“NaYe § Prepared by the Community Assessment, January 2020

o < Planning and Evaluation (CAPE) Unit
ALTH o2

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 50



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Common Facilitation Challenges and Solutions.
* What to do if one person in group dominates
» Redirect the conversation to other participants
» Ask for the opinion of those who have not yet spoken up
» Give nonverbal cues (e.g., look at other people in the room)
* What to do if nobody speaks up or certain people don’t speak up
» Ask for the opinion of those who have not yet spoken up
> Pay attention to body language and draw out those who are silent but seem to have something to say.
For example, say “Person X, you are shaking your head. What are you thinking?”
* What to do if people get off-track
» Intervene and put this comment/idea in a “parking lot” or “bike rack”
> Intervene and refocus the discussion
» Take advantage of a pause and say, “Thank you for that interesting idea — perhaps we can further
discuss this after the group. With your consent, I'd like to move on to another item/question.”
* What to do if somebody puts somebody else down
» Remind the group that respect was one of the ground rules of the group and that all opinions are valid
and valued.
» Remind the group to focus their responses on their own experience. Not everybody will have the same
personal experience.
* What to do when you are running out of time during the focus group?
» Prioritize questions in the guide. Ask the most important questions in each section first.
» Note if you had to consolidate or skip questions. Sometimes participants will have already answered
a later question earlier in the discussion (for example, giving recommendations when you ask them
about challenges.)

",;Bl Cg
e

“,
e *;E Prepared by the Community Assessment,
& Planning and Evaluation (CAPE) Unit

Aand .
e

January 2020
T
TR

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 51



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Focus Group Discussion Guide For People with Lived Expertise of Homelessness

Introduction & Purpose (4:00-4:05)

Hi. Thank you for taking the time to talk with us today.

We want to hear from you because we want to create more of what works for people experiencing homelessness to
get housed and stay housed. To create a system that works, we need to be informed by you, including, because you
are the experts. We especially want to know the experience of over-represented groups including (subpopulation).

We want to hear about challenges you’ve experienced and what works. We'll use this information to align around a
plan and spend money on things that work because we need to get it right.

There are a number of people in the room who will be taking notes on what you say. There are also staff from
[insert organization name e.g. Roots Community Health or St Mary’s Center] and some additional people working
on this project who will be observing to learn from what you say. We recognize that some participants will feel
more comfortable with a trusted service provider in attendance. For this reason, staff members are welcome to
attend in a supportive role. Because the focus groups are intended to elicit experiences of people currently or
previously experiencing homelessness, service providers must play a listening and learning role.

You will receive a $50 gift card to once the session is over.

Ground Rules:
e There are no right or wrong answers.
e All responses are valued.
e Itis okay to have different opinions. We do not all have to agree.
e Speak one at a time.
e We have only 90 minutes today, and we want to hear form everyone, so we may need to move on from a
topic to get through the questions.
e Do not repeat what you hear today to others outside of the group. What is said in here should stay here.

Prevention & Diversion (4:05-4:20)

We'd like to start off talking about what led to you becoming homeless and what might have prevented you from
becoming homeless.

What kinds of things made it hard to keep housed at that time?

What kinds of help do you think could have prevented you from becoming homelessness?

Crisis & Shelter Interim Services (4:20-4:35)

What services and supports are most helpful to you?
Prompt: These could include, but aren’t limited to shelter, safe parking, showers, bathrooms, meal
programs, and street outreach. They could be other things as well.

What services and supports have not been helpful to you?

(optional prompts)
e What is your experience with shelters?

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

52



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

e If you have lived outside, what kinds of services and supports were helpful to you? What was not helpful to
you when you were living outside?

e If you have lived in a vehicle or RV, what kinds of services and supports were helpful to you? What was not
helpful to you when you were living in a vehicle or RV?

Housing Barriers (4:35-4:50)

What has been hard for you as you try to find housing?

What challenges have you faced, now or earlier in your life, that you believe have led to you being homeless today?

Types of Housing Programs (4:50-5:05)

We'd like to get your thoughts about three different kinds of housing support for people experiencing
homelessness.

2. The first is Rapid Re-Housing.
e Rapid Re-Housing includes short-term rental assistance with help finding a place to rent, usually lasting
6-9 months.
e Types of housing could be an SRO room, shared housing with a roommate or two, or your own place.
e It’s possible that the available rental units would be outside of the City or County.
e At the end of the program, the participant(s) need to be able to pay rent on their own.
e To pay the rent on their own, participants in Rapid Re-Housing typically need to increase their income.

Based on your experience, would the short-term subsidized housing | just described work for you?
Why or why not?

3. The second kind of housing is Permanent Supportive Housing.
e Thisis a program for people that need long-term subsidized housing with intensive services, including
case management.

Based on your experience, would permanent supportive housing with intensive services work for you? Why
or why not?

4. The last program is called Dedicated Affordable Housing.
e Dedicated Affordable Housing is for homeless people that have low incomes but don’t need a lot of
services.
e It's forindividuals and families that are currently homeless, and they are required to pay a portion of
their income in rent- typically somewhere between 30% and 50% of the household’s monthly income.
e Examples of Dedicated Affordable Housing are Section 8.

Would this kind of permanent and affordable housing, without supportive services, work for you? Why or
why not?

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

53



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Maintaining Housing & No Returns to Homelessness (5:05-5:20)

Too many people who experience homelessness return to homelessness after finding housing.

If you have become homeless, gotten housing and then lost housing again, what could have kept you from
becoming homeless again?

How do we improve our response so you can stay housed?
Closing (5:20-5:30)

Is there anything else you want us to know that hasn’t been said today?

Do you have any guestions?

Thank you so much for joining us today and sharing your experience and expertise with us.
Your feedback will be helpful with planning and improving our housing services/programs.

S,

98¢/ Prepared by the Community Assessment

= z . . N

% & Planning and Evaluation (CAPE) Unit January 2020
) ?“:lu-_u_ o‘.‘-?’/

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL

Racial Equity and Systems Modeling Focus Groups Notetaking Protocol

Before the
Focus Group

Prepare your supplies:

o E-mailed copy of the Notetaking Template

o Name tags or table tents

o Laptop computer or hand-writing supplies

o Flip chart, markers and tape (e.g., for “Parking Lot”; “Questions”)

Check in with your facilitator and other notetakers to discuss roles

Make sure everyone signs in and gets a name tag and table tent. Note the # of the
participant on the questionnaire.

The facilitator may want to acknowledge if notetakers, staff, or other observers will be

listening/present during the group.

During the
Focus Group

Document comments, major themes, and ideas that come up during the focus group as

accurately and thoroughly as you can.

Feel free to make non-verbal observations (like feel in room during particular

questions/comments or questions where there was more/less response).

Ensure confidentiality by referring to participants by their number or first name in your

notes.

Support the facilitator:

o Keep the focus group on schedule (timekeeping)

o Communicate with facilitator and participants if you need clarification of an
important point.

o Assist with arranging the room, signing people in, collecting the demographic
questionnaire, and distributing/signing for gift cards.

o Assist with checking in with participants and staff at the end of the focus group to
make sure their needs (e.g. questions or concerns) have been met.

Right After * Debrief with your team ASAP (facilitator, notetakers and observers):
the Focus o Discuss your notes and any areas where you feel you may have missed something.
Group o Observations about the feel of the focus group, comfort level with questions,
agreement, or disagreement among participants.
o Key themes (e.g., barriers, challenges, unmet needs) or ideas (e.g., what
works/doesn’t work, recommendations) that came up during the group
o Insights about the Focus Group Interview Guide or process/protocols. How was the
language? How was the pacing? Does anything need to be revised? Anything major
missing?
e’ww‘ C%'a
G D by Communty sesmen: sy 2020

%
iy o

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 55




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Right After
the Focus
Group

(Continued)

Review your notes:

o Review, spell check, revise and add anything else you remember from the focus
group discussion.

o Identify places in your notes where you have notable questions/comments (e.g.,
participants seemed to be answering a different question like when people talk about
what was hard when they were asked to discuss what was helpful.)

Within 5 * E-mail your notes to liz.maker@acgov.org and sarah.ting@acgov.org
Business * Discuss insights and observations at the Racial Equity and Systems Modeling Check-In
Days

%,

&)

Aand . ry

( &
" v
??42.11;"7 9‘3"

% Prepared by the Community Assessment,
& Planning and Evaluation (CAPE) Unit

January 2020

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 56


mailto:liz.maker@acgov.org
mailto:sarah.ting@acgov.org

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

FINAL REPORT

Focus Group Discussion For People with Lived Experience and Expertise

Notetaking Template

Information about Today’s Focus Group

Notetaker:

| Focus Group Date:

Focus Group Location:

Host Staff Present
(Name and their role in the focus group):

Racial Equity and Systems Modeling Group
Members Present
(Name and their role in the Focus Group):

Discussion Item or Question

Notes

Introduction and Purpose

We want to hear from you about your experiences. What

challenges you’ve experienced and what works.

Ground Rules
e There are no right or wrong answers.

e All responses are valued.

e |tis okay to have different opinions. We do not all

have to agree.
e Speak one at a time.

e We have only 90 minutes today, and we want to
hear form everyone, so we may need to move on

from a topic to get through the questions.

e Do not repeat what you hear today to others
outside of the group. What is said in here should

stay here.
G oy,
T e/ % | Prepared by the Community Assessment, Planning and
2 z . . ’
% &  Evaluation (CAPE) Unit January 2020
K re i
Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 57




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Introductions (Roll Call of Who is Present)

Participant First Name or Initials Code #

Comments or notes about the introductions)

Discussion Item or Question | Notes

Prevention & Diversion

We'd like to start off talking about what lead to you
becoming homeless and what might have prevented you
from becoming homeless.

What kinds of things made it hard to keep housed at
that time?

What kinds of help do you think could have prevented
you from becoming homelessness?

S0,
2 Nl ¢ Prepared by the Community Assessment, Planning and January 2020
& | Evaluation (CAPE) Unit
a8
Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 58




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Discussion Item or Question | Notes

Crisis & Shelter Interim Services

What services and supports are most helpful to you?

Prompt: These could include, but aren’t limited to
shelter, safe parking, showers, bathrooms, meal
programs, and street outreach. They could be other
things as well.

What services and supports have not been helpful to
you?

e  Experience with shelters?

e Helpful and not helpful when living outside.

e Helpful and not helpful when living in a vehicle or
RV.

Housing Barriers

What has been hard for you as you try to find
housing?

What challenges have you faced, now or earlier in your
life, that you believe have led to you being homeless

today?

FoSR Y

év u ; Prepared by the Community Assessment, Planning and January 2020
% & Evaluation (CAPE) Unit

A A =
%agry o

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 59



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Discussion Item or Question

| Notes

Types of Housing Programs

1. Rapid Rehousing

Based on your experience, would the short-term
subsidized housing | just described work for you?

Why or why not?

e Short-term rental assistance with help finding a
place to rent, usually lasting 6-9 months.

e Includes an SRO room, shared housing with a
roommate or two, or your own place.

e Available rental units would be outside of the City or
County.

e Atthe end of the program, the participant(s) need
to be able to pay rent on their own.

e Participants in Rapid Re-Housing typically need to
increase their income.

2. Permanent Supportive Housing
Based on your experience, would permanent supportive
housing with intensive services work for you?

Why or why not?

e  For people that need long-term subsidized housing
with intensive services, including case management.

~@EPA GGy
e”“ ’ '04’»,‘;_,_ Prepared by the Community Assessment, Planning and
g 35 Evaluation (CAPE) Unit

8

a/

ke
Lagry o

January 2020

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

60



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Discussion Item or Question

Notes

3. Dedicated Affordable Housing

Would this kind of permanent and affordable housing,
without supportive services, work for you?

Why or why not?

e  For homeless people that have low incomes but
don’t need a lot of services.

e Forindividuals and families that are currently
homeless, and they are required to pay a portion of
their income in rent- typically somewhere between
30% and 50% of the household’s monthly income.

e Examples of Dedicated Affordable Housing are
Section 8.

Maintaining Housing & No Return to Homelessness

If you have become homeless, gotten housing, and then
lost housing again, what could have kept you from
becoming homeless again?

How do we improve our response so you can stay
housed?

S %,
£ .

¥

A Prepared by the Community Assessment, Planning and
2 H ; : ,
% g Evaluation (CAPE) Unit January 2020
Hearm o8
61

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Discussion Item or Question | Notes

Closing

Is there anything else you want us to know
that hasn’t been said today?

Do you have any questions?

o
Ly ; Prepared by the Community Assessment, Planning and
g Evaluation (CAPE) Unit

[ &
- &
. ot

Anand

January 2020

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

62



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Calculating the number of units and beds needed in an ideal system begins with the annual number of households
experiencing homelessness. The Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County model will also need annual counts of different
subpopulations and geographies. Unfortunately, our HMIS is not currently prepared to establish annual counts and
geographic distribution because some project types and parts of the county are less covered than others. Instead, we
recommend using the Point in Time Count data to estimate the number of people experiencing homelessness in a year,
their geographic distribution throughout the county, and the average household size. This is the strongest approach in
the short term, and going forward, we should advocate for HMIS coverage and configuration that can more readily meet
these needs.

Estimating the unduplicated number of people experiencing homelessness in a year

There is no universally accepted method for estimating the unduplicated number of households or people experiencing

homelessness annually. It is impossible to know the actual number of people who experience homelessness in a year,

though estimating methods offer a likely range.

e Low End: 12,014 unduplicated people. This number derives from the monthly inflow rate into homelessness
(4.456%) from the Point in Time count survey.

e High End: 19,000 unduplicated people. This number draws from the Housing Inventory Chart and the HMIS to
understand utilization rates and the total beds available in the system.

e Middle Option: 15,786 unduplicated people. This number was reached using the weekly inflow rate from the 2019
PIT; this is the method used in the EveryOne Home 2018 Strategic Plan Update.

o The weekly inflow rate from the 2019 PIT survey (1.89%) multiplied by the total Point in Time count (8,022)
suggests 151.82 people become homeless each week. Multiplied by the remaining weeks in a year (51.14)
produces 7,764 as the number of additional people experiencing homelessness each year. Adding in the
original Point in Time count produces 15,786 as the number of unique people experiencing homelessness
each year.

We recommend using 15,786 as the number of people experiencing homelessness in a year for system modeling.

Geographic distribution of people experiencing homelessness

e HMIS is not configured to provide regional or jurisdictional data. Because some areas of the county have better
HMIS coverage than others, we cannot use HMIS to estimate the regional distribution of people experiencing
homelessness.

e By Name List data relies on the assessment, which has not been implemented consistently throughout the county to
ensure representative geographic distribution.

e The survey component of the Point in Time Count has small samples in some parts of the county, which could offer a
partial and misleading understanding of the regional distribution of homelessness.

e The census portion of the 2019 Point in Time Count addressed each census tract and shelter in the county
systematically, although some have concerns that the biennial PIT is an undercount.

Although the PIT data has some limitations, particularly related to counting households with minor children, it is the

strongest data source currently available for understanding the geographic distribution of homelessness in Alameda

County. For this reason, we recommend using the Point in Time count to estimate the proportion of people experiencing

homelessness in North County, Oakland, Mid-County, East County, and South County.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 63



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Point In Time Count Geographical Distribution % of PIT Population Estimate (persons)

East County (Livermore, Pleasanton, Dublin) 4.3% 679
Mid County (Hayward, San Leandro, Alameda) 18.5% 2,920
North County (Berkeley, Albany, and Emeryville) 16.5% 2,605
Oakland 50.7% 8,004
South County (Fremont, Union City, Newark) 10.0% 1,579

Total 100% 15,786

Figure 33: Point in Time Count Geographical Distribution

Household Size

Average household size for families and households with adults only can be derived from various sources. Because we
are using Point in Time Count data for the first two measures, we wanted to use PIT data on the average household size.
While the number of members in households with minor children was close across data sources, the number of
members in adult-only households of 1.001 was rather low. For this reason, we recommend using 1.05 as the number of
members in adult-only households from the HMIS as seen in Stella. Stella provides dynamic visuals of CoCs’ Longitudinal
Systems Analysis (LSA) data to illustrate how households move through the homeless system, and to highlight outcome

disparities.
Adult Only Household 1.05
Households with Minor Children 3.082
Households with Only Children 1.000

Figure 34: Persons per household (size)

These household sizes and the geographic estimates of people experiencing homelessness each year will generate a
more precise multiplier for converting the total number of people into the total number of households. And, while these
figures provide reasonable estimates to use for planning purposes, the available data may not fully represent the
number of adult-only households that include two (or more) adults, or households with only children that include two
(or more) children who wish to stay together as a household as they are experiencing homelessness and/or moving into
stable housing.

Household Configuration

We are confident that the PIT methodology—specifically the way it estimated households in vehicles—leads to an
undercount of the total number of households with minor children. For this reason, we recommend using the ratio of
adult-only households to a household with minor children from the HMIS, adjusted to account for unique households
who are only served by domestic violence shelters or non-HMIS service providers: 91.4% of households are adult-only,
7.5% of households have minor children, and 1.1% in households with only children.

% of
Household Composition Households
Adult-Only Households 91.4%
Adult-Only Households (DV/non-HMIS)
Households with Minor Children 7 5%
Households with Minor Children (DV/Non-HMIS)
Households with Only Children 1.1%

Household Composition 100%

Figure 35: Household Configuration Percentages

91.4% of households are adult-only households with 1.001 members on average, 7.5% of households have minor
children and an average of 3.082 members, and 1.1% of households have only children with one member per household.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 64



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Together, the number of household members should total 15,786 people. Using these ratios and the average household
size, we can convert the estimated total number of persons experiencing homelessness into the estimated total number
of households experiencing homelessness using the following formula:

15,786 = .914(1.05x) + .075(3.082x) + .011(1x)

Household configurations are regionally divided as follows:

Estimated People Estimated Households Households Households Households

Experiencing Experiencing with Only with Minor with Only

Geographical Regions in Alameda County Homelessness Annually Homelessness Annually Adults Children Children
Mid-County (Hayward, San Leandro, Unincorporated) 2,920 2,430 2,221 182 27
North County (Berkeley, Albany, Emeryville) 2,605 2,167 1,981 163 24
Oakland 8,004 6,659 6,087 499 73
Tri-City (Fremont, Newark, Union City) 1,579 1,313 1,201 99 14
Tri-Valley (Dublin, Pleasanton, Livermore) 679 565 516 42 6
Total 15,786 13,135 12,005 985 144

Figure 36: Regionally-Divided Household Configurations

Notes Toward Greater Specificity in Data Collection and Reporting
Estimating the annual number of households experiencing homelessness highlights several areas where the system
could develop its data collection to better support this analysis.
e Enhance HMIS capacity to report at the regional and jurisdictional levels
e Improve the HMIS coverage rate, consider ways to make HMIS participation less burdensome for providers, such
as through the attendance module
e Tighten up data collection on household size and relationships on the coordinated entry assessment and/or
housing assessment. This will enable the system to better understand the housing needs (one or two bedroom)
of adult-only households.
e Explore how the Point in Time Count can achieve a more accurate count of households with minor children,
particularly those in vehicles.
e Add a question to the Point in Time Count to better understand how many households experience more than
one period of homelessness in a year.
e Program Models Matrix
e Resource list of similar program models in other communities
List of Work Group (Adult-Only HH, HH with Minor Children and Equity) and Leadership Committee members
Equity Analysis materials

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 65



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Program Models for Single Adults

Program Model

Description

Program Types

Prevention and Services are those provided to people before they reach the front o Crisis Hotline
Early Intervention | door of the homeless services system. This may include services o Prevention
to both those already experiencing homeless and to those at-risk o Rapid Resolution
of homelessness seeking assistance. o Multi-Service Center
Crisis Response Crisis response programs are intended to be time-limited and o Emergency Shelter
designed to be a stepping-stone to stability. They will typically e Community Cabins
last one to three months and provide access to basic needs and e Medical Respite
referrals to services that lead to long-lasting housing stability. e Safe Parking
These services should be flexible, client-centered, trauma- e Transitional Housing
informed, and strengths-based. They will be “low barrier” in that o Transitional Housing for Youth
they will not terminate people from programming due to o Street Outreach
unhealthy or disruptive behaviors.
Long-Term Safe and stable housing that provides supportive services and o Rapid Re-Housing
Housing housing assistance to support people as they return to o Permanent Supportive Housing
permanent housing or permanent housing supported by a o Dedicated Affordable Housing
mainstream system resource. o PSH Seniors
o Shallow Subsidy
o RV Parking

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

66



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Overarching Program Elements: these elements serve as a foundation for all the program models presented in this document.

o) All staff working in the crisis response system are trained in structural racism and barriers to maintaining housing in Alameda County.

o Staffis trained to understand people’s circumstances in relation to their social conditions, including structural racism.

o All program information (website, outreach materials, etc.) is translated into County threshold languages.

o All program information is disseminated at strategic community touchpoints where those least likely to be connected to services frequent — (e.g., church,
corner store, neighborhood, school, and place of employment).

o The hiring process for program staff at all levels ensures broad racial and ethnic diversity, including representation of all County threshold languages.

o Programs include a portion of staff with “lived experience.”

o Staffis trained in trauma-informed care.

o Client choice is honored and respected in all programs and centers. Housing assistance is client-driven and helps locate housing opportunities that fit the

client’s needs (near job opportunities and family/social networks).

I. PREVENTION AND EARLY Prevention and early intervention services are those provided to people before they enter the homeless services system. This
INTERVENTION SERVICES may include services to both those already experiencing homeless as well as to those at imminent risk.

Program Type and Essential Elements
Description
Crisis Hotline Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
o Well-trained staff respond to a crisis with accurate, real-time information that can be individualized to the person’s situation
A phone-based system that and the availability of resources.
helps to connect o Staff understand local programs, their target populations, and can make appropriate assignments that link households to
households in a housing appropriate housing resources.
crisis to appropriate o Staff have training on domestic violence (DV), the DV system, and how to respond and appropriately connect people fleeing
resources based on needs DV to appropriate resources.
and wants o Real-time assignment to shelter beds.
o Linkage to regional street outreach teams and multi-service drop-in centers if no beds available

o Connection to services and resources: Medi-Cal, employment, health care, food, benefits, mental health, behavioral health
services, etc.

Population:
All households in a housing crisis.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 67



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Prevention

Prevent loss of housing and
entry into homelessness
through limited financial
assistance and services

Rapid Resolution

Problem-solving with those
who report they have no
place to go to avoid entry
into the homeless system

Multi-Service Center

Access to prevention and
diversion services.

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Those receiving prevention assistance have been engaged in a problem-solving conversation to determine how best to
resolve the housing crisis.
e Must be designed and implemented in fidelity to models with proven effectiveness at reducing inflow—
more details on effective models available here.

o Culturally competent prevention providers have strategies to reach people of color who are at disproportionate risk of
homelessness.

o When appropriate for agreed upon activities, financial assistance is available up to the maximum amount established by the
community.

Services provided:

o Eviction mediation and legal services

o Housing navigation: on-going for up to three months.

o Connection to mainstream services and resources: Medi-Cal, employment, health care, food, benefits, mental and
behavioral health services

o Domestic violence support

Population:

Those who meet HUD's definition of imminent risk of homelessness.

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Problem-solving conversation to explore safe alternatives to homelessness; assess for safety and stability.

o Services to support people in the safe alternative that was identified for up to six months.

Services provided:

o Housing problem-solving. For more details, refer to the Housing Problem Solving Policy Guide

o Financial assistance — flex funds

o Connection to services and resources: employment, health care, food, transportation, other benefits, mental health,
behavioral health services, etc.

o Emergency hotel vouchers for people who are in the diversion process.

o CE assessment within 24 hours if a safe alternative is not identified or is temporary.

Population:

o People who will be homeless tonight

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Housing problem solvers to respond to walk-ins, including providing prevention and diversion.

o Connects the household to services they are eligible for (ex. SNAP, Medi-Cal, disability including SOAR)
o Conducts coordinated entry assessment and check if the person has been referred to housing.

o Health and social services on-site or direct access points for these mainstream system resources

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 68


http://www.evidenceonhomelessness.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Homelessness_Prevention_Literature_Synthesis.pdf

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Connection to services for o Financial assistance — flex funds
people who are literally o Employment services including a computer lab.
homeless o Provide for basic needs: food, shower, laundry, hygiene kits, clothes.
o Activities, classes, support groups for different issues and populations
o Safe space — security, trauma-informed, no judgment. Less stigmatizing than accessing services at the shelter, especially for
prevention and diversion.
Geographically distributed, transportation accessible
o Opportunity for community to be involved — donations, volunteering. Create relationships, organize people.

O

Population:

o People in a housing crisis

o People who are literally homeless in a shelter or unsheltered locations
o People who are doubled up and need a safe place

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

69



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Il. Crisis Response

Crisis response programs are intended to be time-limited and designed to be a stepping-stone to stability. They will typically last one to

three months and provide access to basic needs and referrals to services that lead to long-lasting housing stability. These services
should be flexible, client-centered, trauma-informed, and strengths-based. They will be “low barrier” in that they will not terminate
people from programming due to unhealthy or disruptive behaviors.

Program Type and
Description

Essential Elements

Emergency Shelter

Emergency shelter
with navigation
type services (low-
barrier, service-rich,
housing-focused)

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o The number of people and type of shelter might vary by facility, but all shelters would have some degree of privacy, no
overcrowding, no bunk beds, open 24/7.

o Low barrier (pets, possessions, partners, parking, privacy), holistic, not institutionalized. Includes locks and storage (possessions).

o Located in communities populated by unsheltered individuals who are seeking local housing solutions.

Housing-focused services provided:

o Assessment for eligibility and referral

Housing navigation

o Staffing model/caseload size: 2:20-25 to keep shelter low barrier.

o Other support services provided: On-site providers for income (employment/training/education), legal, transportation, life skills,
and substance use.

o Strongly coordinated with all access points (including outreach and in-reach) but also able to take walk-ins: same-day access

o Connections to mainstream services: Screening or assessment for physical health and behavioral health (mental health and/or
substance use) with limited treatment services offered on-site, Social Security eligibility and other mainstream providers able to
reach and complete benefit acquisition on-site, direct referrals to treatment or care for needs related to health, mental health
and/or substance use.

o Key partners: Local City and County, CE, Permanent Housing Providers, BH/MH providers, Mainstream resource providers

o Other essential elements: Co-located with or near multi-services center with walk-in resources and referrals, clear and transparent

placement process communicated to the community and non-housing providers to include limitations and expectations.

Population:
Homeless Single Adults, Couples, Adults without Dependents, Young Adults that don’t want transitional housing.

Emergency Shelter
Subcategory:
Community Cabins

Assessment of
Housing Crisis
Needs and Access

Community Cabin programs are expected to mirror the purpose, structure, and operations of Emergency Shelter programs. This
program type was retained under system modeling to respond to jurisdictional needs.
Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Safe, clean, and appropriate climate control with privacy, locks, and storage co-located in communities populated by unsheltered

individuals, 24/7.

o Housing-focused services provided: Assessment for eligibility and referral, direct connection to permanent housing, physical and
behavioral health assessment, identification of barriers to placement in interim and/or permanent housing.

o Housing navigation

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

70



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

to short-term
housing for
stabilization and
exit to emergency
shelter or
permanent housing.

Focused on place-
based closures of
problematic
encampments

o Other support services provided: Healthcare, sanitation, meals, transportation, substance use counseling.

o Connections to mainstream services: MH/BH assessment, SS eligibility, and other mainstream providers able to reach and connect
with participants.

o Staffing model/caseload size: Based on population, average 1:15/20.

o Key partners: Local City and County, CE, Permanent Housing Providers, BH/MH providers, Mainstream resource providers

o Other essential elements: evaluation of local numbers and needs of unsheltered/encampment populations with the inclusion of
lived expertise on specific program design, safety, direct referrals for people with urgent and high needs, communication with the
community and non-housing providers (first responders, human services, etc.), warm hand-offs and follow-on care with established
service provider connections (case managers, street outreach, etc.), evaluation of utilization and post-referral success, and
continued outreach to local unsheltered/encampment populations who decline housing.

o No more than 90 days, tied to household type, vulnerability, etc.

Population:

Single Adults, Couples, Adults without Dependents

Emergency Shelter
Subcategory:

Medical respite

Emergency shelter
with intensive
services for
medically
vulnerable
homeless persons
who are being
discharged or
diverted from a
hospital

Medical Respite programs are expected to mirror the purpose, structure, and operations of Emergency Shelter programs except as
outlined below.
Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

O

O 0O 0O O O O O O O

Immediate/timely placement option for persons who do not have a medical necessity for hospital or skilled nursing facility but
recuperative case services beyond what is provided in a shelter. This can include persons:
e who are unsheltered or sheltered and are identified as needing medical respite.
e being discharged or diverted from an inpatient hospital setting.
o referred from emergency departments.
A clean and healthy residential environment that promotes stabilization and recovery, prevents readmission to emergency and
acute care settings, and provides a bridge to more permanent housing settings.
Up to a90-day length of stay.
24/7 staffing.
On-site nursing staff plus medical staff site visits.
Direct linkages with health care provider clinics.
Linkage with standard emergency shelter resources for exits.
Three meals/day.
Other shelter services as outlined above — housing navigation.
In-Home Supportive Services or Home Health arrangements allowed and coordinated.
Persons generally stay in recuperative care for 1-6 months with an average length of stay of 90 days (Whole Person Care funding
cannot be used for lengths of stays greater than 90 days).

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 71




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Population:
Individuals with medical or daily living needs that cannot be met in crisis housing, inclusive of young adults and people who are
pregnant.

Emergency Shelter
Subcategory:

Safe Parking

Safe and legal place
to stay in car with
connection to
navigation services
and basic needs

Safe Parking programs are expected to mirror the purpose, structure, and operations of Emergency Shelter programs.

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Some safe parking sites co-located with crisis housing or service centers, but others around the county could have mobile services
come out to them.

o Sanitation/bathrooms; overnight security

o Key partners: churches, cities

o Connection to resources for car repair when vehicles are not running.

Population:
People who are homeless, have a car, and would rather stay in the car than enter a shelter, inclusive of young adults.

Emergency Shelter

Transitional Housing programs are expected to mirror the purpose, structure, and operations of Emergency Shelter programs. This

Subcategory: program type was retained under system modeling for funding eligibility purposes.
Transitional

Housing

Transitional Transitional housing for young adults aged 18-24

Housing for Young
Adults

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
o Time-limited but with longer stays than adult transitional housing (up to 18 months).

o The central focus is developing life skills.

o Service-intensive: counseling, education, and vocational services are provided.

Street Outreach

Linkage to services
and education
about available
resources for
people who are
unsheltered.
Stabilize people and
refer to shelters or
respite programs.
Build rapport and
trust.

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Engagement services to help people move into a shelter, connect to health care and other services, be engaged in a problem-
solving and coordinated entry. Focused on developing relationships.

o Connection with jail, psychiatric treatment, foster care, and hospitals to avoid discharging into homelessness.

o Coordinate with hygiene and sanitation services provided to encampments and people who are unsheltered. Outreach workers
should be aware of Public Works plans for encampment clean-up and clearance but not responsible for posting notices.

o Plan for places outreach workers can meet people — health clinics, churches, meal sites, other places where people will feel
welcome — where coffee and snacks could be available.

o Mobile delivery of multi-service center services.

O Support services: Harm reduction, identify health and mental health crises, SOAR trained or a strong connection to SOAR services,
mobilize local community resources to help people experiencing homelessness in their neighborhood.

o Conduct CE assessment.

o Meet immediate needs: food, clothes, hygiene, shelter.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

72




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

o Provide transportation through bus passes and cars for outreach workers.

o Provide a tablet to allow real-time HMIS input.

o Caseload ratio: 1:20 usual for Oakland; 2:60 for City of Alameda. Outreach in teams to help with relationship continuity and service
coordination.

o Available extended hours and weekends as financially feasible.

Staffing needs to address high turnover in these positions:
o Increase pay and PTO.
o Promote self-care.
o Support to process for secondary trauma.
o Professional development opportunities with career paths and succession planning.

Population:
People who are unsheltered.

lll. Long-Term
Housing

Safe and stable housing provides supportive services and housing assistance to support people as they return to permanent housing or
permanent housing supported by a mainstream system resource.

Overarching o Asingle point of application for housing
Elements of Long- o Background checks have no restrictions beyond those required by HUD.
Term Housing o Access to legal resources to address housing discrimination.
Models o A community-wide, shared landlord listing established to reduce the challenge of locating units.
o An emphasis on client choice in all aspects of housing placement.
o Warm handoffs are provided when entering housing or transitioning from one housing program to another.
o Whenever needed, there are connections to financial management services and training, including credit repair/credit building
support; training and support with budgeting and developing long-term savings; asset-building opportunities.
o Vocational services and employment assistance are available to assist with finding or upgrading employment.
o If the program staff does not provide requested services, there are connections to mainstream service providers, trained in
culturally relevant and trauma-informed approaches to service provision.
Program Type and Essential Elements
Description

Rapid Re-housing

Time-limited rental
subsidy and support
services with the

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.

Type of unit: any rental housing unit must meet HQS, have an appropriate rental agreement, documented relationship between a
property owner and management entity.

o Housing-focused services provided: landlord liaison/housing search function, finding units, landlord risk-mitigation pools, housing-

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 73




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

intention of the
household taking
over lease and
sustaining on own

focused case management, rent assistance, flex funds, inspections.

o) Housing navigation staffing ratio of one FTE for every 20-25 households
o) Landlord liaison/housing search staffing ratio of one FTE for every 30-40 households
Access to public benefits assistance as needed.
o Other essential elements: Progressive engagement process to transition people to PSH or Dedicated Affordable Housing if needed.
o Target income to rent ratio at the end of the program — no more than 50% of income for rent with at least $500/month available

for non-housing & utility needs.
Timeframe:
o Standard RRH — 6-12 months
o Longer-term for households who are waiting on SSDI process or have a longer-term income growth trajectory.

Population:
Most useful for literally homeless households who are likely to increase household income (earned or unearned) within a defined time
frame who score lower on the CE assessment

Permanent
Supportive Housing

Permanent
subsidies based on
income and services
to keep tenants
stable in housing

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.

o Type of unit: deeply subsidized — people pay 30% of income for rent; reduce reliance on tenant-based subsidies in private buildings
and income project-based units; could include master lease.

Housing-focused services provided:

o Housing navigation and landlord liaison support (for scattered-site PSH with tenant-based rent subsidies).
o Tenancy-sustaining support services for clients with disabilities who face challenges to getting and keeping housing,
including coaching for independent living and community integration.

o Other support services are provided directly or through connections to mainstream service providers as appropriate to individual
needs. This may include: representative payee/ money management services, intensive services to support harm reduction and
engagement in care for health or behavioral health conditions with a focus on behaviors and symptoms that could impact.
successful tenancy/housing retention, IHHS, adult day, medical care and home health services, other public services, holistic,
community partnerships

o Staffing 1:25

o Key partners: public housing authorities, non-profit housing developers, property managers; County HCSA/ behavioral health,
Medi-Cal managed care plans

o Other essential elements: move-on option, fair housing/advocacy.

o Scattered-site programs must include a housing search/landlord liaison component (see HCSA services description)

Population:
Those experiencing chronic homelessness and/or extremely high need individuals who will need long-term services and subsidies to
maintain housing.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

74



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Dedicated
Affordable Housing

Affordable housing
resources dedicated
to households
experiencing or at
risk of homelessness
and/or seniors or
people with
disabilities: Includes
subsidized income-
based units, non-
time-limited shallow
subsidy, tax credit
units designated for
extremely low-
income (ELI)
households, in lieu
of units

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.
Type of unit: SRO, studio, one-bedroom, could be scattered-site, or site-based; could include shared housing; could be tenant-based or
project-based.
o Rent subsidy or subsidized/affordable unit, the subsidy could taper over time if income increases.
o Housing-focused services provided:
o Landlord liaison
o Service coordinator caseload 1:50-60
o Other services: trauma-informed property management, barrier-busting, housing eligibility & housing search, landlord incentives,
representative payee services.
o Housing navigation services may be essential for the effective use of tenant-based rental assistance.
o Other support services provided directly (often by on-site service coordinators) or through connections to mainstream service
providers.
o Connections to workforce training and other employment support.
o Key partners: public housing authorities and non-profit housing organizations, city, state, funders.

Population:
Extremely low-income households without complex needs who are unlikely to increase their income.

PSH —Seniors

Provide a higher
level of care for
people who cannot
meet their own
needs because of
physical or cognitive
impairments

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.
o Housing-focused services provided:
o PSH tenancy sustaining services.
o Landlord liaison
o Other support services are provided directly or through connections to mainstream service providers: representative payee, ADL
supports, memory care, opportunities for socialization.
o Connected to: IHHS, Day Health. Medi-Cal, Medi-Medi
Staffing 1:25
o Key partners: Community care licensing; Social Services Agency, Center for Elders Independence, Age-Friendly Council Other
essential elements: Licensed community care facilities or specially designed permanent supportive housing sites with necessary
wrap-around services

(@]

Population:
People who need a higher level of care because they cannot perform activities of daily living or they have permanent cognitive deficits
with no pathway for recovery

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 75




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Shallow Subsidy

Mitigate
unaffordability in
the housing market

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.

o Tenant based assistance could include shared housing or households willing to support the family through rapid resolution.
o Subsidies could be shallow or deep depending on the need.

o Housing must meet habitability or HQS standards.

o Households can be progressively engaged to be served in PSH or dedicated affordable housing.

o Housing assistance: Security deposit, rent and utility assistance, moving costs, start-up furniture, and household item.

o Program staff complete re-certifications and can connect households to services if a need is identified.

Population:

Households unlikely to increase income because of health or disability issues or educational or employment barriers, households
paying more than 50% of income for rent, households that have been homeless before

RV Parking
Permanent, safe,
affordable, legal, RV
parking with utilities

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.

o RV can be owned by a resident of a nearby locality.

o Meets HUD habitability standards.

o Has utility service.

o A lease agreement that gives full rights of tenancy

o Housing services include housing-focused case management, rent assistance, flex funds, inspections.
Population:

Households with an RV or who express interest in living in this type of set up. Households unlikely to increase income, which may make
this a more affordable housing choice.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

76




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Program Models for Families with Children

Program Model Description Program Types
Prevention and Services are those provided to people before they reach the front door o Crisis Hotline
Early Intervention of the homeless services system. This may include services to both o Prevention
those already experiencing homeless and to those at-risk of o Rapid Resolution
homelessness seeking assistance. o Emergency Resource Centers
Crisis Response Crisis response programs are intended to be time-limited in nature and o Emergency Shelter
are designed to be a stepping-stone to stability. They will typically last e Motel Vouchers
one to three months and provide access to basic needs and referrals to e Safe Parking
services that lead to long-lasting housing stability. These services e Transitional Housing
should be flexible, client-centered, trauma-informed, and strengths- o Street Outreach
based. They will be “low barrier” in that they will not terminate people
from programming due to unhealthy or disruptive behaviors, rather
they will work to minimize the disruption of these behaviors.
Long-Term Housing | Safe and stable housing provides supportive services and housing o Rapid Re-housing
assistance to support people as they return to permanent housing or o Permanent Supportive Housing
permanent housing supported by a mainstream system resource. o Dedicated Affordable Housing
o Shallow Subsidy

Overarching Program Elements: these elements serve as a foundation for all the program models presented in this document

O O O O

corner store, neighborhood, school, and place of employment.

O O O O

job opportunities and family/social networks, etc.)

All staff working in the crisis response system are trained in structural racism and barriers to maintaining housing in Alameda County.
Staff is trained to understand people’s circumstances in relation to their social conditions, including structural racism.

All program information (website, outreach materials, etc.) is translated into County threshold languages.

All program information is disseminated at strategic community touchpoints where those least likely to be connected to services frequent — (e.g., church,

The hiring process for program staff at all levels ensures broad racial and ethnic diversity, including representation of all County threshold languages.
Programs include a portion of staff with “lived experience.”
Staff are trained in trauma-informed care.

Client choice is honored and respected in all programs and centers. Housing assistance is client-driven and helps locate clients that fit their needs (near

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

77



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

PREVENTION AND
EARLY INTERVENTION
SERVICES

Prevention and early intervention services are those provided to people before they enter the homeless services system.
This may include services to both those already experiencing homeless as well as to those at imminent risk.

Program Type and
Description

Essential Elements

Crisis Hotline

A phone-based system
that helps to connect
those in housing a crisis
with resources based on
needs and wants.

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Well-trained staff responds to a crisis with accurate, real-time information that can be individualized to their situation and
available resources.

o The staff understands local programs, their target populations, and can make appropriate assignments that link households to
appropriate housing resources.

o The staff are trained on domestic violence (DV), the DV system, and how to respond and appropriately connect people fleeing DV

to appropriate resources.

Real-time assignment to shelter beds.

Linkage to regional street outreach teams and multi-service drop-in centers if no beds are available.

o Connection to services and resources: Medi-Cal, employment, health care, food, benefits, mental health, behavioral health
services, etc.

Population:

All households in a housing crisis.

o O

Prevention

Program to prevent the
loss of housing for those
at imminent risk of
homelessness

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Those receiving prevention assistance have been engaged in a problem-solving conversation to determine how best to resolve
the housing crisis.
e Programs are designed and implemented in fidelity to models with proven effectiveness at reducing inflow—
more details on effective models available here.

o Culturally competent prevention providers have strategies to reach people of color who are at disproportionate risk of
homelessness.

o Financial assistance is provided when appropriate for agreed-upon activities up to a maximum assistance amount established by
the community.

Services provided:

o Eviction mediation and legal services.

o Housing navigation: on-going for up to three months.

o Connection to wrap-around services — food, childcare, health care, employment supports, benefits, insurance, legal services,
mental and behavioral health services.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 78



http://www.evidenceonhomelessness.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Homelessness_Prevention_Literature_Synthesis.pdf

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

o Marketing of program to reach households in a housing crisis:
o McKinney-Vento liaisons
o Pediatricians
o Prenatal care
o Home visiting service
o Existing model: Family Front Door
Population: Those who meet HUD's definition of imminent risk of homelessness.

Rapid Resolution
Problem-solving with
those who report they
have no place to go to
avoid entry into the
homeless system

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Problem-solving conversation to explore safe alternatives to homelessness; assess for safety and stability.

o Services identified as a safe alternative to provide support for up to six months.

Services provided:

o Housing problem-solving. For more details, refer to the Housing Problem Solving Policy Guide

o Financial assistance — flex funds

o Connection to services and resources: employment, health care, food, transportation, other benefits, mental health, behavioral
health services, etc.

o Emergency hotel vouchers for people who are in the diversion process.
o CE assessment within 24 hours if a safe alternative is not identified or is temporary.
o Housing assistance if the household cannot stabilize in current situation.
o Financial assistance is provided when appropriate, for agreed upon activities up to a maximum assistance amount of
e Provide linkages to providers that have capacity to respond to referrals — very warm hand-offs.
e Health care access points (clinics, pediatricians, Help Me Grow)
e Childcare providers focused on homeless children.
e Family health services in public health department
e Food, transportation, mental health, and behavioral health services, etc.
Population:

Families who report that they have nowhere to sleep tonight

Emergency Resource
Centers

A place to assess family
needs and barriers to
permanent housing,
provide access to
housing and mainstream
resources, and provide
coordination of

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

o Housing-focused services provided co-located with a shelter that includes diversion, housing problem solving, landlord/housing
navigation, addresses barriers (debt, legal, etc.) to promote reunification.

o Service location is welcoming to those in a housing crisis, and the size is adequate to support the service model.

o Other support services provided: education, employment, and training, flexible childcare including during appointments and
employment search (on-site or vouchers), healthcare, document collection, food access, other requirements to meet CPS plans
and prevent removal.

o Staffing model/caseload size: 1:20 max, lower depending on household composition, needs, case manager competencies (MSW,
LCSW...), etc.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 79



https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/HomelessDefinition_RecordkeepingRequirementsandCriteria.pdf

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

community family
services.

Dedicated to homeless
and housing unstable
families and pregnant
women

o Connections to mainstream services: data sharing and coordination between family service providers, on-site staff, and clear
communication and ease of access from and to referring sources (schools, CPS, community networks, etc.)

o Provide for basic needs: food, shower, laundry, hygiene kits, clothes.

o Key partners: WIC, Food banks, PHAs, Parks and Recreation, Libraries, Education, Faith-based providers and communities,
minority community networks

o Other essential elements: Computer labs, homework help, flexibility to meet household needs, physical and process design is
adaptive to families, the inclusion of participants and families with lived experience in developing process and evaluation.

Population:

Homeless and housing unstable families and pregnant women, inclusive of different types of family structures as defined by the
family, accommodates parents and children who work at night

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

80




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Il. CRISIS RESPONSE | Crisis response programs are intended to be time-limited and designed to be a stepping-stone to stability. They will typically last 1-3
months and provide access to basic needs and referrals to services that lead to long-lasting housing stability. These services should
be flexible, client-centered, trauma-informed, and strengths-based. They will be “low barrier” in that they will not terminate people
from programming due to unhealthy or disruptive behaviors, rather will work on other strategies to ensure others in the program
are not adversely impacted.

Program Type and Essential Elements
Description
Emergency Shelter Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

Service-rich, housing- | © Facility-based: 24/7, economies of scale to have many families in one location so services can be efficiently provided. Space is
set up so families are not separated no matter their family configuration (e.g., two-parent, multi-generational, LGBTQ+), and to
not feel over-crowded or chaotic (separate wings, floors, or neighborhoods), with onsite space for support service providers

o Provide privacy, safety, rules that support engagement with school and employment, services that support teens so they remain
with their family. Low barrier and holistic, not institutionalized.

focused, low-barrier
shelter.

o Space arranged to flexibly accommodate all configurations of families with children and changing family composition (e.g.,
including the boyfriend, the grandma, etc.), and a degree of privacy.

o Space for pets & pet-free areas for people with allergies

o Storage space for people’s possessions

o Parking available for resident vehicles

o Services provided:

o Housing navigation
o Housing-focused services:
e CE assessment
e Financial assistance for move-in
e Help with applications and getting on affordable housing lists.
e Problem-solving
e Link to RRH with navigation
Caseload 1:10 families/1:30 people with clinical support
Property management: 1 per facility
Meets Alameda County Emergency Shelter Standards for Year-Round Shelters
Open during the day
Same-day access
Basic needs & family support services:

O O O 0O O O

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 81



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

e Meals.
e Parenting support services.
e Activities for children.
e Childcare for appointments, etc.
e Teen supports.
e Health care — children’s hospital Kerry’s kids; school-based health and mental health services.
o Income supports services: CalWORKs, SOAR.
o Legal Services: DMV, Immigration, employment & housing discrimination.
o Strong linkages to voluntary mainstream services, which should be co-located or brought on site frequently:
e Medical screening/triage
e Behavioral health
e Shelter health
e Intense wrap-around services for high-needs families
e Visiting health nurses
e Head Start
e McKinney-Vento liaison
e CPS

Population: Families experiencing homelessness (inclusive of different types of family structures as defined by the family), pregnant
women, accommodates parents and children who work at night

Emergency Shelter Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Subcategory:
Motel vouchers Motel Voucher programs are expected to mirror the purpose, structure, and operations of Emergency Shelter programs.

o Motel vouchers used in limited circumstances for overflow or special situations such as fleeing domestic violence or in cases of

contagious illness.
o Same housing navigation and other supports as an emergency shelter.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Emergency Shelter
Subcategory:

Safe Parking

A safe and legal place
to stay in a car with
connection to
navigation services
and basic needs

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

Safe Parking programs are expected to mirror the purpose, structure, and operations of Emergency Shelter programs.

o Some safe parking sites co-located with crisis housing or service centers, but others around the county could have mobile
services come out to them.

o Sanitation/bathrooms; overnight security.

o Key partners: churches, cities.

o Access to car repair assistance if needed to utilize safe parking.

Population:
People who are homeless, have a car, and would rather stay in their car than enter a shelter.

Emergency Shelter
Subcategory:
Transitional Housing

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

Transitional Housing programs are expected to mirror the purpose, structure, and operations of Emergency Shelter programs. This
program type was retained under system modeling for funding eligibility purposes.

o Targeted to special populations, e.g., active CPS cases.

Street Outreach
NOTE: No separate
street outreach
program
recommended for
families

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Street outreach teams should include someone knowledgeable about resources for families; the focus should be connecting families
to shelters. If the family remains unsheltered, outreach should maintain contact until they are housed.
o Street outreach workers should be trained in:
e problem-solving to try to identify a safe alternative to homelessness.
e CPSrequirements for homeless families.
e Immigration requirements for people accessing homeless services.

lll. Long-Term Housing

Safe and stable housing that provides supportive services and housing assistance to support people as they return to independent
permanent housing or permanent housing supported by a mainstream system resource.

Overarching Elements of
Long-Term Housing
Models

A single point of application for housing.

Background checks have no restrictions beyond those required by HUD.

Access to legal resources to address housing discrimination.

A community-wide shared landlord listing established to reduce the challenge of locating units.

An emphasis on client choice in all aspects of housing placement.

Warm handoffs are provided when entering housing or transitioning from one housing program to another.

Whenever needed, there are connections to financial management services and training, including credit repair/credit building
support; training and support with budgeting and developing long-term savings; asset-building opportunities.

o Vocational services and employment assistance are available to assist with finding or upgrading employment.

O O O O O O O

Oakland-Berkeley-Alamed

a County Continuum of Care 83




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

If the program staff does not provide requested services, there are connections to mainstream service providers trained in
culturally relevant and trauma-informed approaches to service provision.

Program Type
And Description

Essential Elements

Rapid Re-housing

Assist households who
can increase income to
find and move-in to
housing with temporary
financial assistance

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.
Type of unit: any rental housing unit must meet HQS, have an appropriate rental agreement, documented relationship between

the property owner and management entity.
o Housing-focused services provided: landlord liaison/housing search function, finding units, landlord risk-mitigation pools,

housing-focused case management, rent assistance, flex funds, inspections. Connection to mainstream services—CalFresh,
childcare, employment, benefits advocacy.
o Housing assistance: Security deposit, rent and utility assistance, moving costs, start-up furniture, and household items.

o Ability to progressively engage to Shallow Subsidy or Dedicated Affordable Housing if, after some time of RRH assistance, it

is determined that the household will be unable to increase income to stabilize in housing without assistance. Also can
progressively engage to PSH if a household has intensive service needs not identified when moving into RRH.

o Housing navigation staffing ratio of one FTE for every 20-25 households.

o Landlord liaison/housing search staffing ratio of one FTE for every 30-40 households.

o Employment specialist using IPS evidenced-based model is one FTE for every 20-25 households (separate from care manager

role).

Population:
Most useful for literally homeless households who are likely to increase household income (earned or unearned) within a defined

time frame who score lower on the CE assessment.

Permanent Supportive
Housing

To provide families long-
term, deeply supported,
and affordable housing.

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.
o Type of unit: flexible when family size changes.
o Site-based or scattered-site.
o Housing-focused services provided:
o PSH tenancy sustaining services.
o Landlord liaison.
o Staffing 1:20 for site-based, 1:15 for scattered-site case management.
o Rental subsidy household should only pay 30% of income for rent and have a lease, risk mitigation funds, financial assistance
to move-on.
o Community living supports, tenant rights, landlord engagement (for a scattered site).

o Other support services provided directly or through connections to mainstream service providers: wrap-around services, food,

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

84



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

childcare, budget, meaningful daily activities, IHOT for families, dedicated family approach, MH, employment, school,
education, mobile crisis 24/7 as needed, linkage to clinical support.
o Key partners: mainstream: HDCSS, BMCS, probation, child welfare, schools.
o Other essential elements: strong move-on policy; some level of family support if qualifying member leaves/dies.
Population:
Those experiencing chronic homelessness and/or extremely high need individuals who will need long-term services and subsidy to
maintain housing.

Dedicated Affordable
Housing

Extremely low-income
households

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.
Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.
o Housing can be project-based or tenant-based.

o Services: service coordination to connect to mainstream services, benefits advocacy, CalFresh, educational supports
o Caseload ratio: 1:50 Flexible services, engagement is not required to remain in housing.
o Housing assistance: Security deposit, rent and utility assistance, moving costs, start-up furniture, and household items.
o Possible funding source: Homeless preference at housing authorities.
Population:

Extremely low-income households without complex needs who are unlikely to increase their income.

Shallow Subsidy

Mitigate unaffordability
in the housing market

Refer to the Overarching Program Elements for considerations relevant to all program models.

Refer to the Overarching Elements of Long-Term Housing Models for considerations for this model.

Tenant-based assistance could include shared housing or households willing to support the family through rapid resolution.
Subsidies could be shallow or deep depending on the need.

Housing must meet habitability or HQS standards.

Households can be progressively engaged to be served in PSH or dedicated affordable housing.

Housing assistance: Security deposit, rent and utility assistance, moving costs, start-up furniture, and household items.
Housing must meet habitability or HQS standards.

Light touch services for those with minimal needs, connection to higher-touch services for those with more significant needs
(including case management)

Population:

Households unlikely to increase income because of health or disability issues or educational or employment barriers.
Households paying more than 50% of income for rent.

Households that have been homeless before.

A shallow subsidy is targeted to households employed or likely to be employed.

O O O O O O

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 85




CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

East County includes Dublin, Livermore, Pleasanton, and surrounding unincorporated areas. At 2019 Point in Time
Count, roughly four percent of the CoC homeless population were counted in East County. All the estimates and
recommendations below are based on East County containing four percent of the CoC’s homeless population. It also
assumes that household compositions and needs are relatively consistent across the CoC and that inflow and returns
rates are consistent across sub-geographic regions. Finally, at the writing of this report, the CoC does not have baseline
inventory data for each region. This makes it difficult to provide accurate estimates of the number of additional units
needed. In the future, the Point in Time Count, HMIS, and additional data collection may provide a more detailed
understanding of homeless households’ characteristics and needs in each community, the inflow rate and returns to
homelessness, and the crisis and housing resource inventories.

Scenario 1 East County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 1 assumes that the more equitable and responsive homeless system represented in the model will improve the
rate of permanent housing retention, steadily reducing the 19% rate of returns to homelessness by three percent each
year to seven percent over five years. The inflow of households into the homeless system maintains at 20%, close to the
inflow rate that Alameda County experienced between 2017 and 2019. Scenario 1 begins with a significant investment
of $100 million in year one and then adds $60 million in year two, $50 million in year three, $30 million in year four, and
$250,000 in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 1 is $1.1 billion.

Scenario 1 East County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%
Returns Rate 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households |n the System 642 697 678 642 634
Annual Exits 334 486 578 633 634
Annual Remaining 308 211 100 8 0
% unmet need 48% 30% 15% 1% 0%
Scenario 1 East County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resalution 8 11 14 16 16
Emergency Shelter 43 af 70 81 82
Transitional Housing 7 9 11 13 13
Rapid Re-Housing 72 96 118 136 138
PSH 53 72 88 101 103
PSH-Seniors 33 45 a8 63 54
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 94 125 153 177 180
Shallow Subsidy 43 o8 71 82 83

Figure 37 Scenario 1, East County 5-Year for Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 East County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 uses the same rate of return and inflow rate as Scenario 1, assuming that retention will quickly improve,
reducing by three percent each year to seven percent returning in the fifth year. Scenario 2 also assumes that inflow into
homelessness will remain both steady and high at 20%. Finally, Scenario 2 adds $50 million of new investment each year.
The combined countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling up in Scenario 2 is $956 million.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 86



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Scenario 2 East County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%
Returns Rate 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 642 758 870 a17 960
Annual Exits 263 334 486 578 670
Annual Remaining 379 423 384 339 290
% unmet need 59% 56% 44% 37% 30%
Scenario 2 East County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 7 7 9 10 11
Emergency Shelter 34 36 46 52 a7
Transitional Housing 5 6 7 8 8
Rapid Re-Housing 56 61 77 a7 96
PSH 42 45 57 65 72
PSH-Seniors 26 28 36 40 45
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 74 79 100 113 125
Shallow Subsidy 34 37 47 53 58

Figure 38: Scenario 2, East County 5-Year for Households with Only Adults

The below side-by-side charts represent the different impacts of each investment scenario in the homeless population:
annual population (blue), exits from homelessness (red), and annual remaining (green). These graphs show that
investment strategy impacts significant investment early in the process and can quickly turn the curve. At the same time,
both scenarios indicate that hundreds of adults will continue to experience homelessness each year in East County, even
after five years of aggressive investment. These households are likely to be disproportionately people of color and, in
particular, Black and Native Americans. Without addressing the factors driving homelessness—racism, economic
inequality, and housing shortfalls—homelessness will continue to harm an extraordinary number of adults in Alameda
County.

Scenario 1 East County Investment Impact

Households with only Adults Scenario 2 East County Investment Impact

1,000 i
o 1,000 Househalds with Only Adults

900
800

800
700
700

600
500 600
400 200
300 00 /
200 300
100 200
100

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 3

Yi 1 ¥i 2 A { 3 Yi 4 ¥i 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025) {:;‘2'1} {;;2’2} (:;‘;3} {;;2'4} I;;I{Sl
===Annual Households in the System ====Annual Exits Annual Remaining = Annual Households in the System  =—Annual Exits Annual Remaining

Figure 39: Scenarios 1 and 2 Compared, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 1 East County, Households with Minor Children
Scenario 1 assumes inflow into the homeless system is realistic, maintaining at 20% year after year, close to the inflow
rate of 22% that Alameda County saw between 2017 and 2019. It also assumes that the modeled system will be more

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 87



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

equitable and effective than the current system, resulting in higher permanent housing retention rates. The rate of
returns steadily reduces by two percent each year from 12% to four percent over five years. Scenario 1 begins with a
significant countywide investment of $13 million in year one, and then adds $8 million in year two, S5 million in year
three, $2 million in year four, and $1 million in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up the
response for homeless households with minor children is $135 million (rounded) over five years.

Scenario 1 East County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard Households with Minor Children

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System a0 a3 a1 48 48
Annual Exits 27 35 44 47 48
Annual Remaining 24 17 ] 1 (0}
% unmet need 47% 33% 15% 3% 0%
Scenario 1 East County 5-Year Inventory Needs Households with Minor Children

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 1 1 1 1 1
Emergency Shelter 8] 7 9 10 10
Rapid Re-Housing 4 5 7 7 7
PSH 3 4 4 5 3
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 8 11 13 14 15
Shallow Subsidy 11 14 17 19 19

Figure 40: Scenario 1, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 East County, Households with Minor Children
Scenario 2 reflects the same returns and inflow rates as Scenario 1. Scenario 2 adds $6 million of new investment each
year. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 2 is $108 million (rounded).

Scenario 2 East County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard,| Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 50 58 65 74 80
Annual Exits 21 26 31 41 51
Annual Remaining 30 32 34 33 29
% unmet need 59% 55% 53% 45% 37%
Scenario 2 East County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 1 1 1 1 1
Emergency Shelter 4 5 6 9 11
Rapid Re-Housing 3 4 5 6 8
Permanent Supportive Housing 2 3 3 4 5
Dedicated Affordable Housing 6 8 9 12 15
Shallow Subsidy 8 10 12 16 20

Figure 41: Scenario 2, Households with Minor Children

Figures 41 and 42 show the impact of Scenario 1 and 2 in East County for comparison of the annual number of homeless
households with minor children (blue), the number of households that exit to permanent housing (red), and the number

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 88



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

of households with minor children that remain homeless from one year to the next (green). These graphs show that the
investment scenario matters.

Significant investment early on can turn the curve of homelessness for households with minor children. Both scenarios
show that scores of families with minor children will continue to experience homelessness each year in East County.
These are likely to be disproportionately households of color, specifically Black and Native American households.
Addressing the factors driving homelessness, namely structural racism, economic inequality, and housing shortages, is
intrinsic to ending family homelessness.

Scenario 1 East County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

90
80
70
60
50

40

30 /

20

10
0

Year1 Year2 Year3 Year4 Year5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

== Annual Households in the System ====Annual Exits ====Annual Remaining

Figure 42: Scenario 1, East County Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 East County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

90
80
70
60

50
20

10

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

= Annual Households in the System ====Annual Exits ===—Annual Remaining

Figure 43: Scenario 2, East County Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 89



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Mid-County includes Alameda, Hayward, San Leandro, and the surrounding unincorporated areas including, Ashland,
Castro Valley, Cherryland, Fairview, and San Lorenzo. At 2019 Point in Time Count, roughly 18.5% of the CoC homeless
population were counted in Mid-County. All the estimates and recommendations below are based on Mid-County
containing, 18.5% of the CoC’s homeless population of households with only adults and households with minor children.
It assumes that household compositions and characteristics are relatively consistent across the CoC and that inflow and
returns rates are consistent across sub-geographic regions. Finally, at the writing of this report, the CoC does not have
baseline inventory data for each region. This makes it difficult to provide accurate estimates of the number of additional
units needed. In the future, the Point in Time Count, HMIS, and additional data collection may provide a more detailed
understanding of homeless households’ characteristics and needs in each community, the inflow rate and returns to
homelessness, and the crisis and housing resource inventories.

Scenario 1 Mid-County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 1 assumes that the more equitable and responsive homeless system represented in the model will improve the
rate of permanent housing retention, steadily reducing the 19% rate of returns to homelessness by three percent each
year to seven percent over five years. The inflow of households into the homeless system maintains at 20%, close to the
inflow rate that Alameda County experienced between 2017 and 2019. Scenario 1 begins with a significant investment
of $100 million in year one and then adds $S60 million in year two, $50 million in year three, $30 million in year four, and
$250,000 in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 1 is $1.1 billion.

Scenario 1 Mid-County CoC 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 19% 19% 19% 19% 19%
Returns Rate 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 2,761 3,000 2917 2,761 2,727
Annual Exits 1,438 2092 2488 2725 2727
Annual Remaining 1,323 908 429 36 0
% unmet need 45% 30% 15% 1% 0%
Scenario 1 Mid-County CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 36 48 59 68 69
Emergency Shelter 184 247 302 350 354
Transitional Housing 29 38 47 55 55
Rapid Re-Housing 309 414 506 586 593
PSH 230 308 377 436 442
PSH-Seniors 144 193 236 273 276
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 403 539 660 763 773
Shallow Subsidy 157 250 306 394 359

Figure 44: Scenario 1, Mid-County CoC, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 Mid-County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 uses the same rate of return and inflow rate as Scenario 1, assuming that retention will quickly improve,
reducing by three percent each year to seven percent returning in the fifth year. Scenario 2 also assumes that inflow into
homelessness will remain both steady and high at 20%. Finally, Scenario 2 adds $50 million of new investment each year.
The combined countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling up in Scenario 2 is $956 million.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 90



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Scenario 2 Mid-County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 18% 19% 19% 19% 18%
Returns Rate 18% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 2,761 3,269 3.744 3.945 4132
Annual Exits 1,130 1,438 2.002 2488 2.883
Annual Remaining 1,631 1.821 1,652 1,458 1,249
% unmet need 59% 56% 44% 37% 30%
Scenario 2 Mid-County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 28 31 38 43 48
Emergency Shelter 145 157 198 223 247
Transitional Housing 23 24 3 35 38
Rapid Re-Housing 243 262 332 374 414
PSH 181 195 247 279 308
PSH-Seniors 113 122 154 174 193
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 316 341 432 487 540
Shallow Subsidy 147 159 201 226 250

Figure 45, Scenario 2, Mid-County, Households with Only Adults

Figure 44 represents the different impacts of each investment scenario in the homeless population: annual population
(blue), exits from homelessness (red), and annual remaining (green). These graphs show that investment strategy
impacts significant investment early in the process and can quickly turn the curve. At the same time, both scenarios
indicate that thousands of adults will continue to experience homelessness each year in Mid-County, even after five
years of aggressive investment. These households are likely to be disproportionately people of color and, in particular,
Black and Native Americans. Without addressing the factors driving homelessness—racism, economic inequality, and
housing shortfalls—homelessness will continue to harm an extraordinary number of adults in Alameda County.

Scenario 1 Mid-County Investment Impact Scenario 2 Mid-County Investment Impact
Households with Only Adults Households with Only Adults

4,500 4,500

4,000 4,000
3,500 3,500
3,000 3,000
2,500 2,500
2,000 2,000

1,500 1,500 /

1,000 1,000
500 500
0 o
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025) (2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
=== Annual HH in the System = Annual Exits Annual Remaining = Annual Households in the System =——Annual Exits Annual Remaining

Figure 46: Comparison of Mid-County Scenarios 1 and 2

Scenario 1 Mid-County, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 1 assumes inflow into the homeless system is realistic, maintaining at 20% year after year, close to the inflow
rate of 22% that Alameda County saw between 2017 and 2019. It also assumes that the modeled system will be more
equitable and effective than the current system, resulting in higher permanent housing retention rates. The rate of
returns steadily reduces by two percent each year from 12% to four percent over five years. Scenario 1 begins with a
significant countywide investment of $13 million in year one and then adds $8 million in year two, $5 million in year

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 91



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

three, $2 million in year four, and $1 million in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up the
response for homeless households with minor children is $135 million (rounded) over five years.

Scenario 1 Mid-County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard Households with Minor Children

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 19% 19% 19% 19% 19%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 5% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 217 226 221 207 208
Annual Exits 114 152 187 201 208
Annual Remaining 102 74 34 6 (0)
% unmet need 47% 33% 15% 3% 0%
Scenario 1 Mid-County 5-Year Inventory Needs Households with Minor Children

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 3 4 5 5 5
Emergency Shelter 24 32 39 42 43
Rapid Re-Housing 17 23 28 30 3
PSH 11 15 19 20 21
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 34 46 a6 60 63
Shallow Subsidy 46 61 75 80 83

Figure 47: Scenario 1, Mid-County, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 Mid-County, Households with Minor Children
Scenario 2 reflects the same returns and inflow rates as Scenario 1. Scenario 2 adds $6 million of new investment each
year. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 2 is $108 million.

Scenario 2 Mid-County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 19% 19% 19% 19% 19%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 217 249 282 318 344
Annual Exits 89 111 134 176 218
Annual Remaining 127 138 148 142 126
% unmet need 59% 55% 53% 45% 37%
Scenario 2 Mid-County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 2 3 3 4 5
Emergency Shelter 19 23 28 37 45
Rapid Re-Housing 13 17 20 26 33
Permanent Supportive Housing 9 11 13 18 22
Dedicated Affordable Housing 27 33 40 53 65
Shallow Subsidy 36 44 53 70 87

Figure 48: Scenario 2, Mid-County, Households with Minor Children

Figures 47 and 48 show the impact of Scenario 1 and 2 in Mid-County for comparison of the annual number of homeless
households with minor children (blue), the number of households that exit to permanent housing (red), and the number
of households with minor children that remain homeless from one year to the next (green). These graphs show that the

investment scenario matters.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 92



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Significant investment early on can turn the curve of homelessness for households with minor children. Both scenarios
show that hundreds of families with minor children will continue to experience homelessness each year in Mid-County.
These are likely to be disproportionately households of color, specifically Black and Native American households.
Addressing the factors driving homelessness, namely structural racism, economic inequality, and housing shortages, is
intrinsic to ending family homelessness.
Scenario 1 Mid-County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

400
350
300
250
200 ———

150 /
100

50 \
0

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
= Annual Households in the System =——=Annual Exits =—Annual Remaining

Figure 49: Scenario 1, Mid-County Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 Mid-County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

400

350

300

250

200 /
150 —
100 /

50
0
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
= Annual Households in the System =—=Annual Exits == Annual Remaining

Figure 50: Scenario 2, Mid-County Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 93



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

North County includes Albany, Berkeley, and Emeryville. At 2019 Point in Time Count, roughly 16.5% of the CoC
homeless population were counted in North County. All the estimates and recommendations below are based on North
County, containing 16.5% of the CoC’s homeless population of households with only adults and households with minor
children. It assumes that household compositions and characteristics are relatively consistent across the CoC and that
inflow and returns rates are consistent across sub-geographic regions. Finally, at the writing of this report, the CoC does
not have baseline inventory data for each region. This makes it difficult to provide accurate estimates of the number of
additional units needed. In the future, the Point in Time Count, HMIS, and additional data collection may provide a more
detailed understanding of homeless households’ characteristics and needs of homeless households in each community,
the inflow rate and returns to homelessness, and the crisis and housing resource inventories.

Scenario 1 North County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 1 assumes that the more equitable and responsive homeless system represented in the model will improve the
rate of permanent housing retention, steadily reducing the 19% rate of returns to homelessness by three percent each
year to seven percent over five years. The inflow of households into the homeless system maintains at 20%, close to the
inflow rate that Alameda County experienced between 2017 and 2019. Scenario 1 begins with a significant investment
of $100 million in year one and then adds $60 million in year two, $50 million in year three, $30 million in year four, and
$250,000 in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 1 is $1.1 billion.

Scenario 1 North County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 17% 17% 17% 17% 17%
Returns Rate 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 2463 2676 2601 2463 2432
Annual Exits 1,283 1,866 2219 243 2432
Annual Remaining 1,180 810 382 32 0
% unmet need 48% 30% 15% 1% 0%
Scenario 1 North County CoC 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 32 43 52 61 62
Emergency Shelter 165 220 269 312 316
Transitional Housing 26 34 42 49 49
Rapid Re-Housing 276 369 451 522 529
PSH 205 275 336 389 394
PSH-Seniors 128 172 210 243 246
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 359 481 588 680 689
Shallow Subsidy 167 223 273 316 320

Figure 51: Scenario 1, North County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 North County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 uses the same rate of return and inflow rate as Scenario 1, assuming that retention will quickly improve,
reducing by three percent each year to seven percent returning in the fifth year. Scenario 2 also assumes that inflow into
homelessness will remain both steady and high at 20%. Finally, Scenario 2 adds $50 million of new investment each year.
The combined countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling up in Scenario 2 is $956 million.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 94



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Scenario 2 North County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 17% 17% 17% 17% 17%
Returns Raie 18% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Househaolds in the System 2,463 2,907 3,340 3,519 3,685
Annual Exits 1,008 1,283 1,866 2,219 2.572
Annual Remaining 1,455 1,624 1.474 1,300 1.114
% unmet need 59% 56% 44% 37% 30%
Scenario 2 North County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 25 27 34 39 43
Emergency Shelter 129 140 176 199 220
Transitional Housing 20 22 28 31 34
Rapid Re-Housing 217 234 206 334 369
PSH 161 174 220 248 275
PSH-Seniors 101 109 138 155 172
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 282 304 385 435 481
Shallow Subsidy 131 141 179 202 223

Figure 52: Scenario 2, North County, Households with Only Adults

Figure 51 represents the different impacts of each investment scenario in the homeless population: annual population
(blue), exits from homelessness (red), and annual remaining (green). These graphs show that investment strategy
impacts significant investment early in the process and can quickly turn the curve. At the same time, both scenarios
indicate that thousands of adults will continue to experience homelessness each year in North County, even after five
years of aggressive investment. These households are likely to be disproportionately people of color and, in particular,
Black and Native Americans. Without addressing the factors driving homelessness—racism, economic inequality, and
housing shortfalls—homelessness will continue to harm an extraordinary number of adults in Alameda County.

Scenario 1 North County Investment Impact Scenario 2 North County Investment Impact
Households with Only Adults Households with Only Adults

4,000 4,000

3,500 3,500

3,000 3,000

2,500 — 3,500

2,000 2,000 /
1,500 1,500 /

1,000 1,000
500 500
o 0
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year4 Year5 Year1 Year2 Year3 Yeard Years
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025) (2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
= Annual HH in the System = Annual Exits Annual Remaining = Annual Households in the System == Annual Exits Annual Remaining

Figure 53: Scenarios 1 and 2 Comparison in North County

Scenario 1 North County, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 1 assumes inflow into the homeless system is realistic, maintaining at 20% year after year, close to the inflow
rate of 22% that Alameda County saw between 2017 and 2019. It also assumes that the modeled system will be more
equitable and effective than the current system, resulting in higher permanent housing retention rates. The rate of
returns steadily reduces by two percent each year from 12% to four percent over five years. Scenario 1 begins with a
significant countywide investment of $13 million in year one and then adds $8 million in year two, $5 million in year

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 95



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

three, $2 million in year four, and $1 million in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up the
response for homeless households with minor children is $135 million (rounded) over five years.

Scenario 1 North County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 17% 17% 17% 17% 17%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 5% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 193 202 197 184 185
Annual Exits 102 136 167 179 186
Annual Remaining 91 66 30 5 (0)
% unmet need 47% 33% 15% 3% 0%
Scenario 1 North County 5-Year Inventory Needs Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 2 3 4 4 5
Emergency Shelter 21 28 35 37 39
Rapid Re-Housing 15 20 25 27 28
PSH 10 14 17 18 19
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 3 41 50 54 a6
Shallow Subsidy 41 54 67 72 74

Figure 54: Scenario 1, North County, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 North County, Households with Minor Children
Scenario 2 reflects the same returns and inflow rates as Scenario 1. Scenario 2 adds $6 million of new investment each
year. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 2 is $108 million (rounded).

Scenario 2 North County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 17% 17% 17% 17% 17%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 193 222 251 284 306
Annual Exits 79 99 119 157 194
Annual Remaining 114 123 132 127 112
% unmet need 59% 55% 53% 45% 37%
Scenario 2 North County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 2 2 3 4 5
Emergency Shelter 17 21 25 33 40
Rapid Re-Housing 12 15 18 23 29
Permanent Supportive Housing 8 10 12 16 19
Dedicated Affordable Housing 24 30 36 47 58
Shallow Subsidy 32 39 48 83 78

Figure 55: Scenario 2, North County, Households with Minor

Figures 54 and 55 show the impact of Scenario 1 and 2 in North County for comparison of the annual number of
homeless households with minor children (blue), the number of households that exit to permanent housing (red), and
the number of households with minor children that remain homeless from one year to the next (green). These graphs
show that the investment scenario matters.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 96



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Significant investment early on can turn the curve of homelessness for households with minor children. Both scenarios
show that hundreds of families with minor children will continue to experience homelessness each year in North County.
These are likely to be disproportionately households of color, specifically Black and Native American households.
Addressing the factors driving homelessness, namely structural racism, economic inequality, and housing shortages, is
intrinsic to ending family homelessness.

Scenario 1 North County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

350
300
250
200

150 //
100

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

= Annual Households in the System =—=Annual Exits =——Annual Remaining

Figure 56: Scenario 1, North County Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 North County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children
350
300
250
200
150
100
50

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

=== Annual Househaolds in the System ====Annual Exits ====Annual Remaining

Figure 57: Scenario 2, North County Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 97



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Oakland includes the cities of Oakland and Piedmont. At 2019 Point in Time Count, roughly 50.7% of the CoC homeless
population were counted in Oakland. All the estimates and recommendations below are based on Oakland containing
50.7% of the CoC’s homeless population of households with only adults and households with minor children. It assumes
that household compositions and characteristics are relatively consistent across the CoC and that inflow and returns
rates are consistent across sub-geographic regions. Finally, at the writing of this report, the CoC does not have baseline
inventory data for each region. This makes it difficult to provide accurate estimates of the number of additional units
needed. In the future, the Point in Time Count, HMIS, and additional data collection may provide a more detailed
understanding of homeless households’ characteristics and needs of homeless households in each community, the
inflow rate and returns to homelessness, and the crisis and housing resource inventories.

Scenario 1 Oakland, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 1 assumes that the more equitable and responsive homeless system represented in the model will improve the
rate of permanent housing retention, steadily reducing the 19% rate of returns to homelessness by three percent each
year to seven percent over five years. The inflow of households into the homeless system maintains at 20%, close to the
inflow rate that Alameda County experienced between 2017 and 2019. Scenario 1 begins with a significant investment
of $100 million in year one and then adds $60 million in year two, $50 million in year three, $30 million in year four, and
$250,000 in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 1 is $1.1 billion.

Scenario 1 Oakland 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 51% 51% 51% 51% 51%
Returns Rate 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 7.567 8,222 7,993 7,567 7474
Annual Exits 3.941 5,733 6,818 7.469 7.474
Annual Remaining 3,626 2,489 1,175 99 0
% unmet need 48% 30% 15% 1% 0%
Scenario 1 Oakland 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

{2021) {2022) {2023) {2024) (2025}
HF/Rapid Resolution 93 132 161 187 189
Emergency Shelter 505 677 828 958 971
Transitional Housing 79 105 129 150 151
Rapid Re-Housing 848 1,134 1,387 1,605 1,626
PSH 631 844 1,033 1,195 1,211
PSH-Seniors 394 h28 645 747 756
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 1.103 1.477 1,807 2,091 2,118
Shallow Subsidy 512 GE6 839 971 983

Figure 58: Scenario 1, Oakland, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 North County, Households with Only Adults
Scenario 2 uses the same rate of return and inflow rate as Scenario 1, assuming that retention will quickly improve,
reducing by three percent each year to seven percent returning in the fifth year. Scenario 2 also assumes that inflow into

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 98



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

homelessness will remain both steady and high at 20%. Finally, Scenario 2 adds $50 million of new investment each year.
The combined countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling up in Scenario 2 is $956 million.

Scenario 2 Oakland 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 1% 1% 1% 1% 51%
Returns Rate 18% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 7,967 8,932 10,262 10,812 11,324
Annual Exits 3.096 3.941 2.733 G.618 7.902
Annual Remaining 4,471 4,991 4,528 3,994 3,422
% unmei need 59% 56% 44% 37% 30%
Scenario 2 Oakland 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 76 84 105 119 132
Emergency Shelter 397 428 542 612 677
Transitional Housing 62 67 85 a5 105
Rapid Re-Housing 666 718 g09 1,026 1,135
PSH 495 534 676 764 845
PSH-Seniors 310 334 423 477 528
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 867 935 1,184 1,336 1,479
Shallow Subsidy 403 434 550 620 686

Figure 59: Scenario 2, Oakland, Households with Only Adults

Figure 58 shows the different impacts of each investment scenario in the homeless population: annual population (blue),
exits from homelessness (red), and annual remaining (green). These graphs show that investment strategy impacts
significant investment early in the process and can quickly turn the curve. At the same time, both scenarios indicate that
thousands of adults will experience homelessness each year in Oakland, even after five years of aggressive investment.
These households are likely to be disproportionately people of color and, in particular, Black and Native Americans.
Without addressing the factors driving homelessness—racism, economic inequality, and housing shortfalls—
homelessness will continue to harm an extraordinary number of adults in Alameda County.

Scenario 1 Oakland Investment Impact Scenario 2 Oakland Investment Impact
Households with Only Adults Households with Only Adults
12,000 12,000

10,000 10,000

8,000 8,000
6,000 6,000 /
4,000 4,000 /

2,000 2,000

Year1l Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025) (2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

——Annual HH in the System =—Annual Exits Annual Remaining =——Annual Households in the System ===Annual Exits Annual Remaining
Figure 60: Scenarios 1 and 2 Compared, Oakland, Households with Only Adults
Scenario 1 Oakland, Households with Minor Children
Scenario 1 assumes inflow into the homeless system is realistic, maintaining at 20% year after year, close to the inflow

rate of 22% that Alameda County saw between 2017 and 2019. It also assumes that the modeled system will be more
equitable and effective than the current system, resulting in higher permanent housing retention rates. The rate of

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 99



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

returns steadily reduces by two percent each year from 12% to four percent over five years. Scenario 1 begins with a
significant countywide investment of $13 million in year one and then adds $8 million in year two, $5 million in year
three, $2 million in year four, and $1 million in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up the
response for homeless households with minor children is $135 million (rounded) over five years.

Scenario 1 Oakland 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 51% 51% 51% 51% 51%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 5% 6% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 594 619 605 567 570
Annual Exits 313 417 513 551 571
Annual Remaining 280 202 92 15 (1)
% unmet need 47% 33% 15% 3% 0%
Scenario 1 Oakland 5-Year Inventory Needs Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 8 11 13 14 14
Emergency Shelter 65 g7 106 115 119
Rapid Re-Housing 47 62 77 83 86
PSH 31 42 51 55 57
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 94 125 154 166 171
Shallow Subsidy 125 167 205 221 228

Figure 61: Scenario 1, Oakland, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 Oakland, Households with Minor Children
Scenario 2 reflects the same returns and inflow rates as Scenario 1. Scenario 2 adds $6 million of new investment each
year. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 2 is $108 million (rounded).

Scenario 2 Oakland 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 51% 51% 51% 51% 51%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 594 682 772 871 941
Annual Exits 244 304 366 482 597
Annual Remaining 349 378 406 390 345
% unmet need 59% 55% 53% 45% 37%
Scenario 2 Oakland 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 6 8 9 12 15
Emergency Shelter 51 63 76 100 124
Rapid Re-Housing 37 46 55 72 90
Permanent Supportive Housing 24 30 37 48 60
Dedicated Affordable Housing 73 91 110 144 179
Shallow Subsidy 98 121 147 193 239

Figure 62: Scenario 2, Oakland, Households with Minor Children

Figures 61 and 62 show the impact of Scenario 1 and 2 in Oakland for comparison of the annual number of homeless
households with minor children (blue), the number of households that exit to permanent housing (red), and the number
of households with minor children that remain homeless from one year to the next (green). These graphs show that the
investment scenario matters.

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 100



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Significant investment early on can turn the curve of homelessness for households with minor children. Both scenarios

show that hundreds of families with minor children will continue to experience homelessness each year in Oakland.
These are likely to be disproportionately households of color, specifically Black and Native American households.

Addressing the factors driving homelessness, namely structural racism, economic inequality, and housing shortages, is

intrinsic to ending family homelessness.

Scenario 1 Oakland Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

1,000

800

600

400 /

Yearl Year 2 Year3 Year 4 Year5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

—Annual Households in the System =—=Annual Exits =———Annual Remaining

Figure 63: Scenario 1, Oakland, Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 Oakland Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

1,000

800
600 //

200

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

Annual Households in the System Annual Exits ==Annual Remaining

Figure 64: Scenario 2, Oakland, Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care

101



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

South County includes Fremont, Newark, and Union City. At 2019 Point in Time Count, 10% of the CoC homeless
population were counted in South County. All the estimates and recommendations below are based on South County,
containing 10% of the CoC’s homeless population of households with only adults and households with minor children. It
assumes that household compositions and characteristics are relatively consistent across the CoC and that inflow and
returns rates are consistent across sub-geographic regions. Finally, at the writing of this report, the CoC does not have
baseline inventory data for each region. This makes it difficult to provide accurate estimates of the number of additional
units needed. In the future, the Point in Time Count, HMIS, and additional data collection may provide a more detailed
understanding of homeless households’ characteristics and needs of homeless households in each community, the
inflow rate and returns to homelessness, and the crisis and housing resource inventories.

Scenario 1 South County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 1 assumes that the more equitable and responsive homeless system represented in the model will improve the
rate of permanent housing retention, steadily reducing the 19% rate of returns to homelessness by three percent each
year to seven percent over five years. The inflow of households into the homeless system maintains at 20%, close to the
inflow rate that Alameda County experienced between 2017 and 2019. Scenario 1 begins with a significant investment
of $100 million in year one and then adds $60 million in year two, $50 million in year three, $30 million in year four, and
$250,000 in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 1 is $1.1 billion.

Scenario 1 South County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Yeard Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%
Returns Rate 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 1,493 1,622 1,577 1,493 1474
Annual Exits 77 1,131 1,345 1,473 1,474
Annual Remaining 715 491 232 20 0
% unmet need 48% 30% 15% 1% 0%
Scenario 1 South County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 19 26 32 37 37
Emergency Shelter 100 134 163 189 192
Transitional Housing 16 21 26 30 30
Rapid Re-Housing 167 224 274 317 321
PSH 124 167 204 236 239
PSH-Seniors 78 104 127 147 149
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 218 291 357 412 418
Shallow Subsidy 101 135 166 192 194

Figure 65: Scenario 1, South County, Households with Only Adults

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 102



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Scenario 2 South County, Households with Only Adults

Scenario 2 uses the same rate of return and inflow rate as Scenario 1, assuming that retention will quickly improve,
reducing by three percent each year to seven percent returning in the fifth year. Scenario 2 also assumes that inflow into
homelessness will remain both steady and high at 20%. Finally, Scenario 2 adds $50 million of new investment each year.
The combined countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling up in Scenario 2 is $956 million.

Scenario 2 South County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Only Adults

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%
Returns Rate 19% 16% 13% 10% 7%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 1,493 1,762 2.024 2,133 2,234
Annual Exits 611 77T 1.131 1.345 1,590
Annual Remaining 882 984 893 788 675
% unmet need 59% 56% 44% a7% 30%
Scenario 2 South County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Only Adults

Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HPF/Rapid Resolution 15 17 21 24 26
Emergency Shelter 78 85 107 121 134
Transitional Housing 12 13 17 19 21
Rapid Re-Housing 131 142 179 202 224
PSH o8 105 133 151 167
PSH-Seniors 61 66 83 94 104
Dedicated Affordable Hsqg 171 184 234 264 202
Shallow Subsidy 79 86 108 122 135

Figure 66: Scenario 2, South County, Households with Only Adults

Figure 65 represents the different impacts of each investment scenario in the homeless population: annual population
(blue), exits from homelessness (red), and annual remaining (green). These graphs show that investment strategy
impacts significant investment early in the process and can quickly turn the curve. At the same time, both scenarios
indicate that thousands of adults will experience homelessness each year in South County, even after five years of
aggressive investment. These households are likely to be disproportionately people of color and, in particular, Black and
Native Americans. Without addressing the factors driving homelessness—racism, economic inequality, and housing
shortfalls—homelessness will continue to harm an extraordinary number of adults in Alameda County.

Scenario 1 South County Investment Impact

Households with Only Adults Scenario 2 South County Investment Impact

Households with Only Adults

2,500
2,500

2,000
2,000

1,500 —_—
1,500

1,000 //
1,000

500 /

500

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 0
2021} (2022) (2023) (2024 (2025) Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

= Annual Households in the System =——Annual Exits Annual Remaining (2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

—Annual Households in the System ——Annual Exits Annual Remaining

Figure 67: Scenarios 1 and 2 Compared for South County

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 103



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN

Scenario 1 South County, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 1 assumes inflow into the homeless system is realistic, maintaining at 20% year after year, close to the inflow
rate of 22% that Alameda County saw between 2017 and 2019. It also assumes that the modeled system will be more
equitable and effective than the current system, resulting in higher permanent housing retention rates. The rate of
returns steadily reduces by two percent each year from 12% to four percent over five years. Scenario 1 begins with a
significant countywide investment of $13 million in year one and then adds $8 million in year two, $5 million in year
three, $2 million in year four, and $1 million in year five. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up the
response for homeless households with minor children is $135 million (rounded) over five years.

Scenario 1 South County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashbeoard Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 5% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 117 122 119 112 112
Annual Exits 62 82 101 109 113
Annual Remaining 55 40 18 3 (0)
% unmet need 47% 33% 15% 3% 0%

Scenario 1 South County 5-Year Inventory Needs Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
HP/Rapid Resolution 2 2 3 3 3
Emergency Shelter 13 17 21 23 23
Rapid Re-Housing 9 12 15 16 17
PSH 6 8 10 11 11
Dedicated Affordable Hsg 19 25 30 33 34
Shallow Subsidy 25 33 41 44 45

Figure 68: Scenario 1, South County, Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 South County, Households with Minor Children
Scenario 2 reflects the same returns and inflow rates as Scenario 1. Scenario 2 adds $6 million of new investment each
year. The total countywide cost of Leveling Up and Scaling Up in Scenario 2 is $108 million (rounded).

Scenario 2 South County 5-Year Investment Impact Dashboard, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Percent of PIT 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%
Returns Rate 12% 10% 8% 6% 4%
Inflow Rate 20% 20% 20% 20% 20%
Annual Households in the System 117 134 152 172 186
Annual Exits 48 60 72 95 118
Annual Remaining 69 75 80 77 68
% unmet need 59% 55% 53% 45% 37%
Scenario 2 South County 5-Year Inventory Needs, Households with Minor Children

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)
Homeless Prevention/Rapid Resolution 1 2 2 2 3
Emergency Shelter 10 13 15 20 25
Rapid Re-Housing 7 9 11 14 18
Permanent Supportive Housing 5 6 7 10 12
Dedicated Affordable Housing 14 18 22 29 35
Shallow Subsidy 19 24 29 38 47

Figure 69: Scenario 2, South County, Households with Minor Children

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 104



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Figures 68 and 69 show the impact of Scenario 1 and 2 in South County for comparison of the annual number of
homeless households with minor children (blue), the number of households that exit to permanent housing (red), and
the number of households with minor children that remain homeless from one year to the next (green). These graphs
show that the investment scenario matters.

Significant investment early on can turn the curve of homelessness for households with minor children. Both scenarios
show that scores of families with minor children will continue to experience homelessness each year in South County.
These are likely to be disproportionately households of color, specifically Black and Native American households.
Addressing the factors driving homelessness, namely structural racism, economic inequality, and housing shortages, is
intrinsic to ending family homelessness.

Scenario 1 South County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

200

150

100 /

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 3
(2021} (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

== Annual Households in the System ====AnnualExits ===AnnualRemaining

Figure 70: Scenario 1, South County, Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Scenario 2 South County Investment Impact
Households with Minor Children

200
150
100
50
0
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
(2021) (2022) (2023) (2024) (2025)

== Annual Households in the System == Annual Exits ==Annual Remaining

Figure 71: Scenario 2, South County, Investment Impact Households with Minor Children

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 105



CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

Sources

! Applied Survey Research, 2019, Alameda EveryOne Home Homeless Count & Survey, Watsonville, CA.

2 US Census Bureau. (2020, April 24). Quick Facts Alameda County, California. Population estimates July 1, 2019
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/alamedacountycalifornia

3 paul,D., Knight,K., Olsen, P., Weeks, J., Yen, I., Kushel, M. (2019). Racial discrimination in the life course of older adults
experiencing homelessness: results from the HOPE HOME study. Journal of Social Distress and the Homeless, DOI:
10.1080/10530789.2019.1702248

4 Roots, Race, and Place. https://belonging.berkeley.edu/rootsraceplace

®> United States Census Bureau. (2020, April 27). Quick Facts, Alameda County CA.
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/alamedacountycalifornia

6 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Office of Policy Development and Research. (2019).
Comprehensive Housing Market Analysis: Oakland-Hayward-Berkeley, California.
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/publications/pdf/OaklandCA-CHMA-19.pdf

7 California Housing Partnership, Alameda County’s Housing Emergency Update, https://1p08d91kd0c03rIxhmhtydpr-
wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Alameda-HNR-2019-Final.pdf

8 California Housing Partnership, http://1p08d91kd0c03rIxhmhtydpr.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-
content/uploads/2017/05/Alameda-County-2017.pdf

9 Alameda County Social Services Agency. (2020 April 23), Financial Assistance: General Assistance.
https://www.alamedasocialservices.org/public/services/financial assistance/general assistance.cfm
Pworld Institute on Disability. (2020, April 23). Disability Benefits 101:working with a disability in California.
https://ca.db101.org/ca/programs/income support/calworks/program2b.htm

11 March average amount paid accessed 4/23/2020

U.S. Social Security Administration. (2020, April 23). Selected Data From Social Security’s Disability Program.
https://www.ssa.gov/oact/STATS/dib-g3.html

12 AARP. (2020, April 23) How Much Will | Get From Social Security? https://www.aarp.org/retirement/social-
security/questions-answers/how-much-social-security-will-i-get/

13 https://chpc.net/housingneeds/?view=37.405074,-
119.26758,5&county=California,Alameda&group=housingneed&chart=shortfall | current,cost-burden | current

14 HMIS data for period 10/1/2018-9/30/2019 for all programs requiring homelessness including street outreach,
Emergency Shelter, Transitional Housing, housing navigation, rapid-rehousing, and Permanent Supportive Housing. The
APR supporting this table was created on April 20, 2020 using data in Q19.

15 Alameda County Homeless Management Information System. HUD System Performance Measure 5.2 Change in the
number of persons entering ES, SH, TH and PH projects with no prior enrollments in HMIS. This value was submitted to
HUD on February 28, 2020 as part of the Continuum of Care’s annual reporting to the federal government. The homeless
response system in Alameda County uses this measure because in this community homeless people enter permanent
housing programs like Rapid Re-Housing (RRH) or Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) directly from unsheltered living
situations.

18 HUD System Performance Measure 7b.1 counts the number of persons in Emergency Shelter, Safe Haven, Transitional
Housing, and RRH who exited to permanent housing destinations.

17 program access and permanent housing outcomes data come from the Homeless Management Information System
(HMIS). Point in Time Count data is included in the chart below to give some sense of population size. Discrepancies
between Point in Time Count data and HMIS data may reflect the way race was sampled for the Point in Time Count. Or,
differences between the Point in Time Count and HMIS data may reflect a greater concentration of homeless response

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 106


https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/alamedacountycalifornia
https://belonging.berkeley.edu/rootsraceplace
https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/alamedacountycalifornia
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/publications/pdf/OaklandCA-CHMA-19.pdf
https://1p08d91kd0c03rlxhmhtydpr-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Alameda-HNR-2019-Final.pdf
https://1p08d91kd0c03rlxhmhtydpr-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Alameda-HNR-2019-Final.pdf
http://1p08d91kd0c03rlxhmhtydpr.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Alameda-County-2017.pdf
http://1p08d91kd0c03rlxhmhtydpr.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Alameda-County-2017.pdf
https://www.alamedasocialservices.org/public/services/financial_assistance/general_assistance.cfm
https://ca.db101.org/ca/programs/income_support/calworks/program2b.htm
https://www.ssa.gov/oact/STATS/dib-g3.html
https://www.aarp.org/retirement/social-security/questions-answers/how-much-social-security-will-i-get/
https://www.aarp.org/retirement/social-security/questions-answers/how-much-social-security-will-i-get/
https://chpc.net/housingneeds/?view=37.405074,-119.26758,5&county=California,Alameda&group=housingneed&chart=shortfall|current,cost-burden|current
https://chpc.net/housingneeds/?view=37.405074,-119.26758,5&county=California,Alameda&group=housingneed&chart=shortfall|current,cost-burden|current

CENTERING RACIAL EQUITY IN HOMELESS RESPONSE SYSTEM DESIGN FINAL REPORT

system services in places like Oakland and Berkeley where a larger proportion of the homeless population is African
American or Black at 70% and 56% respectively.

18 The Continuum of Care measures returns to homelessness using HUD System Performance Measure 2: The Extent to
which Persons who Exit Homelessness to Permanent Housing Destinations Return to Homelessness. Alameda County
Homeless Management Information System. (2020, February 28). HUD System Performance Measures.

19 Alameda County Homeless Information System. (2020, February 13) The chart showing returns to homelessness
disaggregated by race and ethnicity derives from a report that closely approximates HUD System Performance 2: The
Extent to which Persons who Exit Homelessness to Permanent Housing Destinations Return to Homelessness

20 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. (2018). Coordinated entry management and data guide
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/coordinated-entry-management-and-data-guide.pdf p.2.

21C4 Innovations. (2019). Coordinated Entry Systems Racial Equity Analysis of Assessment Data.
https://c4innovates.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/CES Racial Equity Analysis 2019-.pdf

22 Denzin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.). Handbook of Qualitative Research, Sage, Thousand Oaks, 1994.

3 Alexander, M. (2012). The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness. Revised edition. New York:
New Press.

24 UC Berkeley’s Urban Displacement Project and the California Housing Partnership. (2019) Rising Housing Costs and Re-
Segregation in the San Francisco Bay Area. https://www.urbandisplacement.org/sites/default/files/images/bay area re-
segregation rising _housing costs report 2019.pdf

% Paul, D.; Knight, K.; Olsen, P.; Weeks, J.; Yen, |.; Kushel, M. (2019). Racial discrimination in the life course of older
adults experiencing homelessness: results from the HOPE HOME study. Journal of Social Distress and the Homeless, DOI:
10.1080/10530789.2019.1702248

26 An APR run on February 14, 2020 for the PSH project type during FFY 2019 shows 221 households who left PSH.
Dividing the number of leavers by the 2019 PSH inventory of 2,670 units produces an 8.3% annual turnover rate.

Alameda County Homeless Management Information System. (2020, February 14) Annual Performance Report: PSH.

27 Tipping Point Community. University of California Berkeley, Othering and Belonging Institute (2020). Taking Count: A
study on poverty in the Bay Area. https://tippingpoint.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Taking-Count-2020-A-Study-
on-Poverty-in-the-Bay-Area.pdf

Oakland-Berkeley-Alameda County Continuum of Care 107


https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/coordinated-entry-management-and-data-guide.pdf
https://c4innovates.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/CES_Racial_Equity_Analysis_2019-.pdf
https://www.urbandisplacement.org/sites/default/files/images/bay_area_re-segregation_rising_housing_costs_report_2019.pdf
https://www.urbandisplacement.org/sites/default/files/images/bay_area_re-segregation_rising_housing_costs_report_2019.pdf
https://tippingpoint.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Taking-Count-2020-A-Study-on-Poverty-in-the-Bay-Area.pdf
https://tippingpoint.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Taking-Count-2020-A-Study-on-Poverty-in-the-Bay-Area.pdf

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT

MARCH 2021

he American Rescue Plan Act provides urgently needed COVID-19 relief resources for America’s

lowest-income renters and people experiencing homelessness. These resources are provided in

addition to the $25 billion in emergency rental assistance approved by Congress in December
2020. If enacted, these investments will help prevent millions of low-income people from losing their
homes during the pandemic and will provide cities and states with the resources they need to help people
experiencing homelessness be safely housed during and after the pandemic.

EMERGENCY RENTAL ASSISTANCE - $27.4 BILLION

Of the $27.4 billion provided for rental assistance, $21.55 billion will be funded through the Coronavirus
Relief Fund (CRF) and administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. Of the amount provided, $305
million is set aside for territories. There is a small state set-aside of $152 million.

A total of $2.5 billion will be distributed to high-need communities. These funds will be distributed based
on the number of very low-income renter households paying more than 50 percent of income on rent or
living in substandard or overcrowded conditions, rental market costs, and employment trends.

Allocations

The first 40% of funds must be paid to grantees within 60 days of enactment. When a grantee has
obligated not less than 75% of funds already dispersed, the Treasury Secretary may provide additional
disbursements of the grantee’s allocation.

Eligibility

Under the bill, households are eligible for emergency rental assistance funds if one or more individuals:
(1) has qualified for unemployment benefits or experienced a reduction in household income, incurred
significant costs, or experienced other financial hardship during or due, directly or indirectly, to the

pandemic; (2) can demonstrate a risk of experiencing homelessness or housing instability; and (3) has a
household income below 80% AMI.

States and localities must prioritize households below 50% of AMI or those who are unemployed and have
been unemployed for 90-days. States and localities can provide additional prioritization of funds.

Use of Funds

The funds must be used to provide financial assistance, including back and forward rent and utility
payments, and other housing expenses. Assistance can be provided for 18 months. Not more than 10%
of funds may be used to provide case management and other services intended to help keep households
stably housed. Not more than 15% of funds paid to a state or local government can be used for
administrative costs.

Deadlines

After March 31, 2022, the Treasury Secretary may recapture excess funds not obligated by a state or
locality and reallocate and repay these dollars to eligible grantees who, at the time of such reallocation,
have obligated at least 50 percent of the amount originally allocated and have met other criteria. Funds
not obligated may be used to provide affordable housing to very low-income households, so long as the
grantee has obligated at least 75% of its total allocation. Funds provided under this bill are available until
September 30, 2025.


https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/KIN21160-Senate-text.pdf
https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/Housing-Provisions-in-Emergency-COVID-19-Relief-Package.pdf
https://www.urban.org/research/publication/averting-eviction-crisis
https://www.urban.org/research/publication/averting-eviction-crisis
https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/COVID-Homelessness-Response-Need-Round-2_01-27-21_v4-Write-Up.pdf

The bill also extends the deadline to spend the initial $25 billion tranche of funding provided by Congress
in December 2020 from December 31, 2021 to September 30, 2022.

The bill provides $5 billion for housing vouchers, with funds available through September 30, 2030.
Use of Funds

These funds must be used to provide and renew emergency vouchers, to cover administrative costs, and
to make adjustments for public housing agencies that would otherwise be required to terminate rental
assistance due to a significant increase in voucher per-unit costs due to extraordinary circumstances.

Eligibility
Under the bill, households are eligible for emergency vouchers if they (1) are or are at risk of experiencing
homelessness, (2) are fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, dating violence, stalking, sexual

assault, or human trafficking, or (3) are recently homeless and rental assistance will prevent the family’s
homelessness or having a high risk of housing instability.

Allocations

Public housing agencies will be notified of the number of vouchers allocated to them within 60 days.
Vouchers will be distributed by a formula that includes capacity and ensures geographic diversity. The
Secretary may revoke and redistribute any unleased vouchers after a reasonable time. Termination After
September 30, 2023, a public housing agency may not reissue any vouchers when assistance for the family
assisted ends. Waiver Authority The bill provides broad authority to the Secretary to waive or provide
alternative requirements that are necessary to expedite or facilitate the use of funds.

The bill provides $100 million in rental assistance to assist rural households living in USDA-financed
properties. Funds are available until September 30, 2022, and they may be used to cover back rent and
ongoing rental assistance.

The bill provides $750 million to tribal nations through the Native American Housing Block Grants, Native
Hawaiian Housing Block Grants, and Indian Community Development Block Grants programs.

HOMELESSNESS ASSISTANCE - $5 BILLION

The bill provides $5 billion to provide rental assistance and supportive services, to develop affordable
rental housing, to help acquire non-congregate shelter to be converted into permanent affordable housing
or used as emergency shelter.

Eligibility

These funds must primarily benefit 1) individuals or households that are or are at risk of experiencing
homelessness, (2) people who are fleeing or attempting to flee domestic violence, dating violence,
stalking, sexual assault, or human trafficking, or (3) populations for whom supportive services would

prevent the family’s homelessness or having a high risk of housing instability, or (4) households with a
veteran family member that meets one of these criteria.

Allocations

Funds will be allocated within 30 days of enactment using the HOME Investment Partnerships program
formula. Deadlines and Other Requirements The bill waives statutory requirements, including a
commitment deadline, matching requirements, and set-aside for Community Housing Development
Organizations (CHDOs).



Administrative Costs

Up to 15% of the funds may be used to cover administrative costs. Operating Costs A grantee may receive
up to an additional 5% of its allocation for operating costs for certain CHDOs and nonprofit organizations if
the funds are used to build capacity.

Waiver Authority

The bill provides broad authority to the Secretary to waive or provide alternative requirements that are
necessary to expedite or facilitate the use of funds.

HOMEOWNER ASSISTANCE - $10 BILLION

The bill provides $9.96 billion to help homeowners avoid foreclosure through the Homeowner Assistance
Fund administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury.

The bill provides $39 million to assist rural homeowners through USDA's Section 502 and Section 504
direct loan programs.

HOUSING COUNSELING AND FAIR HOUSING - $120 MILLION

The bill provides $100 million for housing counseling through NeighborWorks America. Of the funds
provided, not less than 40% must be provided to housing counseling organizations that (1) target minority
and low-income homeowners, renters, and individuals experiencing homelessness or (2) provide services
in neighborhoods with high concentrations of minority and low-income homeowners, renters, and
individuals experiencing homelessness.

In total, $20 million is provided to support fair housing activities.

UTILITY ASSISTANCE - $5 BILLION

The American Rescue Act provides $4.5 billion for utility assistance through the Low Income Home Energy
Assistance Program (LIHEAP) and $500 million for water assistance through the Low-Income Household
Drinking Water and Wastewater Emergency Assistance Program.

For more information, contact NLIHC Vice President Sarah Saadian at ssaadian@nlihc.org

7N

B_" NATIONAL LOW INCOME
HOUSING COALITION

DISASTER HOUSING RECOVERY COALITION, C/O NATIONAL LOW INCOME HOUSING COALITION
1000 Vermont Avenue, NW | Suite 500 | Washington, DC 20005 | 202-662-1530 | www.nlihc.org

COVID-Relief-Budget_Reconciliation -3- 03/10/2021


http://www.nlihc.org
mailto:ssaadian%40nlihc.org?subject=

	4-7-21HomelessPanelofExpertsAgenda - final
	MEETING AGENDA
	April 7, 2021 – 7:00 PM
	Commission Secretary:  Josh Jacobs (jjacobs@cityofberkeley.info; 510-225-8035)

	03-22-21HomelessServicesPanelMinutes-draft
	MEETING MINUTES

	Measure P Update
	Final 02-25-21 Measure P Update - Budget and Finance Policy Committee
	Ex 1

	Potential Measure P FY2022 Allocations
	Referral Response 1000 Person Plan
	2021-Centering-Racial-Equity-in-Homeless-System-Design-Full-Report-FINAL
	COVID-Relief-Budget_Reconciliation



